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Corporate Profile
DA

MOBI Development Co,, Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability on |6 December 2002. The shares of
the Company were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on |7 December 2009 (Stock Code: 947).

We operate through our subsidiaries MOBI Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. ("MOBI Shenzhen™), MOBI Telecommunications Technologies (Ji'an) Co., Ltd.
("MOBI Jian"), MOBI Technologies (Xi'an) Co., Ltd. ("MOBI Xian"), MOBI Technology
(Hong Kong) Limited (“MOBI HK™), MOBI Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“MOBI
Technology"), Shenzhen MOBI Shiye Development Co., Ltd., Xi'an Shengrong
Communication Technologies Co., Ltd, Shenzhen Shengyuzhihui Network Technology
Co,, Ltd, Jian Jinshengjing Technology Co,, Ltd, Shenzhen MOBI Network Communication
Co, Ltd. and Xi'an MOBI Antenna Technologies Engineering Co., Ltd..

We are one of the few one-stop providers of wireless communication antennas and base
station Radio Frequency (“RF”) subsystems in China. Our business consists of the design,
manufacture, marketing and sale of antennas, base station RF subsystem and solutions
that are the required components of mobile communication coverage systems, including,
wireless access systems (WiFi and PHS), 2G (GSM and CDMA), 3G (TD-SCDMA,
CDMA 2000, W-CDMA and WiMax), 4G (TD-LTE and FDD-LTE), 5G, MIMO, 5G-A,
green antennas, satellite communication and microwave transmission networks. We sell
our products to network operators in China and overseas directly for deployment into
the networks they are constructing and operating. We also sell our products to some of
the world's leading wireless network solution providers who incorporate our products
into their wireless coverage solutions, such as their proprietary base stations, which they

then sell to network operators worldwide.

We are committed to providing quality and sophisticated products and building long term

relationships with our customers.
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Corporate Information
NEER

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY'I-1 104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

MOBI Technology Building, Genyu Road, Gongming Street, Guangming District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit A, 25/F, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Hu Xiang (Chairman)

Zhou Lingbo

Ye Rong

Non-executive Director
Qu Degian

Independent non-executive Directors
Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

COMPANY SECRETARY
Lau Wing

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Hu Xiang
Lau Wing
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
Zhang Han (Chairman)
Li Tianshu

Ge Xiaojing

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Li Tianshu (Chairman)

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

Qu Degian

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Hu Xiang (Chairman)

Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

Qu Degian

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wancha,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Bank of China
No. 442 Renmin North Road, Longhua District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China

AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

WEBSITE ADDRESS

http://www.mobi-antenna.com

CONTACT INFORMATION FOR INVESTOR RELATIONS
Telephone: 86-755-27150701 (ext 390)
Chen Zhaotong

Email: ir@mobi-antenna.com

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 947
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Financial Highlights
BB E

Analysis of revenue by business type Analysis of revenue by customer type
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Profit attributable to shareholders
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Financial Highlights

MBBE

KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES FEH KRS
(All amounts are expressed in RMB' million unless otherwise stated) (BREEHBIN BESEINARBEET
251)
2024 2023

2024 20234
Revenue WA 515.1 640.8
Gross profit EH 66.9 96.3
Loss before taxation BAEE (100.2) (52.8)
Net loss attributable to shareholders IRR L EEE (120.5) (59.2)
Total assets mEE 1,046.9 1247.7
Net current assets MBNEEFE 76.0 153.1
Net assets attributable to shareholders RREMEETR 383.4 504.6
Inventories turnover days FEREXRH 103 [
AJR turnover days PN R TR BB R 2 214 203
AJP turnover days (NG TNEIEN 431 387
Current ratio MBIt & 111 121
Gearing BRAFBLE 10.7% 7.6%
No. of issued shares, million shares BEETROHEAE (B8R) 8034 809.2
Net assets value per share, RMB BREEFE(ANRET) 0.48 0.62
Basic loss per share, RMB cents BRENEE (ARES) (14.93) (7.28)
Retum on average equity TR AR R -27.1% -11.07%
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
On behalf of the Board of Directors of MOBI Development Co., Ltd, | am pleased to
present to the shareholders the business development of the Company and its subsidiaries

(the “Company”) for the year ended 3| December 2024 (the “Year").

In the recently concluded year of 2024, amidst the combined impacts of downward
pressure on the macroeconomy, emerging waves of technological innovation and
escalating geopolitical conflicts, telecommunications operators shifted towards a more
conservative capital expenditure strategy. Consequently, infrastructure investment
was scaled back, resulting in a declining trend in procurement momentum among
communications equipment manufacturers. The global communications equipment
industry chain is going through severe challenges. In this complicated landscape, our
management team consistently maintained strategic focus, actively responding to market
changes through technological breakthroughs and efficiency innovations, and striving
to identify business opportunities in challenging times. In regard to operators, the
Group actively engaged in domestic operators' centralized procurement and provincial
procurement projects, while continuously expanding its international operator customer

base. We were in negotiations with multinational operators from various emerging
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countries, such as Africa and Latin America, with the potential for further collaboration.
In regard to equipment manufacturers, the Group sustained its position as a key supplier
for major equipment manufacturer customers, upheld strategic partnerships and steadily
won bids for filters, combiners and other projects. We initiated cooperation on several
new projects and conducted technical and product planning for the deployment of
upcoming platforms. Additionally, the Group collaborated with government and enterprise
clients in new business areas such as “communications + energy saving/new energy”
to develop multiple new projects, including renovation projects for old communities
and photovoltaic projects, while anticipating further performance growth in the future.
However, in 2024, due to the reduced construction scale of base station network by
global telecommunications operators, delays in bid invitation and submission, and the
implementation progress and scale of awarded projects falling short of expectations, along
with the impact of the adjustments in production layout by major international equipment
manufacturer customer in the first half of the year on the annual order delivery and

shipping expectations, the overall sales revenue in 2024 was comprehensively affected.

In the future, the Group will always adhere to three strategic directions: market-driven
initiatives, technological R&D as well as cost and expense improvement. We will reinforce
customer relationships and tap into new customer bases, while constantly solidifying our
core business areas in antenna and base station RF subsystems. Building on the foundation
of existing business, the Group will actively advance resource allocation in new business
areas such as ‘communications + energy saving/new energy’ to seize potential market
opportunities and create a ‘second growth curve' for the Group's development, further
broadening its market presence. At the same time, while prioritizing R&D resources in
traditional antenna and RF sectors, we will enhance R&D investments in new business
areas (such as vertical derivative businesses and new energy scenario applications). By
precisely identifying the intersection of technological innovation and customer needs, we
aim to achieve a synchronized alignment between the two, effectively transforming R&D
outcomes into market competitiveness. Moreover, under the premise of ensuring product
quality and service standards, we will improve overall operational efficiency through more
refined cost and expense management measures. Leveraging our product technology
and brand advantages, the Group remains confident in establishing a solid foothold in the
future’s dynamic and complex competitive landscape, achieving sustainable and high-quality

development.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEREE

OPERATING RESULTS

In 2024, the Company's operating revenue was approximately RMB515.15 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 19.6%; net loss was approximately
RMBI120.53 million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 103.6%; basic

loss per share was approximately RMBO. 1 5.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In 2024, domestic operators cut back on capital expenditures, leading to a smaller
proportion of 5G investments and a shrinking construction scale. The overall tender
projects were delayed, and the implementation progress and scale of awarded projects
fell short of expectations, resulting in a significant reduction in product deliveries to
domestic operators and domestic equipment manufacturer customers by the Group.
Nevertheless, the Group has closely followed the construction progress of domestic
operators and actively engaged in their centralized and provincial procurement projects.
We have maintained strategic cooperative relationships with major domestic equipment
manufacturers, further deepening our collaboration in essential business segments like
antennas and RF, and continuously developing new product series to address related
needs through technological advancements. As a core hub of “new infrastructure”,
communication networks support multiple national strategic focal points, with related
demands only being cyclically deferred. As operators gradually resume network

construction, the Group will gain more opportunities for performance growth.

Looking at the global communications market, factors such as the technology cycle,
economic environment and geopolitical issues collectively impacted the orders and
deliveries of international operators’ businesses. Meanwhile, major interational equipment
manufacturer customer continued to adjust their production layouts in the first half of
the year. Although the order delivery pace largely recovered in the second half, it still fell
short of the annual sales expectations. The Group has always adhered to its intemational
development strategy, deeply focusing on the layout of the global communications market.
At present, with the steady advancement of international mobile network construction,
many countries and regions are accelerating 5G network coverage and upgrades,
leading to a continuous rise in demand for communications equipment. Leveraging
their extensive experience in 5G technology R&D, network construction and industry
applications, domestic companies are expected to engage significantly in international
project competition and expand their market share overseas. Coupled with the gradual
resumption of the production status of major international equipment manufacturer
customer’s production bases, the overseas market is anticipated to usher in a new growth

cycle.
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Currently, the energy revolution is reshaping the global industrial landscape. In response
to the market demand trends for low carbon, environmental protection and energy
conservation, the Group continues to expand into new business areas such as energy
saving and new energy. We are actively exploring diverse application scenarios and
collaborating with government and enterprise clients to develop multiple new projects,
including the renovation of old communities, photovoltaics and energy management
systems, which are expected to drive further performance growth for the Group in the
future. As we steadily accelerate in the emerging field of ‘communications + energy saving/
new energy, the Group believes that this will become another growth trajectory for us in

the future.

In summary, the Group firmly believes that drawing on innovative R&D technologies and
reliable quality assurance, we will consistently increase our market share as the industry
continues to evolve both horizontally and vertically. Meanwhile, the market opportunities
inherent in new businesses and new fields will gradually become the Group's “second

growth curve” for development, driving steady growth in our performance.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
In 2024, the Board of Directors of the Group did not recommend the payment of any
final dividend.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group will uphold a development strategy that balances both domestic
and overseas markets while continuously establishing a strong presence in the wireless
mobile sector. On one hand, we will persist in our efforts within traditional business areas
such as antenna systems and base station RF subsystems to solidify our market position.
On the other hand, we will continue to focus on new business areas, including vertically
derived ventures and new energy scenarios, broadening our business boundaries. This
synergistic growth of diverse businesses will propel the Group towards achieving higher

quality and more sustainable development.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEREE

The year 2025 marks the concluding year of the “I4th Five-Year” Plan, with a current
focus on the deepening application of 5G, the expansion of 5G-A technology and the
forward-looking deployment for 6G. According to forecasts from the China Academy of
Information and Communications Technology, by 2025, the cumulative investment in 5G
network construction in China will reach RMB1.8 trillion, driving over RMB3.5 trillion in
investment across the upstream and downstream industrial chains and various industry
applications. The scale of 5G users is set to grow further, with the penetration rate of
5G users expected to exceed 70% by 2027. At the application level, the integration
and innovation of 5G with emerging technologies such as artificial intelligence, big data
and loT will be further deepened, giving rise to more new business formats and models.
The development prospects for the domestic telecommunications industry remain very
promising. With over twenty years of dedicated efforts in the domestic market, the
Group has built a robust and deep cooperative foundation with major domestic operators
and equipment manufacturer customers. Leveraging outstanding product quality and an
efficient service system, we have laid a solid corerstone for the continuous expansion
of our business. At the same time, the Group has always adhered to the philosophy of
innovation-driven development, actively engaging in the R&D of new product lines to
diversify product offerings and enhance product performance, significantly broadening the
depth and breadth of cooperation. Currently, with the national initiative for the robust
upgrade of the communications industry, the Group believes that, with our solid customer
base and continuously innovative product technologies, it will lay a strong foundation for

the steady improvement of the Group's domestic market performance.

Globally, 5G construction is advancing steadily, with more countries and regions
accelerating their 5G network development. According to a GSMA report, there are
currently 305 operators across 121 markets worldwide that have launched 5G services.
In the next few years, an estimated 80 operators from 60 markets are expected to enter
the 5G market, indicating a promising future for overseas 5G development. Meanwhile,
domestic 5G base station construction has consistently maintained high standards,
securing a position in the leading tier of global 5G development. This has resulted in
the accumulation of mature technology and rich experience, undoubtedly laying a solid
foundation for domestic enterprises to participate in future global market competition,
while also presenting opportunities and challenges for the Group. Leveraging years of
experience in deeply cultivating overseas markets, the Group has gradually developed
core competitive advantages with a high cost-performance product system and short-list
qualifications. We have consistently maintained strategic partnerships with major

interational equipment manufacturer customer, with collaboration deepening over time.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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In the future, overseas 5G development will exhibit characteristics of “layered technology,
scenario-based applications and diversified markets”. The Group will strive to balance
technological innovation, cost optimization and ecological collaboration, aiming for a

steady long-term increase in our global market share.

Entering the 5G era, diverse application scenarios empower vertical industries and give
rise to new business forms. The market's demand for products is becoming increasingly
diverse, opening up vast development space for the communications industry. In response
to the wave of industrial transformation and upgrade, the Group s actively positioning
itself and has successfully created multiple new communication application scenarios in
emerging business areas such as “communications + energy saving/new energy”. Currently,
global emphasis on green development is growing day by day, with the scale of green
energy investment rising year by year. The integration of 5G technology with new energy
and energy conservation fields presents immense potential. Leveraging our strong technical
capabilities and extensive market experience in the communications sector, the Group can
fully explore the synergistic value of “communications + energy saving/new energy”. We
believe that with the continuous expansion and deepening of this field, it will undoubtedly
open up new pathways for the performance growth for the Group, enabling us to stand

out in intense market competition and achieve high-quality, sustainable development.

I ' would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders and customers for
their kind support and trust, and to our Directors and staff for their diligent work. The
Company and the Board of Directors will continue to promote the optimization of
customer scale and structure as well as the differentiated competitive strategy focused
on technological and cost leadership, so as to comprehensively enhance the Company's
overall competitiveness and achieve the steady growth of the Group's performance. The
Company will steadily advance towards the goal of becoming a world-class supplier of RF
technology for mobile communications and create value to give back to the shareholders

and the society.

Hu Xiang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Shenzhen, the PRC
27 March 2025
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW ¥Rk EEE
Revenue WA

When compared with last year, the sales revenue decreased by approximately RMB125.70 204 FHEWAREFRDHARE1.2570
million (approximately 19.6%), to approximately RMB515.15 million in 2024 (2023: 87T (£719.6%) Z# AR5, 151587T (2023
approximately RMB640.85 million). F HARKE6A085ETT) ©

Sales of antenna system decreased by approximately 36.4% to approximately RMB162.53 AEZRGHEERRDL364%EZ AR
million (2023: approximately RMB255.64 million), while sales of base station RF subsystem 1625318 7T (20235 : HARBE25564187T)
decreased by approximately 14.6% to approximately RMB279.80 million (2023: BIGHAF ZGRHEETR D 1468 ZHA
approximately RMB327.65 million). In addition, sales of coverage extension solution and R #2.798018 7T (20235 : HARM3276518
other products increased by approximately 26.5% to approximately RMB72.82 million TC) o AN BEEMARREMERNE
(2023: approximately RMB57.56 million). ERIEMAN265%EHARET2828 7T (2023
FHAREST6ETT) ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2024, the global communications equipment industry chain was confronted with
complex challenges. On one hand, the 5G construction entered a phase of adjustment,
with operators tightening capital expenditures, resulting in project implementation
progress and scale falling short of expectations. On the other hand, the combined effects
of macroeconomic downturns, escalating geopolitical conflicts, and pressures to reduce
costs and increase efficiency led to a slowdown in market and customer order demand.
In this complicated landscape, our management team consistently maintained strategic
focus, strengthened source management, deepened technological breakthroughs, and
prioritized efficiency reforms, striving to identify business opportunities in challenging
times. In 2024, the Group actively engaged in operators’ centralized procurement and
provincial procurement projects, maintaining its position as a key supplier for major
equipment manufacturer customers. We initiated cooperation on several new projects
and conducted technical and product planning for the deployment of upcoming platforms.
Additionally, the Group explored a second growth curve in new business areas such
as "‘communications + energy saving/new energy”, collaborating with government and
enterprise clients to develop multiple new projects, including renovation projects for old
communities and photovoltaic projects, while anticipating further growth in performance
in the future. However, in 2024, due to the reduced construction scale of capital projects
by global telecommunications operators, delays in bid invitation and submission, and the
implementation progress and scale of awarded projects falling short of expectations,
along with the ongoing impact of major international equipment manufacturer customer
adjusting their production layouts on orders and shipments extending into the second half

of the year, the overall sales revenue in 2024 was comprehensively affected.

Automated production equipments
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBNWR DM

The Group has always adhered to the management philosophy of “the market as
the leader, R&D as the core, quality as the lifeline, talent as the primary resource, and
compliance and internal control as the cornerstone”. By fostering technological innovation
and market-driven initiatives, we have deeply participated in the construction of global

telecommunications networks, laying a solid foundation for future long-term development.
Antenna system

The Group's products of antenna system are primarily sold to China’s domestic network
operators and major network operators in overseas markets (such as Asia, Europe and
Americas); whilst a portion of our antenna system products is sold to operator customers

worldwide through network solution provider customers such as ZTE and Nokia.

In 2024, the revenue from antenna system products of the Group decreased by
approximately 36.4% as compared to the corresponding period of 2023 to approximately
RMB162.53 million (2023: RMB255.64 million). This decline was mainly influenced by
the “overall contraction” in capital project construction by global telecommunications
operators, delays in bidding projects, and the smaller-than-expected implementation
scale of awarded projects, which collectively resulted in a decrease in sales of multi-band/
multi-system antennas, FDD+TDD antennas, and multi-beam antennas. However, the
Group continuously enhanced the technical coverage of its products, and due to increased
demand, the sales of microwave antennas significantly rose by approximately I11.1% as

compared to the corresponding period of 2023 to approximately RMBI19.63 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group has closely followed the network construction progress of operators and,
through technological upgrades and scenario-based innovations, has overcome traditional
business bottlenecks. It is gradually evolving from “standardized products” to “customized
solutions”, thereby enhancing customer loyalty. While actively responding to the needs of
domestic and international customers by focusing on the development of green antennas
and other projects, the Group has also initiated several self-developed projects targeting
the demands of domestic and international operators and equipment manufacturer
customers. These projects involve various antennas and antenna components, including
multi-band/multi-system antennas, multi-beam antennas, A+P integrated antennas and

customized antennas, establishing a solid groundwork for future performance growth.

Base station RF subsystem

The Group is one of the core suppliers of RF subsystems for international communications
equipment manufacturers, such as ZTE and Nokia, providing them with a variety of

products and solutions, including RF subsystem products.

In 2024, major international equipment manufacturer customer continued to adjust their
production layouts in the first half of the year. Although the situation mostly recovered by
the second half, the delays in the delivery of related orders still had a certain impact on
the annual sales of RF subsystems. Additionally, the postponement of domestic operators’
network construction plans resulted in a slowdown in related demand from major
Chinese equipment manufacturer customers. These factors collectively led to a decrease
in the Group's revenue from base station RF subsystem products by approximately 4.6%
as compared to the corresponding period of 2023 to approximately RMB279.80 million
(2023: RMB327.65 million). However, driven by demand from equipment manufacturers,
the Group's sales of TD/TD-LTE RF products increased significantly by approximately

22.1% as compared to the same period last year to approximately RMB8.26 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBNWR DM

The Group has consistently maintained a strategic partnership with leading global
telecommunications equipment manufacturer customers, positioning itself as a key
supplier and engaging in in-depth collaboration on multiple R&D projects, including
filters, combiners and duplexers. In 2024, the RF R&D team completed the in-house
development of technologies and products such as multi-frequency ultra-wideband duplex
modules, multi-mode technology and dielectric filters. With the ongoing recovery in order
deliveries and the new demand generated by new products and platforms, the Group is

poised for further performance growth in the future.

Coverage extension solution and others

The arrival of the 5G era brings rich application scenarios and empowers vertical
industries. The Group is committed to creating a diversified product portfolio, opening up
the second growth curves and participating more in the construction of a new ecology in
the 5G era.

In 2024, benefiting from the demand for extensive 5G network coverage, the Group's
revenue from coverage extension solutions and others increased by approximately
26.5% as compared to the corresponding period of 2023 to approximately RMB72.82
million (corresponding period of 2023: approximately RMB57.56 million). Among which,
sales of aesthetic antennas and indoor distribution antennas saw significant increases of
approximately 42.2% and 14.0%, respectively, as compared to the same period last year,
to approximately RMB22.05 million and RMB24.04 million. Additionally, sales of GPS
and specialized products achieved a new breakthrough, with sales rising significantly to

approximately RMB8.95 million as compared to the same period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In order to overcome the cyclical effects in the communications industry, the Group has
been strategically expanding into new business areas such as “communications + energy
saving/new energy” in recent years. The versatility of technology and the advantages of
resource sharing have enabled the Group to make continuous breakthroughs in this area,
achieving multiple implementations in areas such as photovoltaics, smart cities and the
renovation of old communities, thereby opening up new opportunities for performance
growth. With the global integration of 5G vertical applications, we will see more industry
application opportunities, alongside the expansion of resources and the implementation of
projects, which are believed to become another performance growth point for the Group

in addition to its traditional business.

Customers

In 2024, the Group not only deepened its focus on the domestic communications market
but also accelerated the expansion of its global presence, aiming to build a full-chain
competitive advantage that encompassed technology R&D, manufacturing and service
operations. While maintaining its position as a primary supplier for major clients, the
Group actively explored new customer resources, optimized its customer structure and

increased its market share.

In 2024, domestic 5G construction deeply progressed to a phase of large-scale application.
Operators shifted their investment focus from hardware to the field of computing
networks. Coupled with the demand for energy saving and emissions reduction, traditional
base station construction plans transitioned to green 5G solutions. As 5G construction
entered a phase of adjustment, the scale of traditional base station construction shrank,
related centralized procurement tenders were delayed, and the delivery of awarded
projects was also affected. These factors collectively led to a decrease in the Group's sales
revenue from domestic operators by approximately 40.7% as compared to the same
period last year to approximately RMB90.25 million, accounting for about 17.5% of total
revenue. The Group has closely followed operators' demands for network construction
and collaborated with provincial and municipal operators on projects such as the antenna
system, indoor distribution series and aesthetic series. The Group believes that as a core
hub of “new infrastructure”, communication networks support multiple national strategic
focal points. The related demands are only cyclically deferred, and as operators gradually
resume network construction, the Group will gain more opportunities for performance

growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR TN

In 2024, due to the reduced construction scale of domestic operators, the procurement
demand from domestic equipment manufacturers slowed down. The Group's sales
revenue from domestic equipment manufacturers decreased by approximately 34.2% as
compared to the same period last year to approximately RMB94.36 million, accounting
for approximately 18.3% of total revenue. The Group has remained its position as a key
supplier to major domestic equipment manufacturers, engaging in in-depth collaboration
with them in business areas such as antennas and RF. Through continuous upgrades and
innovations in technology, new project collaborations will be launched within the new

product series, which is expected to drive new performance growth in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2024, factors such as the technology cycle, economic environment and geopolitical
issues collectively impacted the orders and deliveries of international operators’ businesses,
resulting in a decrease of approximately 36.9% in the Group's direct sales to them as
compared to the corresponding period of 2023 to approximately RMB48.21 million,
accounting for approximately 9.4% of total revenue. The Group has always adhered to
its international development strategy, actively participating in major industry exhibitions
such as the “Mobile World Congress” to shape its brand image and influence, while
continuously expanding its business in the global communications market. In 2024, the
Group received multiple cooperation intentions from emerging market customers and was
in the phase of order negotiation. At the same time, it began discussions with intemational
operator customers regarding the green antenna project, with related demand expected
to be released. With the advancement of overseas 5G construction and the recovery of
capital expenditures by operators, and by leveraging the accumulated advantages from its

earlier shortlisting, the Group is confident in capturing a larger market share abroad.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBNWR DM

In 2024, the Group sustained its strategic cooperation with major international equipment
manufacturer customer, maintaining a prominent market share. In-depth cooperation
was initiated on several new products and platforms, resulting in sales to international
equipment manufacturer customers increasing by approximately 0.8% as compared to the
same period last year to approximately RMB253.13 million, accounting for about 49.1% of
total revenue. However, due to the ongoing effects of changes in the production layout of
major international equipment manufacturer customer on order deliveries extending into
the second half of the year, the annual sales growth fell short of expectations. At present,
the adjustments to the production layout of these international equipment manufacturer
customers have been completed, and order deliveries have basically resumed. A new

round of performance growth is expected in 2025 and thereafter.

Furthermore, the Group has strategically focused on new business areas such as
‘communications + energy saving/new energy’ for several years, driving the optimization
of customer structure through changes in product structure, exploring new business
market opportunities and creating new points of growth. In 2024, the Group made further
breakthroughs in new business areas, securing several projects with government and
enterprise clients, including community renovations, smart cities and photovoltaic projects.
Some projects are still in the phase of intention negotiation. With the groundwork laid by
earlier resources, it is believed that the expansion into new customer groups will help the

Group mitigate the cyclical impacts on communications network construction.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

& T

MOBIRIT

Gross profit

In 2024, the gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately 30.5% to
approximately RMB66.93 million (2023: approximately RMB96.31 million), while the gross
profit margin decreased from approximately 15.0% in 2023 to approximately 13.0%.
This was mainly due to the impairment of inventories. Excluding this effect, the gross
profit margin would increase to 17.8%. Facing the serious challenge of intensified market
competition, the Group actively adopted measures to strengthen cost management
and control of product lines, and conducted cost analysis and tracking for key products.
The Group will continue to improve the overall gross profit margin through constantly
optimizing and upgrading the product sales portfolio, increasing the sales proportion of

high-tech products and implementing effective control of internal costs in the future.

Other income

Other income decreased by approximately 9.7% to approximately RMB31.41 million,

mainly due to the decrease in government grants.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWR D

Other gains and losses

Net other losses amounted to approximately RMB7.00 million, mainly due to the increase

in the loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately 6.9% from approximately
RMB42.16 million in 2023 to approximately RMB39.23 million in 2024, mainly due to the
decrease in wages, business expenses, travel expenses, rent and utility expenses, logistics

fees, fair and exhibition expenses, low-value consumables and other expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 3.6% from approximately RMB75.17
million in 2023 to approximately RMB77.85 million in 2024, mainly due to the increase
in expenses including office expenses, depreciation expenses, welfare expenses,

communication expenses, union expenses and handling expenses.
Research and development expenses

During the year, research and development expenses increased by approximately 4.0%
from approximately RMB62.51 million in 2023 to approximately RMB65.04 million in
2024, mainly due to the increase in expenses including office expenses, rent, research
and development material costs and intellectual property royalties. In 2024, the Group
increased its investments in research and development of new products and new
businesses, such as green antennas project, new filter products and energy management
business. It is expected that such investments will bring more business opportunities in the

future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 39.9% from approximately RMB3.28 million in
2023 to approximately RMB4.59 million in 2024, mainly due to the increase in interest
expense. In 2024, the Group implemented several policy loans in combination with
policies related to technological innovation and intellectual property. Such interest

expenses were eligible for interest subsidies and can be reimbursed in subsequent years.

Loss before tax

Loss before taxation was approximately RMB100.22 million in 2024 (2023: approximately
RMB52.81 million). Net profit margin before taxation decreased from approximately -8.2%
in 2023 to approximately -19.5% in 2024.

The increase in loss before tax for the year was mainly due to the decrease in the
construction scale of capital projects by global telecommunications operators, delays in
bid invitation and submission, and the implementation progress and scale of awarded
projects falling short of expectations. At the same time, major international equipment
manufacturer customer adjusted their production layout in the first half of the year, which
affected the delivery of relevant orders. Although the delivery was basically recovered in
the second half of the year, it still had a certain impact on the annual sales expectation.
In addition, the Group increased its investments in research and development of new
products and new businesses during the year, while also making provision for impairment
of assets such as inventories and long-term assets based on the prudence principle. The

above factors had a combined impact on the annual results.
Tax
Current income tax expense decreased by 100% from approximately RMB215,000 in

2023 to nil in 2024. Effective tax rates calculated from the loss before tax of the Company
were approximately nil and approximately 0.41% in 2024 and 2023 respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENWR D

Loss for the year

In 2024, loss for the year was approximately RMB120.53 million (2023: approximately
RMB59.20 million). The Group’s net profit margin was approximately -23.4% in 2024 as
compared to approximately -9.2% in 2023.

Relationships with equipment manufacturers, operators and suppliers

The Group mainly sells antenna products and RF subsystem products to
telecommunications equipment manufacturer customers (such as ZTE) who build
complete networks for delivery to telecommunications operators (such as China Mobile),
thus enabling the Group to establish close and stable relationships with equipment

manufacturers.

The Group is also one of the few domestic technology providers offering RF solutions to
both global and domestic telecommunications operators (such as China Mobile, China
Unicom and China Telecom) and telecommunications equipment manufacturers (such
as ZTE and Nokia), which enables the Group to maintain a leading edge in product
technology and continuous expansion of customer channels, and thus to build close and

solid relationships with global and domestic telecommunications operators.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Suppliers of the Group include raw material suppliers and contract manufacturers. The
Group has developed close and solid relationships with many of its key suppliers. Given
the close and solid relationships with suppliers, the Group believes that its suppliers
generally prioritize their supplies to the Group and the Group has not experienced any
material shortages or delays in receiving supplies or services from the suppliers during the

track record period.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations of the Group. Major

risks and uncertainties are summarized below.

Brand/Reputation Risk

The Group has established and maintained its MOBI brand as a business brand which aims
to provide products of the Group, including antenna system, base station RF subsystem
and strategic development. This brand primarily targets leading system equipment
manufacturers and telecommunications operators worldwide through the provision of its
RF technology solution. If the Group is unsuccessful in promoting its MOBI brand or fails
to maintain its brand position and market perception, acceptance of its MOBI brand by
system equipment manufacturers and telecommunications operators may erode, and the
Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially

and adversely affected.

Any negative publicity or dispute relating to the Group's MOBI brand, products,
sponsorship activities or management, the loss of any award or accreditation associated
with the Group's MOBI brand or products or the the “MOBI" trademark or brand name
used in other businesses could materially and adversely affect the Group's business,

financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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Market Trend

The Group's success depends on the market perception and customer acceptance of
the MOBI brand and the Group's products, which largely rely on the Group's ability to

anticipate and respond to different market demands in a timely manner.

If the Group is unable to utilize new technologies and processes, anticipate and respond
to market and new technology trends and customer preferences in a timely manner,
demand for MOBI products may decrease. The Group's business would also suffer if
product creations or modifications do not respond to the needs of customers, are not
appropriately timed with market opportunities or are not effectively brought to market.
Any failure by the Group to offer products that align with changing market and customer
preferences, or any shift in market trend, new technologies and processes and customer
preferences away from the MOBI brand and the Group's products, could adversely affect

customers' interest in the Group's products.

Competition

Currently, the Group's antenna system products, base station RF subsystem products and
related products of coverage extension solution face different levels of competition in
their respective market sectors. As competitors with similar brand positioning may emerge
and intensify the current competition, there can be no assurance that the Group will be
able to compete effectively against competitors who may have greater financial resources,
greater scales of production, superior technology, better brand recognition and a wider
and more diverse network. To compete effectively and maintain the Group's market
share, the Group may be forced to, among other actions, reduce prices and increase
capital expenditures, which may in turn negatively affect the Group's profit margins,

business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group's production process is carried out with low emissions and low energy
consumption, and it will not produce a large amount of pollutants. The Group has
been endeavoring to ensure that the production process is in compliance with relevant

environmental rules and regulations.

In the past, the Group has not breached any relevant environmental rules and regulations
and has not been imposed with any relevant penalty. It is expected that the future
operational activities of the Group would not be affected by the environmental policies.
The Group strives for energy conservation and consumption reduction. While lowering

operating costs, the Group also puts efforts in environmental protection.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Group's subsidiaries in mainland
China while the Group itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group's operations shall
accordingly comply with relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong Kong.
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this Report, to the best
of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in
mainland China and Hong Kong, and there is no material breach of or non-compliance

with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Outlook

Looking forward to the future, the Group will continue to focus on both domestic and
overseas markets, further deepening its effort in the wireless mobile sector. The Group
will concentrate on traditional businesses, including antenna system business and RF
subsystem business, and actively promote the “5G+" applications in vertical industries,
while continuously exerting effort and steadily expanding into new businesses such as

energy saving and new energy.
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In November 2024, 12 departments including the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology jointly issued the “5G Scaled Application ‘Sail' Action Upgrade Plan”, which
required that "by the end of 2027, a development pattern characterized by ‘universal
capabilities, widespread applications and inclusive empowerment’ be established to fully
realize the scaled application of 5G". At present, 5G-A technology has been placed on
the agenda, offering greater enhancements in speed and capacity over 5G. Operators
are proactively arranging related equipment procurement, which will bring new orders to
base station antenna and RF manufacturers. Moreover, while 6G remains in the research
phase, certain visionary operators have already started partnering with equipment
manufacturers to initiate trials. This also provides related manufacturers in the industry
chain with opportunities to participate in early R&D and technology reserves. The demand
for comprehensive optimization of 5G network coverage is anticipated to bring new
market opportunities for base station antenna and RF manufacturers. Coupled with the
generational leap in product technologies such as 5G-A and 6G, this will drive synergistic
development across the industry chain, bringing hope to the communications sector for

another wave of explosive growth.
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With regard to overseas markets, the prospects for 5G development are promising.
According to the GSMA's “2025 Mobile Economy Report”, by the end of 2024, global
5G connections are expected to exceed 2 billion. Currently, 305 operators across 121
markets worldwide have launched commercial 5G services. It is predicted that by 2028,
the number of 5G users will surpass that of 4G. By then, 5G will have overtaken 4G to
emerge as the mainstream mobile communication technology. Global 5G has entered the
stage of large-scale commercial deployment. Emerging markets, such as Africa, Southeast
Asia, South Asia, the Middle East, and Latin America, are becoming the main battleground
for the expansion of 5G and 4G networks, with significant potential for economic growth.
According to ABI Research, emerging markets are expected to contribute over 45%
of the global growth in base station antennas and RF devices over the next five years.
The development outlook for the global base station antenna and RF market is highly
optimistic. According to Yole's data, the global market size for base station antennas
and RF is projected to exceed USD30 billion by 2028. Moving forward, the Group will
continue to adhere to its international development strategy, strengthen partnerships with
intemational equipment manufacturers and operator customers, and enhance its market

share in the global market.
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Customers

The Group is committed to the vision and goal of “becoming the world's foremost
supplier of RF technology for mobile communications”, dedicated to providing
RF technology solutions to global leading system equipment manufacturers and

telecommunications operators.

The Group is also one of the few domestic technology suppliers offering RF solutions
to both global system equipment manufacturers and telecommunications operators.
This allows the Group to maintain a continuous leading edge in product technology and

ongoing expansion of customer channels.

At the 2024 China 5G Development Conference, the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology stated that “China has already completed the 5G construction
and development goals ahead of schedule during the 14th Five-Year Plan period. The
5G network has achieved comprehensive coverage of key hotspots such as government
service centers, cultural and tourism attractions, and major transportation routes, and is
continuously expanding into rural and remote areas. At present, China is speeding up the
evolution and upgrade of 5G to 5G-A, or 55G. The three major operators have begun
to deploy relevant networks nationwide and are accelerating application testing in the
field of integrated technologies, such as artificial intelligence and integrated sensing and
communications”. The construction of communication networks serves as a strategic pivot
for the country, and there remains strong market demand during the iterative process
of future generations. To enhance network capacity and signal quality while meeting the
need for lower energy consumption, operators’ network-building strategies will further
evolve towards greener alternatives. With the advancement of domestic 5G network
construction from widespread coverage to in-depth coverage, there remains a consistent
strong demand from domestic operators for base station antennas and RF devices. The
Group has engaged deeply in the domestic communications sector for over twenty
years, continuously broadening and deepening collaboration with domestic operators
and equipment manufacturer customers. We believe that the ongoing release of related
demand in the future will benefit the Group by enabling it to capture a larger market

share in the domestic market.
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For overseas markets, the construction of communication infrastructure in some emerging
economies and developing countries is relatively lagging, leading to a pressing demand
for new-generation communication networks like 5G, and offering vast market potential.
With the gradual maturation and deployment of new technologies such as 5.5G and 6G,
international operators will continuously raise their technical requirements for base station
antennas and RF devices. The overseas markets present numerous challenges, including
trade barriers, certification differences, high operating costs and significant management
difficulties, which raise the entry barriers further. However, domestic manufacturers
possess advantages in technical experience and value-for-money products, allowing them
to distinguish themselves in international market competition. The Group has consistently
upheld an international development strategy over the years, continuously expanding into
the international operator market and seeking breakthroughs in new shortlists. Through
participation in international communications exhibitions, we increase brand exposure and
establish deep collaborations with international operators on various projects related to
base station antennas, RF and microwave series products. At the same time, we maintain
strategic partnerships with major international equipment manufacturer customer to
conduct technical and product planning for the deployment of new platforms in the
future. The Group is constantly enhancing its R&D capabilities, aligning with customer
needs in the technical field, while maintaining a dominant position in the overseas market
share. In the future, with the ongoing progress of overseas base station construction, the
Group will engage in deeper collaboration with international operator customers and
international equipment manufacturer customers, which is expected to create more order

opportunities.

Driven by the "dual carbon” targets, the communications sector is transforming from
a sole focus on network performance to the pursuit of “greening, intelligence, and
sustainability”. The maturity of new energy technologies and their profound integration
with communication networks are reshaping the patterns of energy production,
transmission and consumption. In recent years, the Group has been positioning itself
in new business areas such as “communications + energy saving/new energy’, aiming
to establish a “second growth curve”. In 2024, further breakthroughs were achieved
in projects such as photovoltaics, smart cities and the renovation of old communities,
broadening both product and customer structures. As we strengthen our relationships
with traditional operators and equipment manufacturer customers, we are also tapping
into potential clients like government and enterprise customers. We believe that the
development of diverse customer channels will provide the Group with new project

opportunities and ensure steady growth in performance.
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Products

With more than 20 years of extensive experience in the wireless communications sector,
the Group is among the few companies in China that simultaneously operates in both
antenna systems and base station RF subsystems. Additionally, to facilitate industrial
transformation and upgrade, the Group has also been continually expanding into new
business areas such as “communications + energy saving/new energy” in recent years.
The Group has always upheld the management philosophy of “R&D as the core”,
striving for a diverse range of product offerings in the industry and focusing on innovative
breakthroughs in technology, processes and methodologies to comprehensively enhance

our core competitiveness.
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In terms of antenna systems, with the rapid development of 5G technology and the
strategic layout of edge-cutting areas such as 5G-A/6G, base station antenna technology
is undergoing significant transformation. On one hand, within the framework of the “dual
carbon” strategy, the communications industry’s low-carbon and green development
requires networks and equipment to evolve towards energy efficiency. The design of
base station antennas must take into account carbon emissions and energy loss during
production and application. Green antennas, known for their exceptional energy-saving
capabilities, can support both business growth and energy reduction and are likely to
be increasingly incorporated into future network deployment plans by operators. On
the other hand, with the continuous expansion of frequency bands in 5G networks,
single-band antennas are no longer sufficient to meet the complex and ever-changing
demands of the communication environment. Multi-frequency integration technology
enables antennas to support multiple frequency bands simultaneously, not only enhancing
the efficiency of spectrum resource utilization but also significantly boosting the stability
and reliability of communication. Furthermore, with the ongoing progress in the
coordinated deployment of multiple frequency bands, it is anticipated that the loading
pressure on of the antenna space will grow considerably, resulting in an increased demand
for highly integrated antennas. In recent years, the Group has closely followed new
trends in the communications industry and has successfully developed multiple antenna
products with industry-leading standards, including green antennas, A+P integrated
antennas, multi-band/multi-system antennas and FDD+TDD integrated antennas. The
Group also maintains a strong focus on emerging technologies like U6G and satellite
internet, continually launching a series of products that meet market demands, such as
5G-A antennas, satellite communication antennas, integrated sensing and communications
antennas, and millimeter-wave antennas. These R&D investments are expected to create

considerable growth opportunities to the Group in the future.
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In terms of base station RF subsystems, in the post-5G era, wireless communication
systems are calling for RF filters that are “miniaturized and lightweight™ as well as
“energy-efficient and low-carbon”. Moreover, driven by the evolution of space-air-ground
integrated networks, RF filter technology is also facing transformation. The Group has
always upheld strategic collaborations with major domestic and international equipment
manufacturer customers, actively addressing and supporting customers' R&D needs. It has
achieved full in-house development of technologies and products such as multi-frequency
ultra-wideband duplex modules, multi-mode technology and dielectric filtters. Furthermore,
by integrating new materials and innovative processes, the Group has improved product
performance while reducing size and weight. Based on the generational evolution of
5G-A/6G, the Group continues to engage in R&D initiatives, exploring directions such as
novel microwave and millimeter-wave filters, multi-band and adaptive adjustable filters
and the modular integration of fittering functions. Leveraging its status as a core supplier,
high-end product technologies and robust quality assurance, the Group is confident in

securing a greater market share in the RF sector moving forward.

With the increasing global focus on green and low-carbon development, new business
areas including “communications + energy saving/new energy” present significant market
opportunities. On one hand, the goal of lowering energy consumption and achieving
sustainable development has led to a growing demand for energy-saving devices and
new energy power supply solutions, creating a vast market space. On the other hand,
as emerging technologies such as 5G, loT, and artificial intelligence rapidly advance, the
construction scale of communication infrastructures, including data centers and smart
base stations, is continuously expanding. This expansion also creates more scenarios
and opportunities for the application of energy-saving/new energy technologies, further
propelling market development. The Group has been strategically allocating resources in
new business areas such as “‘communications + energy-saving/new energy" for many years,
successfully implementing multiple new projects, including photovoltaics, smart cities and
energy management systems. These efforts are expected to facilitate the Group's industrial

transformation and upgrade, unleashing additional new opportunities.
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Conclusion

In the future, with the further development of overseas 5G construction and the
continuous large-scale construction of 5G/5G-A in China, the telecommunications
equipment industry will generally remain in a growth cycle. The Group believes that the
diversified business structure is beneficial to the steady expansion of market share in the
future. In addition to focusing on the iteration and innovation of existing products, the
Group will also increase R&D investment to develop new product platforms , supporting
customers in their 5G, 5G-A/6G technological evolution and application innovation.
With the continuous expansion and deepening of service and cooperation interfaces with
domestic and overseas operator customers and equipment manufacturer customers,
as well as the ongoing development of new businesses, this will facilitate the Group
in establishing a solid foothold in the complex competitive environment in the future,

capturing more market opportunities, and creating value for shareholders and society.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has funded the Group's operation and capital requirements with cash
generated from business, trade credit from our suppliers and short-term bank borrowings.
Our primary uses of cash have been for our increased working capital needs and capital

expenditures on purchases of production equipment.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets of approximately RMB75.98
million (2023: approximately RMB153.05 million), including inventories of approximately
RMB103.47 million (2023: approximately RMB149.92 million), trade receivables and
notes receivable of approximately RMB278.53 million (2023: approximately RMB324.88
million) and trade payables and notes payable of approximately RMB485.32 million (2023:
approximately RMB571.50 million).
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The Group maintained effective management of its working capital. For the year ended
31 December 2024, average inventories tumnover, average trade and notes receivables
turover and average trade and notes payables turnover were approximately 103 days
(2023: 111 days), 214 days (2023: 203 days) and 431 days (2023: 387 days) respectively.
We offer credit terms generally accepted in the antenna system and base station RF
subsystem manufacturing industry to our trade customers. In general, the average credit
period for local network operators is longer than global network operators and solution

providers.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a pledged bank deposits of approximately
RMB78.74 million (2023: approximately RMB132.36 million), cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB192.66 million (2023: approximately RMB198.67 million) and recorded
bank and other borrowings of approximately RMBI [ .85 million (2023: approximately
RMB95.00 million). The current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
decreased from approximately |21 times as at 3|1 December 2023 to approximately
[.I'l times as at 31 December 2024. The gearing ratio (bank borrowings divided by total
assets) was approximately 10.7% as at 31 December 2024 as compared with a gearing
ratio of approximately 7.6% as at 3| December 2023. The interest rates on the Group's
bank borrowings are designated as fixed rates or floating rates based on prevailing market

rates.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has a solid and stable financial position and
adequate resources to satisfy necessary operating capital requirements and foreseeable

capital expenditures.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

RMB is the functional currency of the Group. Currencies other than RMB expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. We have foreign currency sales and purchases and certain
trade receivables and bank balances are denominated in United States dollar (“US$"),
Euro (“EUR"), Indonesian Rupiah (“Indonesian Rupiah”) and Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").
We currently do not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors the situation and will consider hedging of foreign currency exposure when the

need arises.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 1,333 staffs. The total staff
costs amounted to approximately RMB195.93 million for the year ended 2024. The
remuneration of the Group's employees is determined on the basis of their responsibilities
and industry practices. Regular training is provided to improve the skills and expertise of
relevant staff. The Group also grants share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible

staffs based on their performance.

CHARGE ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2024, bank balances of approximately RMB78.74 million were
pledged to secure bank borrowings and bills payable granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During 2024, a total amount of 4,849,000 shares of the Company had been repurchased
at prices ranging from HK$0.12 per share to HK$0.193 per share by the Company via
Stock Exchange. The Company had subsequently cancelled all these shares repurchased
during the year. Save as mentioned above, there was no redemption by the Company
and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the

Company's listed securities during the current year.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 3|
December 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 29 May 2025 (“2025 AGM"), the Register
of Members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 26 May 2025 to Thursday,
29 May 2025, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
2025 AGM, all transfer documents should be lodged for registration with the Company's
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (the “Company's
Registrar”) at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 May 2025.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has been adamant in upholding high standards of corporate governance
to maximize the operational efficiency, corporate values and shareholder returns of
the Company. The Company adopted sound governance and disclosure practices and
continued to upgrade internal control system, strengthen risk control management and

reinforce the corporate governance structure.

Save for the deviation disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with the
principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “"Code
Provisions”) as set out in Appendix C| of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of

Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board comprises seven Directors, including three executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The following sets

out the composition of the Board, by category of Directors:

Executive Directors:
Hu Xiang (Chairman)
Zhou Lingbo

Ye Rong

Non-executive Director:
Qu Degian

Independent non-executive Directors:
Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

The Board's composition demonstrates a balance of core competence with regard to the
business of the Group so as to provide effective leadership and the required expertise to
the Group. The executive Directors and senior management have extensive management
experience in the wireless communication antennas and base station RF subsystems
industry. The biographical details and experience of the Directors and senior management

are set out on pages 104 to 109 of this report.

There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships among

members of the Board.
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Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and is entrusted
with the responsibility to supervise the overall management of the business, including
establishing and overseeing the Group's strategic development, business plans, financial
objectives, capital investment proposals and assumes the responsibilities of corporate
governance of the Group. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing its business strategies and managing the daily operations of the Group's

businesses to the executive Directors and members of senior management of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis, as warranted by
business needs. During the year ended 31 December 2024, four Board meetings, two
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) meetings, one remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) meeting and one nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee") meeting were convened. Details of attendance of Board meetings for
each of the members of the Board are set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at

Meetings” below.

Notices for regular Board meetings are given to each Director at least 14 days prior to the
meeting, whereby the Directors can put forward their proposed items into the agenda.
The agenda and the relevant Board papers are then circulated to the Directors not less
than 3 days before a Board meeting in order to enable the Directors to make an informed

decisions. For other Board meetings, reasonable notices are given.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or

accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence as

set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and thus considers them to be independent.
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Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to the Code Provision of Corporate Governance Code, the Board has adopted
a Board Diversity Policy (the "Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the Company's
approach to achieving diversity of its Board. The Company recognises that an increase
in diversity at the Board level will support the achievement of its strategic objectives and
sustainable development. The Company seeks to increase Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Company will also take into consideration its own business model and specific
needs from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at the date of this report, Hu Xiang is both the chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company, responsible for the leadership and effective running
of the Board to formulate overall strategies and business development directions for the
Group and for the daily management of the business of the Group, implementation of the
policies, business objectives and plans set by the Board and is accountable to the Board

for the overall operation of the Group.
Code Provision C.2.1

This Code Provision stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Currently, Mr.
Hu Xiang is both the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hu is one
of the founders of the Group and has extensive experience in the telecommunications
industry. Given the current stage of development of our Group, the Board believes
that vesting the two roles in the same person provides our Company with strong and
consistent leadership and facilitates the implementation and execution of our Group's
business strategies. We shall nevertheless review the structure from time to time in light

of the prevailing circumstances.
Non-Executive Directors

The term of appointment of all the non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors of the Company (except for Mr. Li Tianshu) is three years. According to the
Company's Articles of Association, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-
executive) is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual general
meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every

three years.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board established the Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities. The Remuneration
Committee comprises all the independent non-executive Directors, namely Li Tianshu,
Zhang Han and Ge Xiaojing and one non-executive Director, namely Qu Degian. The

Remuneration Committee is chaired by Li Tianshu.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in achieving
its objective of attracting and retaining Directors and senior management of the
highest caliber and experience needed to develop the Group's business successfully.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for the development of a fair and
transparent procedure in determining the remuneration policies for the Directors and
senior management of the Company and for determining their remuneration packages.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

. formulation of remuneration policy for approval by the Board;

. recommendation to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration of

Directors and senior management;

. determination of the remuneration of executive Directors and senior management,

including benefits in kind and compensation payments;

. review and approval of the compensation arrangements in connection with any
loss or termination of office or appointment, or dismissal or removal of executive

Directors and senior management for misconduct; and

. determination of the criteria for assessing employee performance.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review the Company's remuneration policies, the terms of the service
contracts and the performance of all executive Directors and senior management. Details
of attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings of each of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at Meetings”

below.

Details of the emoluments of each Director, are set out in note |10 to the financial

statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Nomination Committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities on 22 March 2012. The
Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Li Tianshu, Zhang Han and Ge Xiaojing, one non-executive Director, namely Qu Degian
and one executive Director, namely, Hu Xiang. The Nomination Committee is chaired by
Hu Xiang. Currently all new appointments to the Board will be considered by the Board

whose deliberations are based on the following criteria:

. possession of core competencies, including but not limited to financial literacy,
that are appropriate to the Company’s business and complement the skills and

competencies of the existing Directors on the Board;

. ability to commit time and effort to carry out duties and responsibilities effectively;
and

. possession of a good track record of experience at a senior level in corporations/
organizations.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of expertise, skills and experience which are appropriate for the requirements of
the business of the Company. Details of attendance of Nomination Committee meeting
of each of the members of the Nomination Committee are set out in “Attendance of

Individual Directors at Meetings” below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities. The Audit Committee comprises
all the independent non-executive Directors. Zhang Han is the chairman of the Audit

Committee.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication between the Directors,
the external auditors and chief financial officer as regards their duties relating to, among
other things, financial and other reporting, internal controls and external audits and
to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing independent view and

supervision of financial reporting.
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The Board is of the opinion that the members of the Audit Committee have sufficient
accounting and financial management expertise or experience to discharge their duties.

The principal functions of the Audit Committee include:

. to make recommendations on the appointment, reappointment and removal of

external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of such appointments;

. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity;

. to develop and implement policies on the engagement of external auditor for non-

audit services;

. to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, annual and interim reports and
the auditor’s report to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced

assessment of the Group's financial position;

. to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices;

. to oversee the Group's financial reporting system, risk management and internal

control systems;

. to ensure the management has fulfilled its duty to maintain an effective internal

control system; and

. to review the external auditor's management letter and any questions raised by the

auditor to the management and the management's response.

Two meetings were held by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December
2024. The Audit Committee reviewed, together with the management and the external
auditors, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and statutory compliance.
In addition to reviewing the Group's risk management and internal control systems and
the effectiveness of the internal audit function, the Audit Committee also reviewed the
independence of the external auditors and approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors. Details of attendance of Audit Committee meetings
of each of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in “Attendance of Individual

Directors at Meetings” below.
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ATTENDANCE OF INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The Code Provision stipulates that the board should meet regularly for at least 4 times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The attendance of individual Directors
at meetings of the Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the annual general meeting during the year ended 3| December

2024, respectively, is set forth in the table below:

EESHESEER
SFRAIRNHATESSATHETEE  8F
ED4RNEEE—IR - BE2024F12A
3IBLEEE  SEFHFEES  FMWEE
g BREEY REZEGRBRFEAFK
SERERIBIERNTE

Meetings attended/Meetings held

HREEHEER BTHER

Remuneration

Board Committee

Name of Directors EEnS EEE FHZEE
Hu Xiang FzEH 4/4 N/A

NEA
Zhou Lingbo %R 4/4 N/A

A
Ye Rong LS 4/4 N/A

TiEA
Qu Degian B 4/4 /1
Li Tianshu FREF 4/4 /1
Zhang Han IR 4/4 /1
Ge Xiaojing BiEE 4/4 /1

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant
laws, rules and regulations. From time to time, Directors are provided with written
materials to develop and refresh their professional skills. The Directors had fulfilled the
relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended 31

December 2024.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Annual
Audit  Nomination General
Committee Committee Meeting

EREEE REZEE RRAFAE

N/A 11 I/
N

N/A N/A I/
i A NiE A

N/A N/A /1
i AN

N/A I/ /1
N

22 I/ /1

212 I/ I/

22 I/ /1

57

BECEERTH  2BESE2MFER
FRRERERERME R L o KA
AEHRESNAEEEE - RARRZ
BEIREH - ARBETRAESREEEM
BAhERENEERE - REE20245F 12
A3IBILEE  EEEETREERTAT
ZIEBRE



Corporate Governance Report

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

Pursuant to rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary must take no less than
I'5 hours of relevant professional training in each financial year. The Company Secretary
is Mr. Lau Wing and has taken more than |5 hours of relevant professional development

during the year ended 31 December 2024.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (“Articles”), without prejudice to
and in addition to complying with the applicable requirements set forth in the Listing Rules
and other applicable laws and regulations, the Company has since 17 December 2009,
the date on which its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange adopted a stringent system
to avoid potential conflict of interests respecting transactions (“Relevant Transactions”) in
which any Directors are interested in, and transactions with any of our connected persons
(as defined under the Listing Rules) or any company in which the controlling shareholder
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company or its shareholders, individually
or collectively, owns a direct or indirect equity interest of 10% or above (including
transactions with ZTE Corporation and Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Technologies Co., Ltd.)

("Relevant Companies”), as follows:

(1) Any Relevant Transactions be approved by way of a resolution passed by a majority
of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, provided
that any non-executive Director or independent non-executive Director interested
in the transactions in question will declare his or her interest and will abstain from

voting on such matters;

(2)  Any Director has a conflict of interest will not participate or be involved in matters

relating to the Relevant Transactions;

(3)  An executive committee (the “Executive Committee”) comprising the chief financial
officer and the deputy financial officer of the Company has been established to
monitor, review and manage all Relevant Transactions, and to prepare semi-annual
report in relation to the execution of the Relevant Transactions (“Semi-annual

Report”) for the supervisory committee’s (the “Supervisory Committee”) review;
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(4)  The Supervisory Committee comprising three independent non-executive
Directors (each of whom shall not have any interest in any transaction under
consideration by the Supervisory Committee and shall not be in a position of
conflict of interest when acting in such capacity) has been set up, among other
things, to supervise the Executive Committee, review and approve the terms and
conditions of continuing connected transactions and Relevant Transactions, devise
and review rules and guidelines for the Executive Committee to follow, review
Semi-annual Report from the Executive Committee, report its findings to the Board
and give recommendations to the Board to ensure that the Relevant Transactions
will be entered into in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole;

and

(5)  The Board will disclose the decisions, findings and recommendations on the
transactions reviewed by the Executive Committee and the Supervisory Committee

in the Company's interim and annual reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, two meetings were held by the Supervisory
Committee to review the report on Relevant Transactions in respect of the sales and
purchase entered into by the Group with the Relevant Companies prepared by the
Executive Committee. As reported by the Supervisory Committee, (i) it had reviewed
and approved the master agreements entered into by the Group and the Relevant
Companies and considered the terms and conditions therein were fair and reasonable; (ii)
it had reviewed the supplier procurement bidding documents and intemal procurement
procedures of the Group; (iii) it had devised and reviewed rules and guidelines for
Executive Committee and the Executive Committee had followed accordingly; and (iv)
it had reviewed the report submitted by the Executive Committee. The Supervisory
Committee considered Relevant Transactions conducted during the review period were
in line with the respective master agreements and the intemal procedures of the Group,
were on fair and normal commercial terms and there was no other matter that needs to

be brought to the attention of the Board and shareholders of the Company.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants, the external auditors of the
Company, were responsible for providing services in connection with the audit of the

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remunerations paid or payable to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu in respect of its audit services and non-audit services are RMB2,002,000
and RMB296,000, respectively.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board (which endorsed the view) that,
subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu be
re-appointed as the external auditors of the Company for 2025.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims to present a comprehensive, fair and understandable assessment of
the Group's performance, position and prospects. The management provides such
explanations and information to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the

matters put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of
the Group and for ensuring that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with

applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

The Group has announced its annual results in a timely manner within the limits of three

months after the end of the financial period, as laid down in the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The main objectives of the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting

mechanism to facilitate the Group in managing risks across its business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of the Board
of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Taskforce. The Board
of Directors assesses and determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken
in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensures that the Group establishes
and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
The Board also has overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and

effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted a Risk Management Policy for providing direction
in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks on at least an annual basis, the Risk
Management Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the
Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are established and risk owners are then assigned

for the management of those risks considered to be significant.
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In addition, the Group has established an internal audit function to assist the Board of
Directors and the Audit Committee with ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
interal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed for their remediation.
Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the

Board of Directors on a timely basis to ensure that they are promptly addressed.

Risk management and internal control reports are submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board of Directors at least once a year. The Board of Directors performs an annual
review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
including, but not limited to, changes in the nature and extent of significant risks after
the review in the prior year, the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation
and changing external environment; the scope and quality of the management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and internal control systems; results of intemal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication of the results of monitoring of risk management and
internal control systems to the Board of Directors; significant failures or weaknesses
identified and their related implications; and the effectiveness of the Group's processes for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance. Following its review for the year ended
31 December 2024, the Board of Directors considers the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are adequate and effective.

The risk management and intemal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE HANDLING AND
DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board has established an Inside Information Policy for the handling and dissemination
of Inside Information. The Group complies with requirements of the Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO™) and the Listing Rules. It discloses inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the Safe Harbours,
as provided in the SFO. Before information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures that it is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
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of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,

the Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is

committed to ensuring that information contained in announcements is not false or

misleading as to material fact, or omission of material fact, and to presenting information in

a clear and balanced way, including through equal disclosure of both positive and negative

information.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate

resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including the

election of individual Directors for shareholders' consideration and voting

Resolutions put forward at our shareholders” meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant

to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of our Company and of

the Stock Exchange after each shareholders’ meeting.

(i)

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 79 of the Company's Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one or
more members of the Company holding together, as at the date of deposit of
the requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth of the voting rights,
on a one vote per share basis, of the Company which carry the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. The written requisition shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and the resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the
requisitionist(s). If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 30
days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the

Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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(i)  Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings may
achieve so by means of convening an extraordinary general meeting following the

procedures set out in paragraph (i) above.

As regards the procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a

Director, they are available on our Company's website (www.mobi-antenna.com).
(i)  Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written
enquiries to our Company by addressing them to the Company Secretary by mail
at Unit A, 25/F, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong
Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there has not been any change in the

Company's constitutional documents.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group establishes and maintains different communication channels with its
shareholders through the publication of annual and interim reports, information of the
Stock Exchange, a corporate website, and general and investor meetings. The Group is
going to report to its shareholders twice a year and maintains a regular dialogue with

investors.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each

substantially separate issue, including the election of Directors.
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INTRODUCTION

CORPORATE PROFILE OF MOBI

MOBI Development Co,, Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability on 16 December 2002. The shares of the
Company were listed on Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the “HKEX") on 17
December 2009 (Stock Code: 947).

We are one of the few one-stop providers of wireless communication antennas and base
station Radio Frequency (“RF") subsystems in China. Our business consists of the design,
manufacture, marketing and sale of antennas, base station RF subsystems and solutions
that are the required components of mobile communication coverage systems, including,
wireless access systems (WiFi and PHS), 2G (GSM and CDMA), 3G (TD-SCDMA,
CDMA2000, W-CDMA and WiMax), 4G (TD-LTE and FDD-LTE), 5G, MIMO, 5G-A,

green antennas, satellite communication and microwave transmission networks.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20244 R

s AN

ELERAERAR ([ARA ) R2002% 128
6B ERESHSAMK U ABERRBEREL
NA) o RRRRMI2000F 12817 BERE
REOREEMBRAR ([EBRSM]) W
(BRI - 947) ©

AARABPELEN—HAERBEREK
BEuhgisa ([§48]) FRAHRER 2 — - K
NAMEBBRER:  BiE - CHNHEE
RER %uﬁ%wﬁ%%%ﬁéﬁﬁmﬁﬁ CRE
EmeBRREEEARNUTRGE 8
EEGE ARG (WIFIFIPHS) » 2G(GSM K&
CDMA) » 3G (TD-SCDMA *+ CDMA2000 *
W-CDMAFWiMax) * 4G(TD-LTER
FDDLTE) * 5G » MIMO * 5G-A * kB K4 -
BEBEREE IR GRS -

53



54

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R -HERERKRE

We sell our products to network operators in China and overseas directly for deployment
into the networks they are constructing and operating. We also sell our products to some
of the world's leading wireless network solution providers who incorporate our products
into their wireless coverage solutions, such as their proprietary base stations, which they

then sell to network operators worldwide.

The Company relies on scientific management and a people-oriented corporate
culture in pursuing “dedication, devotion, pragmatism and pioneership”. We deem it
our responsibility to provide our employees with an ideal working environment and
development opportunities so that they can exert their full potential. Through scientific
management, we aim to create a good working atmosphere for employees while providing
reasonable incentives to promote their healthy growth. It is our relentless pursuit to satisfy

customers, employees, investors and the whole community.

The Company adheres to the principle of sustainable development and lays great
emphasis on environmental protection throughout its entire product life cycle in the
course of its business operations, from product design and development, procurement of
parts and components, manufacturing to product delivery. Through systematic planning
and operation, we ensure that the impact on the environment is minimized, and that the
use of resources is efficient from the source so as to reduce resource consumption and

achieve energy conservation.

In terms of the establishment of its management system, the Company passed the
ISO9001 Quality Management Systems Certification, TL9000 Information Communication
Technology (ICT) Quality Management System Certification, ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System Certification and ISO45001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Certification. It made efforts in social responsibility management, risk
management, carbon emission, ESD $20.20 ESD Protection Management, conflict minerals
and corporate governance by setting up and strictly complying with corresponding policies

and standards, thereby achieving substantial results.

We are committed to providing quality and sophisticated products and building long-term

partnerships with our customers.
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COMPANY VISION

“Become a global leading provider of RF technology for mobile communications.”

CORPORATE MISSION

“Explore and walk on the path to survival and development of the Company with
collective intelligence from employees; continuously bring management and technology
innovation into practice; and develop MOBI into a global leading provider of RF

technology for mobile communications.”

CORE VALUES OF THE COMPANY
“Accountability, devotion, diligence and efficiency, team-spirit, care for people, mutual

respect.”

HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT PHILOSOPHY OF THE COMPANY
“Human resource is the core to the sustainable rapid development of the Company. We
pay close attention to the performance and remuneration of the employees, as well as

their development.”

TABLE OF CONTENTS
About this Report
Environmental/Occupational Health and Safety Policy of MOBI
General Rules on Corporate Social Responsibility of MOBI
Devotion to Environmental Protection
Emissions
Use of Resources
Environment and Natural Resources
Conflict Minerals
Establishment of a Team of Excellence
Staff Employment
Health and Safety
Development and Training
Labor Standards
Staff Activities
Responsible Supply Chain and Product Liability Management
Supply Chain Management
Product Liability
Compliance in Operation
Compliance with Laws and Regulations
Anti-corruption
Community Involvement
Charity Activities
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Pursuant to the requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Guidelines (“ESG Guidelines"),
Appendix C2 of the Main Board Listing Rules of the HKEx, the Company is pleased to
publish this report on the environmental, social and governance aspects for the disclosure
on the relevant information (this “Report”). This Report covers the period from | January
2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period"). This Report mainly covers the
performance of MOBI Development's subsidiaries in three places of operation (Shenzhen,
Guangdong; Xi'an, Shaanxi, and Ji'an, Jiangxi) with respect to environmental, social and

governance.

The Board of Directors (the “Board") of the Company assumes full responsibility for the
overall environmental, social and governance strategy and reporting of the Company,
and has established a corporate social responsibility governance structure. The Board is
responsible for assessing, determining and prioritizing the Company's risks in relation to
environment, society and governance (including risks to the Company's businesses) and
for ensuring that the Company establishes appropriate and effective environmental, social
and governance risk management and internal control systems, while the management is
responsible for monitoring and managing the risks associated with environment, society
and governance and the effectiveness of the management system. The management
personnel will be responsible for checking the information disclosed in this Report, while
the Board of the Company will be responsible for the review and approval thereof. The
Board has authorized the environmental, social and governance working group (the
“Working Group”) to carry out the day-to-day work in relation to corporate governance
and corporate social responsibility. The responsibilities of the Working Group include
conducting internal and external materiality assessments, implementing the strategies
and policies of the Board, preparing environmental, social and governance reports,
and collecting and monitoring information and data related to daily corporate social

responsibilities.
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The Board of Directors of the Company assumes the overall responsibility on the
Company's management tactics and reports on ESG as well as for the identification,
assessment and determination of the Company's risks concerning ESG and ESG target
progression. The Board ensures that the Company has established a proper and effective
system of ESG risk management and internal control. In addition to providing supervision
and guidance, the Board regularly listens to management teams' reports on production
safety, operation and management, internal control, corporate social responsibility and
ESG targets. The Board assesses and ranks risk hierarchies, taking consideration of, among
others, the impacts on our corporate strategies, policies, procedures and commitment,
impacts on the Company's competitive edge and management excellence, and current and
future financial impacts on the Company. The Company has established an internal audit
department and will also engage a third party to carry out an independent assessment
of risk and internal monitoring systems every year to provide improvement suggestions
on risk management and internal control as required. The management personnel will be
responsible for checking the information disclosed in this Report, while the Board of the

Company will be responsible for the review and approval thereof.

The Company conducts business activities in a responsible and sustainable manner
to create value for employees, customers and shareholders, as well as to fulfill its
commitment to the environment and society. We are well aware that exhaust gases
and greenhouse gas emissions, sewage and waste generation can adversely affect the
environment and we also understand the scarcity of natural resources. Therefore,
the Company will persist in adopting appropriate measures to achieve sustainable
development during its business operation. We are convinced that sustainability in
business is not just a compliance obligation, but is essential to the development of the
Company. By adopting sustainable development practices, we will gain a competitive edge,
increase our market share and bring value to our shareholders in the long run. On top of
that, we will keep a focus on social responsibility and continue to take practical actions for

the benefit of the community.
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This Report has been prepared in accordance with four reporting principles in the ESG
Guidelines, namely “quantitativeness”, “consistency”, “materiality” and “balance”.

“Quantitativeness”: The Company has established internal guidelines and procedures,
by reference to industry practices, guidelines of exchanges or relevant government
departments, laws and regulations, and has collected environmental performance data
from various business departments and kept records from relevant monitoring instruments

or supporting documents.

“Consistency': The statistical method for the data and contents disclosed in the Report is
the same as that for the previous year, and the same statistical and conversion methods
have been used. Relevant historical data have been disclosed in the Report to give
stakeholders a clearer understanding and comparison of the Company's sustainable
development performance.

“Materiality”: In defining material ESG issues related to the Company's business and
stakeholders, we maintain communication with internal and external stakeholders
of the Group to understand their expectations and suggestions. We maintain close
communication with all stakeholders, including employees, investors, customers, suppliers,
local government agencies and local organizations, whether they are affected by or have a

significant impact on our operating business.

“Balance’: This Report presents the Company’s environmental, social and governance

performance in an impartial manner.
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The Company understands the importance of the stakeholders’ participation in achieving
its sustainable development, so the Company persists in communicating with relevant
internal and external stakeholders regularly to know about their opinions on the
Company's business development, environmental, social and governance aspects, and to
help us satisfy the stakeholders' expectations. The Company's key stakeholders and the

communication methods with them are as follows:

Stakeholders Communication Methods
KiE BRI
Investors and shareholders . Website of the Group
REERRR - RESY

. Shareholders’ meeting

- BRA®
Employees . Website of the Group
BT - KRS

. Internal email

. REED

. Employees training

- BIE
Customers . Website of the Group
EF - EE@

. Customer hotline

- RPER

Suppliers . Website of the Group
(At - EEE

. Business meeting

- EBeR

. Performance evaluation

. RE
Government and regulatory authorities . Public consultation
B REEHE VN 8T8

. Email

. ®E
Media and the public . Website of the Group
BHEELR - EESW
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. Evaluation report
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The management of the Group regularly reviews the operation of its various departments,

identifies relevant environmental, social and governance issues, consults and synthesizes

the results of stakeholders' participation and assesses the significance of these issues to our

business and our stakeholders. We will disclose in this Report the environmental, social

and governance issues we deem to be most material. The Working Group has verified

and confirmed the major environmental, social and governance issues and their correlation

with the key performance indicators in the ESG Guidelines. The materiality assessment

results are shown as follows:

. Emissions
7137 ¢

. Use of Resources
- ARER

. Staff Employment

- BIER

. Health and Safety

- REEZE

. Development and Training
- BRREE

. Labor Standards

. BT
. Compliance with Laws and Regulations

« BETERRER

AEEEEETRRT S BrIEFEERNLE
BIMEEERE - HEREREE  2ENEA
BEFHE2EBENER  YHEABE
HEHEMOEBARSHNENERE - &
HAABRNERE HEkEARBERER
ABEFR - ZFNTIENHERERERE
BORE - 18 MEREEMESGHE IR
BRUEIREE - ERHEERBIIIT -

Important Issues

EERE
Environmental
B5
. Environment and Natural Resources
« BRRERRAER
. Conflict Minerals

. EREE
Social

He

. Employees Activities

- BIE®

. Supply Chain Management
- fEEER

. Product Liability

« EmEf

. Community Involvement

- HR2E

Governance
R
. Anti-corruption
. RES
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Based on the materiality assessment results, this Report serves to provide an overview
of our sustainable development principles, policies and actual practices under five topics,
namely Devotion to Environmental Protection, Establishment of a Team of Excellence,
Responsible Supply Chain and Product Liability Management, Compliance in Operations

and Community Involvement.

ENVIRONMENTAL/OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY OF
MOBI

We are committed to: conducting our business activities in a responsible manner for
the environment and the health and safety of our staff, fulfilling our responsibilities in
protecting the environment and promoting the health and safety of our staff, in order to

provide more competitive products and services to our customers.

To this end, we have developed a clear environmental/occupational health and safety

management policy, requiring us to:

Maintain precautions for strengthening risk management;

Comply with environmental and safety regulations, raise the awareness of all parties;
Advocate green operations, step up emissions reduction;

Emphasize pollution prevention, perform environmental and safety commitments;

Pay attention to employee health, ensure safe production;

Create environmental and safety culture, support consultation and participation;
Optimize environmental and safety performance, encourage continuous improvement;

Collaborate with all stakeholders, achieve synergies and progress.

Details of the environmental/occupational health and safety management policy are as

follows:

»  Adhere to the ideology of maintaining precautions in the first place, establish,
implement and maintain a documented EHS (“EHS") management system, to
achieve systematic and standardized management, incorporate risk management
into our normal operations and business activities, and strengthen the identification,
assessment and control of sources of danger and environmental risk factors
of occupational health and safety, emphasize the identification and analysis of
and response to risks and opportunities in our management system, and plan

countermeasures;
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62

Comply with international agreements, laws and regulations and environmental and
health and safety requirements of relevant parties, continue to provide education
and training on the environment and health and safety, enhance the awareness,
knowledge and skills of employees in terms of the environment and health and

safety, and promote proactive participation from all employees;

Promote the philosophy of green operations, adhere to the sustainable
development strategy, and incorporate it into the entire life cycle of products and
services; consider and pay attention to the potential impacts on the environment
in the early stage of the life cycle of products and services; taking into account
the whole life cycle of product, adopt concrete measures in all aspects to prevent
harm to the environment, reduce energy and resource consumption, and strive to

achieve harmonious coexistence with the environment;

Emphasize and raise the awareness of pollution prevention, and take preliminary
control measures to avoid pollution; meantime, attach significance to the sustainable
use of resources, mitigate and adapt to the climate change, and protect biodiversity
and ecosystem, fulfilling our commitment to environmental protection. The
Company is also committed to eliminating sources of danger, and takes all feasible

measures to reduce occupational health and safety risks;

Put the occupational health and safety of our staff in the first place to ensure that all
business activities strictly comply with respective working procedures and policies,
so as to create a healthy and safe working environment for our employees with a

pursuit of zero injuries and zero accidents;

The Company strives to create and advocate a culture of protecting environment,
saving resources, preventing pollution and paying attention to safety that supports
the environment and occupational health and safety management system to
achieve expected results. We have established and improved the Health and

Safety Committee and ensured its exercise of functions. We have also set and
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implemented a mechanism and process for staff consultation and participation
to ensure that our staff can actively participate in occupational health and safety
activities, provide consultative suggestions and opinions and participate in process
of the decision-making, thereby ensuring that our employees at all levels fully
understand and are adequately communicated with the effective occupational

health and safety management and the importance to meet its requirements;

»  Continuously optimize the performance of environmental and health and safety
management system, persevere in developing new technologies, processes,
approaches and products that are beneficial to the environment and the health and

safety of our employees, and always search for “better solutions’;

»  Advocate the concept of EHS, and incorporate related requirements into our
supply chain management activities to improve performance with our suppliers,
contractors, and subcontractors from the perspective of the overall supply chain,
with a pursuit of a harmonious balance between corporate development, social
responsibility and the health and safety of our employees, while promoting

commaon progress.

Safe production is a core value of the Company. It is the Company’s basic responsibility
to prevent casualties and fatalities of our employees and to create a safe and healthy
working environment. The Company strives to become an outstanding organization
through continuous improvement to achieve long-term development. In developing the
Company's strategic objectives, making action decisions and conducting daily operations,
the Company will consider factors such as economy, environment, health, safety and social

responsibility.

All of our management personnel serve as the medium to promote our priorities in
environment, health and safety, and as the exponent for putting such ideas into practice.
All employees are required to comply with the Company's safety regulations and policies.
Employees are the Company's most essential assets and each employee’s contribution to
the Company is unique and valuable. The Company encourages, recognizes and rewards
employees for their active contributions to the Company's environmental, safety and

health performance.
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GENERAL RULES ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY OF MOBI
The Company manages its social responsibility and commitment within the scope of
its control and influence, and ensures that the management systems and regulations

it formulates comply with national laws and regulations and internationally recognized

SAB000 ethical standards.

This includes the principles of the following international agreements and relevant
national laws, regulations and policies: International Labor Organization Convention 29
and Convention 05 (forced labor and debt-bondage), Intemational Labor Organization
Convention 87 (freedom of association), International Labor Organization Convention
98 (right to collective bargaining), Intemational Labor Organization Convention 100 and
Convention |1l (equal remuneration and discrimination), Intemational Labor Organization
Convention 135 (workers’ representatives), International Labor Organization Convention
138 and Recommendation 146 (minimum age and recommendations), International
Labor Organization Convention 155 and Recommendation |64 (occupational safety
and health), Intemational Labor Organization Convention 59 (vocational rehabilitation
and employment), International Labor Organization Convention |77 (home work), the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of
the Child, etc.

The Company hires, manages and assigns employees in accordance with the requirements
under relevant national laws and regulations, including the Labor Law of the People's
Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People's Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment Promotion Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Implementation Regulations of the Labor Contract
Law of the People's Republic of China, the Special Rules on Labor Protection of Female
Employees, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor (Order No. 364 of
the State Council), Regulatory Standards for Penalties Against the Employment of Child
Labor (Ministry of Labor, MOF Document, Laolizi (1992) 27), Regulations on the Special
Protection of the Minority Workers and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, pays employees” wages at standards higher than local minimum
wages and complies with the provisions of the Labor Law on working hours, overtime

compensation and remuneration. We strictly prohibit the recruitment of child labor.

The Company promises not to use any form of forced labor or involuntary labor, to sign
an employment contract with the employee’s consent and full understanding of the terms,
and not to require any employee to pay any “deposit” or deposit their identity documents

at the time of employment.
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The Company has appointed the manufacturing director of the senior management team
to take full responsibility for the health and safety of all employees, and has formed Safety
Production Committee of the Group and its subsidiaries for ensuring and achieving safe
production on the part of the Company. The Company has established an occupational
health and safety management mechanism to effectively identify sources of danger and
to reduce and prevent potential threats to employees’ health and safety through hazard

assessment, preventive measures and related emergency mechanisms.

The Company is committed to providing a safe, clean, healthy and productive working
environment for all employees by providing drinking water, medical and sanitation
facilities, fire safety and proper ventilation conditions. The Company will also take
necessary measures on its own initiative to minimize possible hazards in the workplace
when possible in order to avoid health-threatening accidents that happen at work. The
Company regularly conducts key inspection on the health and safety conditions in the
workplace, canteens and dormitories, and makes constant improvements based on issues

identified.

The Company provides training for all employees on health and safety, energy
conservation, environmental protection and various management systems and standards.
In addition, it also provides induction training for new staff, and retraining programs for

transferring staff.

The Company has formed a trade union which helps its members to safeguard their
legitimate rights and interests, encourages regular communications between employees
and the Company, and assists with solving any special difficulties they have. The Company
respects the freedom of all employees to participate in the trade union and collective

bargaining as well as their freedom of association.

The Company is strictly prohibited from engaging in or supporting discrimination based
on race, ethnicity, social hierarchy, nationality, religion, physical disability, gender, age,
sexual orientation, trade union membership or political affiliation in matters relating to the
appointment, remuneration, welfare, training opportunities, promotion, discipline, dismissal

or retirement.
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The Company fully respects the personal religious beliefs and ethnic customs of
employees. We prohibit any personal discrimination and infringement of rights. The
Company does not interfere with the rights of employees to observe their religious beliefs

and customs.

The Company undertakes to respect and treat every employee impartially. It prohibits
coercive, abusive or exploitative sexual harassment in the form of gesture, language and
physical contact. The Company also prohibits corporal punishment, mental or physical

persecution and verbal humiliation.

The Company actively takes measures against extortion and bribery or any form of

corruption, advocates fair and orderly competition and prohibits unfair competition.

In assessing and shortlisting suppliers, the Company considers the ability of suppliers to
meet the requirements of the Company's policy and prioritizes those who have the ability

to meet the requirements.

If necessary, the Company may provide information to stakeholders and communicate
with them on, including but not limited to, the results of its management reviews and
audits. The Company may provide stakeholders with reasonable information and access
to information for them to determine whether the Company fulfills its social responsibility
and ethical commitments. If there is any doubt as to whether the Company fulfills its
obligation on social responsibility and ethical commitments, the Company will conduct
timely investigations before handling and responding to related enquiries. If any employee
raises a question as to whether the Company complies with the requirements of this
provision, the Company will not penalize, dismiss or discriminate against the employee
for doing so. If any violation of corporate social responsibility and ethical commitments
is found, the Company will take appropriate remedial measures and corrective actions in

accordance with the severity of its nature.

The Company engages third parties to conduct annual tracking and auditing of the
relevant management system to ensure that it complies with relevant management system
requirements and standards. In recent years, the Company has also received surveys on
the EHS, carbon emissions, conflict minerals from key customers, to which the Company
has given positive response. During the Reporting Period, the Company has not received

any complaints and penalties from government, third parties and customers in these
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respects. In order to listen to all different opinions, the Group has a reporting mechanism,
employee suggestion boxes and conducts regular opinion surveys, so that employees can
report suspected misconduct, malpractice, improper, fraud-related or safety-related issues
without fear of retaliation. Our reporting mechanism and internal procedures ensure
that the Group will make its best efforts to act confidentially and prudently, without the

divulgence of the identity of the reporters and contents of the reports.

DEVOTION TO ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Company persists in operating its business in an environmentally responsible manner
and adheres to the concept of sustainable development by taking various measures to
reduce the environmental impact arising from its production and business activities, with
an aim of achieving harmonious coexistence among the society, the environment and
its stakeholders. The concepts of innovation and environmental consciousness have also
been infiltrated into our entire product life cycle and the whole process from research and
development, production, logistics to customer service. We spare no effort in reducing

energy consumption, resource consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.

The Company has been monitoring and managing our emissions for many years. In
recent years, we have also begun to monitor greenhouse gas emissions and energy
consumption. We hope to strike a balance between business growth and environmental
protection by improving our operating practice, and encouraging employees to work in

an environmentally responsible manner in the workplace.

The Company complies with the EU RoHS and China RoHS and other related directives.
We conduct comprehensive management of hazardous substances from product design,
procurement, production and delivery, to avoid the use of prohibited substances, and to
ensure that the volume of restricted substances is within relevant restricted ranges. The
Company provides declarations of hazardous substances and the content of substances
for customers that require them and may also provide inspection reports from third

parties on the composition of substances to customers as required.

The Company complies with the EU WEEE Directive and adopts ecological design
concept in the product design stage with full consideration of the principles of recyclable
design, generalized design and the most economical design of products, to satisfy the
recovery rate and the recycling rate of products and to minimize the environmental

impact on the product life cycle from the source.
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In general, the Company's production process and business nature enable low-emission,
low-energy consumption and low pollutant generation. We are committed to operating
our entire business in compliance with relevant environmental protection laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not violate any relevant

environmental protection regulations and was not subject to any related penalty either.

EMISSIONS

The Company focuses on the waste management arising from its operating process.

The Company mainly adopts mechanical processing, assembly and testing for its
production and does not discharge industrial wastewater during production. The
Company's domestic wastewater mainly comes from the drainage of office washrooms
and water from its kitchen. There is no discharge of toxic, hazardous or special substances.
For oily wastewater produced from cleaning canteen kitchens, solid waste is first filtered
through cleaning tank filters. Preliminary filtered kitchen wastewater will flow towards a
three-stage grease trap, where major pollutants are removed during grease treatment
before being discharged into the municipal sewage pipe network. Toilet sewage will go
through septic tank treatment in the industrial area, and will be discharged through the

local municipal sewage pipe network.

Industrial exhaust gas arising from the production process of the Company mainly comes
from residual lead-free solder exhaust, which is collected from exhaust gas collection
devices installed in the workshops and led to the top floor of the workshops through
pipelines to achieve high-altitude emissions. Meanwhile, we continue to improve the
ventilation of our workshops. The emission of exhaust gases after treatment meets the

“Air Pollutant Emission Limit" standards and produces little impact on the surrounding

environment.

The noise sources of the Company include certain production equipment, such as the
CNC punch press, stamping equipment, die-casting equipment, air conditioning units, air
compressors, cooling towers, fans, pumps and other ancillary power equipment. With
machine layout of the workshops and routine regular equipment maintenance, the noise
generated in the production process meets the “Standard of Boundary Noise of Industrial

Enterprise” and has limited impact on the surrounding environment.
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The solid waste produced by the Company includes general industrial solid waste,
domestic waste and a small amount of hazardous waste. Among these, the general
industrial solid waste mainly comprises production packaging materials, metal scrap,
lead-free slag and plastic scrap, which are sold to relevant extemal parties after collection
by category, for recycling treatment. Domestic waste is handled by environmental and
health departments after collection by category. Residual hazardous waste produced
during the production process mainly comprises waste organic dissolvent, waste empty
containers, waste oil, waste hydraulic oil and waste cutting solvent, the volume of which
fall below the minimum requirements for transport, and so they are regularly delivered
to external parties with relevant qualifications in hazardous waste disposal for collective

treatment.

In addition, through continuous improvement of our production process, including the
gradual shift to semi-automatic or fully automated production methods, the Company
strives to enhance production capacity and reduce labor input to increase production
efficiency, while strengthening staff training and management to enhance operating
performance, consummating and standardizing the management system of the Company,
vigorously promoting clean production, and actively pursuing energy-saving measures by
using recyclable packaging materials to reduce pollutant emissions and achieve advanced

circular economic standard.

Consumption of Packaging Materials

(Tons)
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(Tons/unit)
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Note: The consumption of packaging materials decreased due to a reduction in production capacity.
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The Company's statistics on waste in 2024 are as follows: ARENOAFEREEDSAENIAT

Industrial wastewater: none. : TREK: &

Domestic sewage: 192,441 tons, recording an increase in the total output and HEVEVEK 1 192441 W8 - EABE RIFK
sewage density (tons/person) as compared with 2023. The increase in the total EERE (B, A8 H2023FEE
amount of domestic sewage and sewage density was attributed to the relocation of e BRI BE RO BERE - KEE
certain factories and the basic repair and maintenance of buildings in the Shenzhen BHEEER  RETRRID BKEE
plant area, as well as the aging of some water pipelines in the Jian plant area, which it BEBRFERKER B34
occasionally caused water leakage. The Company has not encountered any major BB E RKEERRIEM - KR
problems in obtaining suitable water sources. AESKEGERKR IR B BRI E

NG

EETKELER(H)
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(Tons)
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2. Lead-free solder exhaust: trace amount, in compliance with regional environmental
standard and without significant environmental impact.

Factory noise: in compliance with regional environmental standards.

General solid waste (recyclable): In 2024, the output of general solid waste
(recyclable) was 58.81 tons, with a waste density (tons/working hour) of 0.000032.
The decrease in the total amount of general solid waste (recyclable) as compared
with 2023 was due to the reduction in company orders and and number of
employees, as well as the enhanced internal recycling rate of solid waste.

General Solid Waste (Recyclable) Output
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3. Household waste: In 2024, the output of household waste was 165.80 tons, and the
household waste density (tons/person) was 0.12. The total amount of household
waste and household waste density (tons/person) decreased as compared with
2023 due to the reduction in orders.
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Hazardous waste: In 2024, the output of hazardous waste was 1.68 tons, and
the hazardous waste density (tons/working hour) was 0.00000091. The total
amount and density of hazardous waste decreased as compared with 2023 due
to the reduction in company orders and the strengthening of daily consumption
management. Based on the Company's average annual reduction in hazardous
waste output, continuously taking 2021 as the base year, the Company sets annual
targets to manage and control hazardous waste density, which is estimated to be
reduced by 3.94% in 2025 and 8.65% in 2030. In order to achieve the expected
objectives, the Company has taken the following measures:

set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into
daily management activities;

2. strengthen the source control of hazardous waste generation, rationalize the
procurement of chemicals, cutting oil, engine oil and other items to eliminate
the generation of excess hazardous waste;

3. strengthen the management and control of the use process, collect
chemicals, cutting oil, engine oil, etc. as needed, and store and use them in
accordance with the instruction manual to avoid waste of chemicals, cutting
oil, engine oil, etc, resulting in excess hazardous waste;

4. control and manage hazardous waste in strict accordance with the
requirements of the latest national hazardous waste list, and dispose of
hazardous waste in a reasonable and compliant manner;

5. implement measures such as seepage and leakage prevention in the storage
area of hazardous waste to avoid the proliferation of hazardous waste
pollution.

Hazardous Waste Output
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The statistics about the Company's total greenhouse gas emissions in 2024 were as ARENRAFERERBRAHMERTEH

follows: R
2024 2023
20244 2023F
Density (tons of Density (tons of
Carbon emissions carbon dioxide Carbon emissions carbon dioxide
(carbon dioxide equivalent/ (carbon dioxide equivalent/
Emission equivalent) working hour) equivalent) working hour)
HHE 1582356 BE HEE BE
(=]t QG = (=S| b (B =S| {bhx
COE& EE TR CO,EE EETH)
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tons) 159,114.98 0.0859 68,969.14 0.0304
BEREETNE (W)
Category | — Direct GHG emissions (tons) 143,034.50 0.0772 50,592.02 0.0223
5| -GHGE#BE R (WR)
Category 2 — Indirect GHG emissions from 3,900.07 0.0021 4,868.32 0.0021

imported energy (tons)

52— WA BLRE LR GHGREE
BERR (W8)

Category 3 — Indirect GHG emissions from 12,161.91 0.0066 13,437.38 0.0059
transportation (tons)

$E I3 — E i A A ) I GHGHR IR (R )

Category 4 — Indirect GHG emissions from 18.50 0.00001 7142 0.00003

products used by an organization (tons)

R4 — HEPTREMRELR

B GHGHE R (WR)

Category 5 — Direct GHG emissions associated N/A N/A N/A N/A
with the use of products from an TEH TiEH NiEM NiEM
organization (tons)

a5l — B AR AR E m AR
B GHGHER (W)

Category 6 — Indirect GHG emissions from N/A N/A N/A N/A
other GHG sources (tons) TEHA TEMA NiE A TEHA

$Bhl6— E M GHGR A fEE GHGHER (148)

Note |: The greenhouse gas emissions in 2024 are calculated in accordance with the requirements of the 1 RRRISO 14064 AR EZ K RKIBINEE =T

latest ISO 14064 standard and using the calculation tools provided by external third-party consulting HEMERENRETRETZE2014FEL
organizations. Following the same calculation method, the data for 2023 has been updated to align ZEREBYNE - BRAKZERE 203G
with the standard requirements. BERRIEEZKERF -

Note 2:Due to data collection difficulties, no data could be collected for Category 5 (direct GHG 2 BREEBBEREE - AREP MRS (HE
emissions associated with the use of products from an organization) and Category 6 (indirect GHG FRABERBBEMNEZEGHGHR) REERI6
emissions from other GHG sources) in this Report. Therefore, both categories are shown as Not (E b GHGIR BRI 5 GHGHER) R AR 248
Applicable (N/A). We are working to improve our data collection system to provide complete BEE - Bt - mBEERNARAI TEA]
GHG emissions data in the future. (N/A) « BFIEES NRESRBE A - AR

ARSI T E R GHGEE R -

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R
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In 2024, the Company considered the changes in the management and control standards
for climate change, identified the risks related to climate change, and formulated
corresponding management and control measures. At the same time, a goal of reducing
carbon emissions has been set, with 2023 as the base year and greenhouse gas emissions
density reduced by 1% in 2024. Considering that the Company's greenhouse gas emissions
mainly involve electricity and related energy, as well as the use of dry ice in processes, the

Company has taken the following actions:

adopt measures such as Operation Thunder (ie,, formulating electricity inspection
standards, enhancing the frequency of daily inspections and focusing on checking
the electricity usage in production workshops, office areas and other locations to
ensure that no electricity waste occurs, while strengthening employees’ awareness
of electricity conservation, and conducting inspections to encourage employees to
save electricity and make prompt improvements when problems are identified) to

save energy and reduce emissions;

2. in daily production, reduce energy consumption of each production equipment by
continuously strengthening the daily maintenance of production equipment and
carrying out optimization through technological measures, reduce electricity usage
and consumption of dry ice by continuously optimizing various processes and

technologies;

3. carry out publicity to raise employees’ awareness of energy saving and consumption
reduction by helping employees develop the habit of saving electricity in daily work,
such as tuming off the lights when leaving, thereby reducing electricity usage and

related energy consumption;

4. optimize and control business trips and transportation management, reduce vehicle
usage, strengthen supply chain management, conserve various types of energy

consumption, and improve work efficiency.
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Note |:Total working hours in 2024 were 1,851,960.6522 hours. Due to the decrease in orders in 2024,

the total working hours decreased as compared with 2023.

Note 2:The calculation of the above greenhouse gas emissions is based on the"Notice on the Management
of Enterprise Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reporting by Power Generation Industry for 2023-2025"
(Huanban Qihou letter [2023] No. 43) issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
People’s Republic of China.

Note 3:The total greenhouse gas emissions and emission density both increased as compared with 2023.
This was primarily due to the introduction of dry ice cleaning processes during production as
required by customer specifications, and the extended operating hours of boilers in the Xi'an plant

area to ensure heating quality, which resulted in increased natural gas consumption.
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USE OF RESOURCES: ENERGY, WATER AND OTHER RAW MATERIALS

The main raw materials consumed in the Company's production are aluminum, copper,
steel, plastic, PCB boards and others. At the product level, we focus on the efficient use of
resources. In the product development stage, we conduct rigorous design and assessment
to assure product features and performance while using a variety of materials in the most
frugal manner by the use of environmentally friendly and recyclable or reusable materials.
This not only ensures that costs can be controlled, but also reduces the consumption of
resources. We promote clean production and strengthen equipment maintenance while

improving energy efficiency.

In our daily office operations, we advocate the concept of energy-saving. Through regular
self-examinations, inspection and reporting, we enhance the awareness and capability of
our staff in energy-saving and reducing emissions. Meanwhile, we advocate a paperless
office to reduce the use of paper, and recycle and reuse waste paper, such as printed and

copied paper.

The Company attaches great importance to electricity saving, and promotes environmental
protection and energy conservation through the implementation of relevant policies
and measures to achieve energy conservation and consumption reduction. For example,
we make full use of natural light when the weather is bright. We always choose energy
saving products when purchasing lamps and electrical appliances. We switch off idle
lights, computers and electrical appliances. In summer, our air conditioning is generally
set at room temperature of above 26 degrees. We conduct timely maintenance of air
conditioners to ensure their good operation. In addition, the Company encourages the
use of telephone and video conferencing systems to reduce business travel. We also post
some energy-saving tips on our intranet to remind employees to practice energy-saving

ideas.

In terms of water saving, water in the Company comes from the city water supply system.
[t is mainly used as domestic water in our offices. Our production process does not
involve industrial water and therefore does not have a serious adverse impact on rivers,
lakes and underground water. We develop and refine water-saving management system
and use water saving faucets and others, to ensure that the concept of water-saving is

implemented in practice.
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Achieving the efficient use of resources not only requires a sound management system
and implementation of relevant policies, but also the cooperation and support from staff.
The Company strives to create a corporate culture that treasures resources, enhances
employee awareness of environmental issues, and encourages employees to actively

participate in and fulfill our environmental commitments.

The major energy and resources consumed by the Company in daily life are electricity,
water, paper, natural gas, gasoline and diesel. The following table shows the use of energy
resources for 2024 and 2023:

Rz #HERERES

ARERER TMEFTBETENEEHNE -
HMERRNEZEEARREINEA MY
B ARRBNEEDRERNEEE -

REEINRRES
EEIRIRAG °

DB B THEB2EM

RAARBEERNTIERRENERAEN
KR - RARRM A ML - T%W/T\
2024 FEANOBFEMERERFERER

2024 2023
2024 2023
Energy and resource consumption Total Consumption Consumption Density ~Total Consumption Consumption Density
BERMEFH# HERE HRERE HERE HRERE
Electricity (KwWh) 7978,890.10  4.308/working hour 9,398,348.64  4.137/working hour
B (TEE) 4308/ TH 4137/ 1K
Water (Tons) 21558625 0.1 l6/working hour 211,584.00  0.093/working hour
7k (Wg) 0.116/ Tk 0093/ IH
Paper (Sheets) 116922300  0.631/working hour 2,103944.00  0.926/working hour
(%) 0631,/ Th 0926,/ TR
Natural gas (m?°) 84,582.03  0.046/working hour 80,889.04  0.036/working hour
RAR (SLTTK) 0.046, T B 0036,/ LB
Motor gasoline (Litres) 3053337 0.016/working hour 3336389  0.015/working hour
BT (71 0016,/ TH 0015,/ Tk
Motor and power generator diesel (Litres) 1955886  0.01/working hour 2476642 0.01 I /working hour
BERREERBLH (F) 0011,/ IH 0011,/ T

Note: For a more scientific and accurate management, the original “Canteen liquefied gas” in 2023 has
been revised to "Natural gas”, and the data of natural gas in 2023 has been refreshed. Natural gas

includes original canteen natural gas and boiler natural gas.
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Total Consumption of Energy and Resources
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Among which:

The total electricity consumption for 2024 has decreased compared to 2023,
mainly due to the continuous daily implementation of the Operation Thunder, as
well as a reduction in orders and numbers of employees, leading to a decrease
in overall power usage. However, due to factors such as the relocation of certain
factories and basic maintenance and repair of buildings in the Shenzhen plant
area, and the addition of new testing fields in the Xi'an plant area, it was not able
to record the relevant working hours in the total recorded working hours. This
resulted in a simultaneous decrease in total warehouse labor hours, causing the
consumption density to increase compared to 2023. For the purpose of saving
resources and protecting the environment, continuously taking 2021 as the base
year, the Company sets annual targets to manage and control the electricity
consumption density, which is estimated to be reduced by 3.94% in 2025 and 8.65%
in 2030. In order to achieve the expected objectives, the Company has taken the

following measures:

set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into

daily management activities;

2. strengthen equipment transformation and improve efficiency;

3. renovate lighting energy-saving, control and improve electricity quality, and

improve electricity utilization rate;

4. formulate electricity usage inspection standards, strengthen daily inspections,

and identify problems and rectify them in a timely manner;

5. promote and train all employees on energy saving to strengthen the

awareness of electricity saving.
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2. The total water consumption and the consumption density in 2024 has increased

compared to 2023. It was mainly due to the relocation of certain factories and the
basic repair and maintenance of buildings in the Shenzhen plant area, as well as
the aging of some water pipes in Ji'an plant area which occasionally caused water
leakage, resulting in an increase in total water consumption and consumption
density. Taking 2021 as the base year, the Company sets annual targets for water
consumption density, which is estimated to be reduced by 3.94% in 2025 and 8.65%
in 2030. In order to achieve the expected objectives, the Company has taken the

following measures:

adopt measures such as Operation Thunder (i.e., formulating water
inspection standards, enhancing the frequency of daily inspections and
focusing on the inspection of faucets and water valves, water pipes, sewers,
direct drinking water, canteen dishwashers, operating pools, green spraying,
etc. to ensure that there is no abnormality or water leakage, while posting
water conservation signs to strengthen employees’ awareness of water
conservation and conducting inspections to encourage employees to save
water and make prompt improvements when problems are identified) to

save energy and reduce emissions;

2. set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into

daily management activities;

3. strengthen the daily maintenance and management of water facilities to
reduce or even eliminate the occurrence of water leakage and other

abnormalities;

4. formulate water usage inspection standards, strengthen daily inspections, and

identify problems and rectify them in a timely manner;

5. post water conservation signs, engage and train all employees on energy

saving, and strengthen employees’ awareness of water conservation.
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The paper total consumption and the consumption density in 2024 has decreased
compared to 2023. It was mainly because the production and the number of
employees decreased, and the Company continued to promote online approval of
documents, strengthened the approval of paper applications, strictly controlled the
amount of paper applications, advocated for recycling of used paper and enhanced
the employees” awareness of saving paper in 2024, which led to a decrease in

paper consumption and consumption density.

The total natural gas consumption in 2024 has increased compared to 2023. It was
mainly because Xi'an plant area extended the heating time of boilers to ensure the

heating quality, which led to an increase in natural gas consumption.

The total motor gasoline consumption in 2024 has decreased compared to 2023,
but the consumption density has increased compared to 2023. It was mainly
due to continuous control and optimization of motor usage frequency and the
enhancement of fuel-saving initiatives in the fleet, which led to a slight decline in
the total amount of motor gasoline consumption. However, as the reduction in the
total recorded working hours was relatively small, the consumption density slightly

increased.

The total diesel consumption and the consumption density in 2024 has decreased
compared to 2023. It was mainly due to the continuous control and optimization of
the motor batches and the enhancement of fuel-saving initiatives in the fleet, which

led to a decrease in total amount of diesel and consumption density.
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Shipment
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Based on the nature of the Company's main business, our business activities will not have
a significant impact on the environment and natural resources. However, the Company
will continue to enhance environmental protection efforts to reduce any adverse effects

on the environment brought about by our business operations.

According to the environmental laws, regulations and relevant policies of the PRC,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environment Protection Tax Law of People’s Republic of China, Law of the People's
Republic of China on Water Pollution Prevention and Control, Law of the People's
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Noise Pollution, Law of the
People's Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Wastes, and the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China.
When carrying out project construction, the Company will assess the potential pollution
arising during the construction and production process, the feasibility of governance
measures, whether production processes and products are in line with clean production
requirements, and the impact of the actual discharge of pollutants on surrounding
environment. An Environmental Impact Assessment Report (“EIA Report”) will be
submitted to the environmental protection department in accordance with the laws and

regulations.
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With regard to major climate changes which may occur and affect the Company, such
as typhoons, rainstorms and earthquakes, the Company has formulated the Emergency
Preparation and Response Control Procedure, and routinely prepares an annual
emergency response plan according to the requirements of the document. In case of any
major climate change, the Company will carry out emergency treatment according to the

steps of the emergency response plan.

CONFLICT MINERALS

Since the late 1990s, most of the minerals mining in the Democratic Republic of the
Congo and its neighboring countries and territories has contributed to local armed
conflicts, leading to long-term instability in the region and creating serious human rights
and environmental problems. In 2012, the US Securities and Exchange Commission has
required all securities issuers whose production processes involve the use of four types of
minerals, namely tantalum, tin, tungsten and gold, to disclose their mineral sources. These
four types of conflict minerals are widely used in the information and communications
technology product manufacturing industry. The Company takes the initiative to refrain
from using minerals from conflict-affected or high-risk areas and conducts surveys on
conflict minerals every year in cooperation with clients, while suppliers are required to
conduct traceability management and investigations along the entire supply chain, layer
by layer, until the source refinery information is confirmed. The total number of suppliers
relevant to the Company in 2024 was 392, all of whom have signed conflict minerals
agreements, committing not to procure and use metal minerals from conflict-affected or

high-risk areas.

Quantity Distribution of Suppliers
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ESTABLISHMENT OF A TEAM OF EXCELLENCE

The Company is committed to creating a good working environment for its employees.
We attach great importance to the value of talents, and select and make good use of
talents in a variety of ways. We mainly recruit through on-campus and general recruitment.
Our recruitment procedure is open, fair and reasonable. The Company has established
a series of procedures and systems for standardized human resource recruitment and
training, which have been strictly implemented. The human resource and corporate
cultural management center of the Company undertakes education and training functions
at all levels of the Company, providing valuable seminars to support and strengthen
the knowledge and skills of employees for the benefit of their career development and
promotion. The Company provides competitive remuneration packages, and sets working
hours complying with relevant national policies and regulations. We also provide various
types of paid leave, as required by the government, and do not allow any inequality or

discrimination in respect of job opportunities and other aspects.

STAFF EMPLOYMENT
l. Employment Charts :
(1) Region Distribution Chart :

Region Distribution (Person)

W Shenzhen Xi'an Jian

380
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(2)  Age Distribution Chart :

Age Distribution of Employees
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(3)  Education Background Distribution Chart :

Education Background Distribution
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n
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(4)  Employment Type Distribution Chart :

Employment Type Distribution
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(5)  Gender Distribution Chart :
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Employee Turnover Rate (by Gender)
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Note: The Company further strengthened the promotion of its corporate culture, increased employee g E—AREARGEXEEE  ENETER
benefits and job allowances, improved employee satisfaction, and continued to do a good job in FBRRECRY  RABIREE  FEMT
maintaining labor stability, thereby reducing the employee tumover rate. AIHETE  EmEEABRKE -
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Company established an occupational health and safety management system which
was recognized by the I1SO45001. The day-to-day operation of the Company follows
national laws and regulations, including the Production Safety Law of the People's Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Law of the People's Republic of China on Prevention and
Treatment of Infectious Diseases, the Fire Control Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances, the Regulations on Safety Supervision
of Special Equipment, the Regulation on Work Safety Permits, the Measures for the
Administration of Registration of Hazardous Chemicals, the Social Insurance Law of the
People's Republic of China and the Measures for the Administration of Occupational
Health Examination, and its health and safety policy and regulations to ensure a safe and
healthy working environment and to protect the physical and mental health and safety of
our employees. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any report on

the violation of laws and regulations related to health and safety in workplaces.

Staff health examinations: The Company provides staff health examinations on an
annual basis. Funded by the Company, all staff are entitled to physical health checks
conducted by medical institutions that will come to the Company, with medical

reports as well as health advices provided.

2. Occupational disease inspections: The Company conducts occupational disease
inspections on annual basis for employees identified with potential exposure to
minimize the risks. In 2024, a total of 284 employees have been arranged for

occupational disease inspections.
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(Note:

4.

wE

Work injury data: In the past three years, there were no cases of death arising out
of work-related injuries in the Company. In the meantime, the Company recorded
a total reportable accident rate per a million working hours of 0.79 and a lost-time
rate per a million working hours of 329.13 in 2024. Both showed an increase
as compared with 2023, where the total reportable accident rate per a million
working hours was 043 and lost-time rate per a million working hours was 22.23.
It was mainly because two traffic accidents occurred on the way to and from work
and one fall accident at the entrance of the canteen in our Jian plant area. In the
future, the Company needs to further strengthen traffic safety protection measures
for employees, enhance intemal safety production and traffic safety promotion and
training, continuously improve the Company's hazard source zoning management

and control, and reinforce team assessment.

Total reportable accident rate per a million working hours = total number of reportable accidents
(including work-related injuries and accidents) *106/total working hours, and lost-time rate per a
million working hours = lost working hours (including work-related injuries and accidents) *106/
total working hours)

Total reportable accident rate per a million working hours

08 0.79

0.43

04
02
0

2023 2024

Lost-time rate per a million working hours

329.13

2223

2023 2024

Health and safety manual: The health and safety manual is available to every
employee at any time on the WeChat platform of the Company so that they could
learn about the Company's health and safety concepts, strategies, measures, and
safety guidelines, and know about what is right or wrong with pictures and texts, so

as to prevent risks and reduce health and safety hazards.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Company's human resource and corporate cultural management center has a
wealth of courses, including courses on corporate culture and rules and regulations,
new employee induction training courses, staff basic skills training, on-the-job knowledge
training, management skills and leadership, and other aspects. The course lecturers include
the Company's in-house instructors and external lecturers from external schools and
information training institutions. In 2024, the Company provided 28,575 hours of training,
with 86.92% of the employees participating in the training, representing 20.09 hours of
training per person. 75% of employees at middle and senior levels were trained, and
91.98% of general staff were trained. Female and male trainees accounted for 87.17% and
86.75% respectively. Due to the continuous optimization of the Company's organization
and the decrease in number of new employees, the overall training plan has been adjusted
and reduced, resulting in a decrease in total training hours and average training hours per
person. (Note: For a more accurate and scientific calculation of the average training
hours per person, the calculation adopted in 2024 is “the average training hours per
person = total training hours/corresponding total number of employees”. Based on the
same calculation method, the average training hours per person in 2023 has also been

refreshed.)
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Training Hours (by Gender)

20,000.00
18,000.00
16,000.00

17.902.00

10,673.00

10,000.00
8,000.00
6,000.00

Male Female

Average Training Hour Per Person
(by Employee Category)

25.00

21.02

2000

15.00

10.00

5.00

Mid and senior level employees General Staff

Average Training Hour Per Person (by Gender)

2500

2099

1876

2000
15.00

10.00

500

Male Female

Training Hours (by Training Type)

12,000.00
10,000.00
8,000.00
592600
6,000.00
4,276.50
4,000.00
1,890
2,000.00 87000
0.00 T T T
New Health and Industry Corporate
employee safety knowledge cutture
induction training and professional  and management
skills quality

The Company has also cooperated with a number of tertiary institutions. Through the
provision of pre-courses to send students to the Company as interns, we hope to alleviate
the disconnection between school learning and the actual needs of enterprises, jointly

cultivating practical talents.

The Company has established three career development and promotion paths for
employees in operations, technology and management. Through a well-functioning
mechanism, employees are encouraged to exert their talents, expand their horizons and
maintain their vitality, ensuring that the development of our employees synchronizes with

the development of the Company.
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(1) 2024 Anti-corruption and Business Ethics Code of Conduct Legal Training: () 2014FERBEHEFLEBRTHENL
&gl

(2)  Civil Code Practical Training: 2 BEEREERE

(3)  Procurement Platform Operation Training: (3) EHEBYABRMEEZI

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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(4 Conflict Minerals Management Training: (4 FREESEEI:

(5)  Environmental Factors | Hazard Source Identification and Management and ~ (5) IRIRER|BERIRHERI R EZEI

Control Training:

(6)  Production Safety Training: (6) RREEFI:
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(7)  Fire Drill:

Rz #HERERES

(7) HFEE

LABOR STANDARDS

The Company strictly abides by national laws and regulations, including the Labor Law
of the PRC, the Labor Contract Law of the People's Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment Promotion Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People's Republic of China on the Protection
of Women's Rights and Interests, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors, the Implementation Regulation of the Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Special Rules on Labor Protection of Female Employees
of the People’s Republic of China, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor,
the Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees and the Provisions on Minimum
Wages. We do not employ child labor or use any forced labor in any of our businesses.
In the recruitment of employees, we will verify the age of candidates through an identity
card verification system to prevent non-compliance. During the reporting year, there
was no violation of the Labor Law in any form. For details, please see “General Rules on

Corporate Social Responsibility of MOBI" above.

In order to prohibit the use of child labor, the Company conducts age verification with 1D
cards, household registers, education certificates and knowledge mastery of the employees
at the time of employment. The Company undertakes not to use any form of forced labor
or involuntary labor, and that it shall not require employees to pay a “deposit” or deposit
their ID cards at the time of employment. Each employee is provided with statutory
social security such as five insurances and one fund (pension, medical, unemployment,
employment injury, matemity, housing provident fund) in accordance with national policies.
In addition, the Company will also maintain corresponding commercial insurance for
employees as required. If any violations are found, the Company has established channels
for employees to report immediately, and management will take immediate follow-up

actions.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not materially violate employment-related
regulations or labor standards. The Group’s human resource policies and operations

complied with local labor-related laws and regulations.

All suppliers/contractors who provided services to the Company shall comply with the
Working Procedures of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Management of Suppliers,
Contractors and Outsourcers, and shall not use child labor or force employees to
work, and shall comply with the requirements of labor law, labor ethics, environment,

occupational health and safety and other laws and regulations of local governments.

The Company strictly follows national laws and regulations and provides various kinds of
paid time off to ensure that every employee has reasonable working hours and holidays,
including statutory holidays, marriage leave, maternity leave, paid annual leave and paid sick

leave, so as to encourage employees to strike a balance between work and life.

STAFF ACTIVITIES: CULTURAL CAMPAIGNS AND RECREATIONAL
SPORTS

We pay great attention to humanistic care and team building. For many vyears, we have
been exploring new cultural and sports mechanisms for staff, striving to assist employees
in achieving a work-life balance, improving the working and living conditions of staff and

enhancing their happiness and sense of belonging.

(1) 2024 Lantern Festival Activities:
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(2) 2024 Dragon Boat Festival Activities: () 2024FiRFEES :

(3) 2024 Mid-autumn Festival Activities: () 204FHRENED :

(4) 2024 Mobi Sports Day:

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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(5) 2024 Learning from Toyota Activities: (5) 2024FREEERES :

(6)  “Tightening Our Belts Together” Management Salon Activities: (6) [—EBARBAT]EEDETH

(7)  Traditional Chinese Medicine Consultation Activities: (7 HEEDED:
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RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN AND PRODUCT LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Company is committed to promoting the integrity of business practices and positive
social responsibility, advocating for suppliers’ code of conduct, and stipulating requirements
on corporate social responsibility of suppliers in relation to integrity, law-abiding, respect
for human rights, employment of labor, health and safety, environmental protection and
business ethics. We require each supplier to follow such code and the relevant laws and

regulations of their place of operation, especially key suppliers with long-term cooperation.

Meanwhile, in respect of supply chain risk, the Company identifies and controls supply
chain risks every year, including but not limited to customer communication risks, business

risks, transportation risks and other risks.

The Company evaluates new suppliers and conducts an annual inspection of qualified
suppliers according to the Working Procedures of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
Management of Suppliers, Contractors and Outsourcers and the Management Procedures
of Acquisition of Suppliers, etc., to confirm whether the suppliers comply with the laws
and regulations and the requirements of the Company in terms of labor ethics, corporate

social responsibility, environment, occupational health and safety, etc.

In 2024, we signed corporate social responsibility agreements with 392 suppliers with a

view to exerting influence on their environmental, social and governance requirements.

The types of agreements and undertakings signed are as follows:

"Supplier's Green Product (GP) Declaration”

“Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement”

“Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement — Supplemental Agreement”

“Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Agreement with Suppliers, Contractors, and
Outsourcers of MOBI"
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PRODUCT LIABILITY

The Company emphasizes the management of product liability. During the product
research and development stage, we carry out stringent implementation of product
management, not only to identify the requirements of product features and performance,
but also to identify product requirements in terms of environment, safety, reliability and
other aspects. We adhere to the industry and intemational standards to meet customer
and legal requirements in all respects. During the production and delivery stage, in
accordance with the processes and standards developed by the Company, we carry out
product checks and tests at all stages from stocking, manufacturing to product delivery
to ensure the safety of products delivered. In 2024, the Company did not receive any
product returns due to product health and safety problems, and the customer satisfaction
reached 92.5%.

In 2024, the Company received || complaints from customers. In responding to
customer complaints, the quality assurance department of the quality center received
the customer complaint information, and confirmed the complaint information with the
sales department; the quality assurance department was responsible for passing on the
customer complaint information to the corresponding departments and following up until

the case was closed.

The Company has implemented an intellectual property policy for many years. We have
documented procedures and systems to regulate the management and operation of the
Company's intellectual property rights. As of the end of 2024, the Company has applied
for 1,234 patents, an increase of 96 new patents as compared to the end of 2023. 904
patents have been granted, an increase of 68 new patents as compared to the end of
2023. No patent infringement incidents occurred in 2024. The Company has formulated
internal controls to protect customer information. There are clear guidelines for the
collection, storage, use and destruction of customer information. We have also adopted
a variety of measures to prevent leakage, including providing training on the customer
information confidentiality and conducting regular checks for each safety and security
measure. The Company has also established a product recall system, and there were no
product recalls caused by product quality and safety incidents in 2024. In accordance with
customer requirements, the Company will sign business framework agreements on mutual
cooperation with its customers to ensure that confidential information of both sides will
not be disclosed. In 2024, the Company did not have any complaints and litigation caused
by leakage of customer information and confidential data. The Company has established
a corresponding customer complaint and handling procedure to regulate the follow-up
of customer complaints and product returns or exchanges. In addition, the Company will
maintain product liability insurance for customers' products in response to their individual

requirements.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company did not experience any material breach or

failure to comply with relevant product liability laws and regulations.

Number of Patents
W 2023 W 2024
1,400

1,234

1200 1,138

1,000
800
600
400
200

Number of patent
applications patents

Number of granted

COMPLIANCE IN OPERATION

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

[t is the basic principle of the Company to carry out operational compliance by abiding by
business ethics and observing the laws and regulations of China and other countries where
the Group operates. The Company advocates ethical operations and legal compliance
in operations. We practice “zero tolerance” of any violation of laws and regulations, and
any breaches of business ethics. We carry out compliance in operations in a proactive,
effective and scientific manner, and are willing to work with global customers, suppliers

and other business partners to achieve sustainable development.

The business of the Company is mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in Mainland China,
and the Company itself is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The operations of the
Company strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations of Mainland China and Hong
Kong. During the Reporting Period, there was no serious breach or non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations (including prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering).
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company actively takes measures against extortion and bribery or any form of
corruption. It has a zero-tolerance policy for corruption, and strictly abides by relevant
local laws and regulations, including the Law of the People’s Republic of China Against
Unfair Competition and Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Company
encourages all employees to report any case of corruption and has established a
formalized management system as well as developed a formalized process for the daily
business operations to prevent the occurrence of corruption. The Company has set up
an independent audit department to strengthen the regular review of the operations of
various centers and departments of the Company in order to detect any non-compliance
with the code of ethics. The Group has effective reporting procedures to ensure that any
suspicious, improper or illegal behavior can be reported. The reporters may report all
details and evidence of any suspected misconduct to the department head or the Board
of the Group orally or in writing. If the reporter believes that the misconduct is related to
the Board, the reporter may directly report such misconduct to the audit committee. In
order to protect the interests of the Group and the safety of reporters, all investigations
will be conducted in a timely and confidential manner. If any suspicious criminal acts
are found, the Group will report such matter to the local functional departments if the
management deems it necessary, and will ensure that the identity of the reporters and the
contents of the reported cases are kept confidential. During the reporting vear, the Group
did not materially violate the code of conduct and anti-corruption and competition laws.
Sound corporate governance is the foundation of our anti-corruption work. For more
information on the corporate governance structure and practices of the Group, please
refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance” in the annual report 2023/24. In
addition, the Company engages independent auditors to conduct accounting and auditing
of the financial management system on an annual basis to prevent financial and internal
control risks. During the Reporting Period, the Company was not involved in any litigation
in relation to corruption or bribery. In 2024, the Company trained employees of the
marketing department in anti-corruption and the code of conduct of marketing personnel,
which mainly included the training in current laws and regulations and the code of conduct

to which marketing personnel were subject.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

As a company that values sustainable development, the Company has been committed
to contributing to the interests of the community, and has spared no effort in
creating more value for the community, with a view to fulfilling corporate citizenship
responsibilities. MOBI pays attention to the interests of the community and gives back to
the community, by active participation in activities including but not limited to children’s
education in poverty-stricken areas, social and environmental protection, labor demand
of vulnerable groups, cultural construction of the community, sports activities, etc. In the
donation project in community engagement activities in the year, the Company donated
RMB200,000 to the Red Cross charitable initiatives in Jizhou District, Ji'an City, Jiangxi
Province, and donated RMB350,000 to the public welfare undertakings in Luopu County,
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region. The Company will more actively organize relevant
charity and donation activities for employees, and encourage employees to create value

for the community, thus further enhancing our corporate image.

CHARITY ACTIVITIES
During the Reporting Period, the Company has actively participated in various charity

activities, learning activities organized by Community Party Branch and other activities.

In 2024, MOBI Ji’an participated in the theme activities of “Following the
Footsteps of the Revolution and Upholding our Original Aspirations and Mission”
and “The Red Party Flag Flying High in Jinggang, Striving to be the Vanguard of

Jian™:
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2. In2024, MOBI Ji'an participated in the ceremony of presenting flower baskets to 2. 04FELERSMENERBERD
the heroes by cadres and the masses in Jizhou District. RIEBMIEERES -

3. In 2024, the Company donated RMB200,000 to the Red Cross charitable 3. 204FAREIBEEERMEMBAT

initiatives in Jizhou District, Ji'an City, Jiangxi Province. FELNREERE0ET -

L5%) s (% ) 200, 000, 00
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In 2024, the Company donated RMB350,000 to the public welfare undertakings 4 UFQFNHBEERERERHS
in Luopu County, Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region. NRMEERENET -
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EENEREER

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Hu Xiang, aged 71, is an executive Director, the chairman of the board of Directors
and the chief executive officer of our Company. He is the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. He is also a director, the chief executive officer and legal
representative of MOBI Shenzhen and MOBI Xian and a director of MOBI Jian and MOBI
HK. Mr. Hu was appointed a Director on 19 December 2002. Mr. Hu was an engineer.
Mr. Hu graduated from the Xian University of Finance and Economics majoring in radio
communication in March 1982. During the period from 1972 to March 1982, Mr. Hu
worked in the hydraulic transmission laboratory of the Northwestern Polytechnical
University. Mr. Hu then served as chief of the planning and supply department at Shenzhen
Zhongxingxin Tongxun Shebei Co., Ltd. for the period from 1992 to 1999. Mr. Hu joined
our Group in August 1999. Mr. Hu was a director of Shenzhen Kang Cheng Jixie Shebei
Co,, Ltd. from June 2002 to June 2007 and the general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing
Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. from March 2000 to September 2007. He is a shareholder
of Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Zhou Lingbo, aged 44, Ms. Zhou was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
with effect from 21 June 2023. She is the executive vice-president of the Company,
responsible for overseeing the Group's daily operations and managing the operations
system, manufacturing system, quality system, market system, strategic development and
empowerment division and testing center. Ms. Zhou graduated from the department
of law of Nanjing University in 2004 with a LLB degree. She joined the Group in 2004

and successively held the posts of director of the infrastructure office and director of the

president’s office.

Ye Rong, aged 45, Mr. Ye was appointed as an executive Director of the Company with
effect from 21 June 2023. He is the vice-president of the Company responsible for leading
the business of the research and development of RF products. Mr. Ye graduated from
Xidian University in 2005 with a master of science degree in electromagnetic field and
microwave technology. He joined the Group in 2005 and successively held the posts of
electrical engineer, research and development project manager, division head and the
general manager of the radio-frequency product business division.
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Non-executive Director

Qu Degian, aged 62, is a non-executive Director, and a director of MOBI Shenzhen,
MOBI Jian and MOBI Xian. He is a member of the nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Qu was appointed a Director on 19
December 2002. Mr. Qu graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (now
School of Economics and Finance of Xian Jiaotong University) in June 1992 and he further
obtained the qualification as an accountant in the PRC in October 1994. From June 1993
to April 2003, Mr. Qu was the chief of ZTE Corporation's accounting and auditing centre
and the deputy chief of its financial centre. In April 2003, Mr. Qu was appointed as the
deputy general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. and since
September 2007, has been the general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong
Shebei Co,, Ltd.. Mr. Qu joined our Group in December 2002. He is a shareholder of
Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Tianshu, aged 71, is an independent non-executive Director. He is the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Li was appointed a Director on | July 2007. Mr. Li
graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University in 1976 majoring in computational Mathematics.
From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Li studied business economics at Universitat Mannheim in
Germany and pursued a doctoral degree at Universitat Mannheim in 1988. From 1988
to 1995, Mr. Li worked as a research assistant in the business economics department
of Universitat Mannheim. During the period from March 1995 to September 1995,
Mr. Li worked in Germany for Friatec Aktiengesellschaft, an international manufacturing
enterprise, and was designated to become the future managing director for China. From
1995 to 1998, Mr. Li first worked for KSB Aktiengesellschaft, an international machinery
manufacturing enterprise, as the assistant to the chairman of the management board of
KSB and then became the chief representative of its Beijing Representative Office. During
the period from 1998 to 2002, Mr. Li took the position of regional director of Messer, an
international chemical manufacturing enterprise, responsible for its business development
in Northern China as well as the operation, sales and profits of its joint ventures and
wholly owned companies in the Northern China region. During that period, Mr. Li also

served as the general manager of Messer North China Industrial Gas Co., Ltd. and the
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chairman to the board of Tianjin Messer Gas System Co,, Ltd. Since 2002, Mr. Li has been
the general manager of Beijing Delintech Technology Co., Ltd., a technical promotion
service provider and sales service provider. Since 27 March 2011, Mr. Li has been the
general manager of Beijing Zhong Biao Fang Yuan Anti-counterfeiting Technology Co.
Ltd. Mr. Li has valuable experience in intemnational corporate management and enterprise

resources planning (ERP). Mr. Li joined our Group in July 2007.

Zhang Han, aged 61, is an independent non-executive Director appointed on 25
November 2009 and the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. He is also
a member of the nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang is currently an independent director of Perfect World Co,, Ltd. (stock code:
PWRD), a Nasdaq listed company, where Mr. Zhang has also served as a member of
its audit committee since July 2008. The responsibilities of such role include overseeing
the accounting and financial reporting processes as well as external and internal audit
of the Company. Mr. Zhang received his bachelor's degree in chemistry from the
Peking University in 1985. He later obtained an EMBA degree from the China Europe
International Business School in 2004. From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Zhang worked at Beijing
Fiber Reinforced Plastic Research & Design Institute. Mr. Zhang was the Manager in the
securities department of Shenzhen Shekou China Merchants Co., Ltd. from 1989 to
[994. Mr. Zhang was the deputy manager at the finance department of China National
Technical Import & Export Corporation, and also the general manager of Shanghai CNTIC
Investment Advisory Co,, Ltd. from 1994 to 1998. From 1999 to 2000, Mr. Zhang served
as assistant to the general manager, investment director and fund manager at Penghua
Fund Management Co,, Ltd. a fund management company in China. Mr. Zhang served as
the deputy general manager of Rongtong Fund Management Co,, Ltd, a fund management
company in China, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Zhang also served as the general manager
of Great Wall Fund Management Co,, Ltd, a fund management company in China, from
2004 to 2005. Mr. Zhang is currently a partner of Share Capital Partners Ltd, a Chinese
venture capital firm. Mr. Zhang has built up his experience in conducting due diligence
work in respect of the financial performance, management and corporate government
quality of various companies and conducting financial analysis of listed companies
throughout his various tenures in the investment industry. Mr. Zhang joined our Group on
25 November 2009.
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Ge Xiaojing, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 3 August, 2018. She is a member of the audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company. She is also a
partner of SAIF Partners. Ms. Ge joined SAIF Partners as vice-president in 2009 and
became a partner in 2018. At SAIF Partners, Ms. Ge has been responsible for investments
in high-end smart manufacturing, big data, energy, education, new media and other areas,
and has also led the investments in certain successful enterprises, including Orbbec (8
EeA ), QKM (ZEEAE){E), UniFortune Supply Chain (B & FI & fEHE), SuperC
Technology CBAIEHE) and Annoroad Technology (ZZFB B ) . In addition, Ms. Ge s
currently a director of QKM (ZEfBEE){t) and SuperC Technology (B#IEHR) . From
2005 to 2009, Ms. Ge was the deputy general manager and financial controller of Mobi
Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (BEEL RERET ORI BRAF]). Ms
Ge has nearly 30 years of working experience in, among other things, corporate finance
and operation, intermnational business development, project management and information
technology. Ms. Ge graduated from The George Washington University in 1994 with a
master degree. She obtained her master and bachelor degrees from Tsinghua University in

1986 and 1983, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Kong Weitong, aged 61, is the executive vice-president of the Company, which
responsible for the overall business of the antenna research and development system.
Mr. Kong resigned on 28 May 2024. Mr. Kong obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics
from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (now School of Economics and Finance
of Xian Jiaotong University) in August 1998. Mr. Kong worked at the China Aerospace
Corporation from 1982 to 2002 in the areas of accounting and audit, where he was
appointed as an accountant in 1992 and as a senior accountant in 1999. Mr. Kong became
a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2006.
Mr. Kong joined the Group in May 2002.

Wu Qian, aged 36, was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company with effect
from 13 July, 2018. Ms. Wu joined the Group in 2015 and successively held variously
positions, such as manager of investment and financing, manager of investor relationship,
head of securities and investment department, etc. From 2013 to 2015, she joined a joint
venture of the Shell Oil as a management trainee, responsible for matters relating to
supply chain. Ms. Wu obtained a bachelor's degree in management from School of Public
Affairs and another certificate in second major of finance from School of Economics,
Zhejiang University in July 201 1. She subsequently obtained her master's degree in science

from University College London in November 2012.

Hou Xiaoqiang, aged 43, is the vice-president of the Company responsible for leading the
antenna research and development department. Mr. Hou graduated from Northwestern
Polytechnical University in 2003 with a bachelor's degree in electronic information
engineering, He joined the Group in 2003 and successively held the posts of research and
development electrical engineer, project manager, head of research and development
department, deputy general manager of the antenna business division and president of

Xi'an Research Institute.

Guan Chao, aged 38, is the vice-president of the Company responsible for leading the
departments including procurement system and personnel administration system. Mr.
Guan graduated from Xidian University in 2009 with a bachelor's degree. He graduated
from Xi'an Jiaotong University in 2021 with a master's degree. He joined the Group
in 2009 and has served successively as the chief of construction approval, manager of
infrastructure construction, head of human resources and administration in Xi'an, Director
of Xi'an Platform Management Center, director of human resources and administration,

director of manufacturing and director of procurement.
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Lau Wing, aged 52, is our deputy financial officer, authorized representative and company
secretary. He is also the deputy financial officer of financial centre of MOBI Shenzhen.
He is responsible for our company secretarial, financial and accounting management and
internal audit affairs. Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor's degree in accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 1996, and later obtained a master’s degree in business
administration (financial service) in 2005. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in finance,
accounting, auditing and company secretarial matters. Mr. Lau had held senior financial

positions in several listed companies. Mr. Lau joined our Group in May 201 1.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION
The Company was incorporated with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 16
December 2002.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on |7 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries comprise the research, development, manufacture and sale of antenna system,
base station radio frequency subsystem and products of coverage extension solution.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during

the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 12 to 38 of this annual report. This

discussion forms part of this report of the directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2024 and the state of affairs of
the Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 132 to 232.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31
December, 2024.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION MBEERBE

The following is a 5 years summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group ~ TF&RELMAEEBE R AN BHEFHEE R
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the audited financial EERAE BEBRERMEEZTHR
statements. xKo

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3NALEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20235 20024 20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®TT ARETT ARETT AR®TT

RESULTS £
Revenue WA 515,148 640,849 687,000 661,389 884,541
Loss before taxation HAIEE (100,215) (52,806) (222,082) (308,038) (43,388)
Income tax (expense) credit ~ FT§F: (FisY) K% (20,313) (6,389) (7,679) (21,663) 13,575
Loss for the year FAEE (120,528) (59,195) (229.761) (329,701) (29.813)
Loss and the total /NI PPN A

comprehensive expense FEBBRZE

for the year attributable iz 4858

to owners of the Company (120,528) (59,195) (229,761) (329,701) (29.813)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Non-current assets FRBEE 308,419 353,706 383,295 472233 567,187
Current assets MENEE 738,459 894,024 926938 | 086,665 1,381,187
Current liabilities mEEE (662,475) (740,974) (740,652) (756,573) (747,208)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,035) (2,204) (4,587) (6,680) (75,117)
Net assets BEFE 383,368 504,552 564,994 795,645 1,126,049
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT M¥E - BMERRE

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year FR - AEENE - BERRENEHFE
are set out in note 14 to the financial statements. R RRMITE 4 o

1 1 2 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

On 13 January 2010, 18,443,000 over-allotment shares of USD0.00000! each of the
Company at price of HKD3.38 per share were issued pursuant to the underwriting
agreement of the IPO of the Company. Pursuant to a shareholder resolution passed on |
June 2010, a bonus issue of 72,446,099 shares of USD0.00000! each of the Company is
issued to the persons whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on | June 2010 on the basis of one share for every ten shares held

on | June 2010. These new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspects.

Details of movements in the Company's share capital and share options during the year

are set out in notes 27 and 28 to the financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme of the Company as set out on pages |16 to 118, no

equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to RMB450.9 million. This amount includes the Company's share premium account
of RMB400.6 million at 31 December 2024, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, revenue attributed to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 88.3% of the total revenue for the year and revenue

attributed to the largest customer accounted for approximately 46.0%.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers for the year is less than 34.3%.

The Directors’ Interests in a major customer and suppliers are set out in the paragraph
headed "Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts” on

page 120 of this report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Hu Xiang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhou Lingbo
Ye Rong

Non-executive Director
Qu Degian
Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Tianshu
Zhang Han
Ge Xiaojing

Under the provisions of the Articles, all of the Directors are subject to retirement by

rotation and re-election.

In accordance with Article 130 of the Articles, Mr. Qu Degian, a non-executive Director,
and Mr. Li Tianshu and Mr. Zhang Han, independent non-executive Directors, shall retire
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Board still considers each of the independent non-executive Directors to be

independent from the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the

Group are set out on pages 104 to 109 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
Mr. Hu Xiang, executive Director and Mr. Qu Degian, non-executive Director have
entered into a service contract with our Company commencing from |7 December 2024

for a term of three years, respectively.

Ms. Zhou Lingbo and Mr. Ye Rong, executive Directors have entered into a service

contract with our Company commencing from 21 June, 2023 for a term of three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Zhang Han and Ms. Ge Xiaojing
has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company for a term of three years
commencing from |7 December 2024 and 3 August 2024 respectively (except for Mr.
Li. Tianshu whose engagement with us commenced on | July 2007) and renewable by

mutual agreement on annual basis.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which
he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or

otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage

for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ emoluments are reviewed by Remuneration Committee with reference to

Directors' duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 31 December 2024, the number of ordinary shares in respect of which options had
been granted and remained outstanding was 14,900,000 (2023: 16,250,000), representing
1.85% (2023: 2.01%) of the total ordinary shares in issue at end of the reporting period.

The total number of ordinary shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of options
granted and to be granted to each eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any period of twelve consecutive months up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed [% of the ordinary shares in issue as of the date of grant.
Any further grant of options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders” approval in

advance in a general meeting.

Particulars of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note 28 to the financial

statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share option scheme during

R

R2024F12A31 8 - RBEERERLE
MARITENERERSROEBREER
14,900,000/% (20234 : 16,250,0008%) * {5H
EWMMRE BT BREEA1.85% (2023
F:1201%)

BESLBRERS (BEZE) LEE 128
AEMHE BIfEETEERTEAER
SEEBRE (BRETERHRITEZE
BE) ME TR TRITZERRER T
FHBHERLRHZEE#TERRBEZ
1% o (B — S REBBARB L BERER
ERERRIRRAG L - TAEE -

AR BB B RN B A SRR MR 28

TEBEAD TR 815 RS

the year:
Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asatend
Name Option type Date of grant BRITHEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
4 BRERD  RHEE (ARE) A{TERE ENHATE Eni ERd#  FREAR  FREAGE
Directors:
g
Hu Xiang 0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 - 2532025 450,000 - - - 450,000
#9 IS FERUEA
W0150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 -2532025 450000 - - — 450000
155 E g
WI50ptionC - 2632015 147 1420182532025 600,000 - - - 600,000
WISERREC

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asatend
Name Option type Date of gant BRITREE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
£ FRESN  RAEH  (AR®) 7EHE ENHALTE ERiH ERE#  FREAE  FREAGRE
Zhou Lingoo 2015Option A 2632015 |47 142016 - 2532025 225000 - - - 225,000
B ISFRBRIEA
20150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 225000 - - - 225000
WISFRRED
20150ptionC 2632015 |47 142018 - 2532025 300000 - - - 300000
WISFRREC
YeRong 2015C0ption A 2632015 147 142016 - 2532025 330000 - - - 330000
S DISFRREA
2015CptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 330000 - - - 330000
55 ERIES
0150ption C 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 440000 - - - 440000
WISFRREC
Qu Degian 0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 - 2532005 150,000 - - - 150,000
L DISFRHIEA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 150000 - - - 150000
WISFRRED
0050ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 200,000 - - - 200,000
WISFRREC
Sub-totat: 3,850,000 - - - 3,850,000
i
Other participants:
AfgRE
Participants 0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 - 2532025 - - - - -
baE IFRREA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 - - - - -
WI55BRER
0150ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 - - - - -
WISFRREC
Sub-totat - - - - -
5t

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asat end
Name Option type Date of gant BRITEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
ft4 FREEN  RHAS  (ARW) e EAHANE ERid FRiE#E  FREME  FRHAGE
Other employees:
HfpfES -
Employees 0150ptionA 2632015 147 142016 -253.2005 3,720,000 - (405,000) - 3315000
& DISFRREA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 1420172532005 3,720,000 - (405,000) - 3315000
IS5 EIED
0150ptionC 2632015 147 1420182532025 4960000 - (540000) - 4420000
0I5 EIIEC
Sub-totat 12400,000 - (1,350,000) - 11,050,000
It :
Total: 16,250,000 - (1,350,000) - 14900,000
it -

The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on which the BEBEREETERHA - RO INEFS
options were exercised was HK$1.47. WHERIATET

1 1 8 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors, the chief
executive or their associates in the share capital, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO™) ) which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO),
or which, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the

“Model Code"), were as follows:

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

EEHESRTRAESRKRS - HER
PREFNERRAR

R20245612A318 - E% - RRITBRAER
BENBBARRARZEBEZEZE (TR
B REEGED ([F 7 RBAEEN]) EXv
#) R - HERG REFPEEREES
REE WGP EXVERET R ESH ARG AR A
A REE R AT R AR (BIEREE S K
SHEOIE IR RERNERIOAR) R
BEFRPEENESEALERARAEF
ENEFCMANERRAR  JBRE TR
TAESENTBLFR IR ETA ([EESF
Al]) B ARAR REZMOERIAR

Ordinary shares of the Company: ARAEBR

Approximate

percentage of

Number of the Company’s

shares and issued capital

Number of underlying shares HEERT

Name of Directors Nature of Interest Number of shares underlying shares 5 K& B¢y

EEps MY BHEE HEROBE HERGEE BANEDL

Hu Xiang Personal 26,102,500 1,500,000 27,602,500 3.44%
FiiE2) EPN Long Position Long Position Long Position
=9 =9 =9

Zhou Lingbo Personal ,100,000 750,000 1,850,000 0.23%
&R EPN Long Position Long Position
=9 =9

Ye Rong Personal 2,512,000 [,100,000 3,612,000 0.45%
B EPN Long Position Long Position Long Position
=9 =9 9=

Qu Degian Personal — 500,000 500,000 0.06%
[EE% EA Long Position Long Position
=9 9=

EHERAERRZSF
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Ordinary shares of the Company: EAREER
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
shares and issued capital
Name of Substantial Number of underlying shares R N
Shareholders Nature of Interest Number of shares underlying shares R K 2RT
IRRREE REME BHEE HERO#E MEROHE BRANE D
Fangyi Collaboration Beneficial owner 230,607,300 — 230,607,300 28.70%
Holdings Limited EnBBA Long Position Long Position
TEERAR AR =9 =9
Li Xiaoyong Beneficial owner 52,679,000 — 52,679,000 6.56%
FINE BERBEAAN Long Position Long Position
&R =

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
As at 31 December 2024, Directors' interests in a major customer were as follows:

EERRS  REHSHNZEAER

R2024F 12A31H > EXBRFHNESS

AR YRR AN T -

ZTE Corporation (“ZTE")

. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian, Directors of the Company, are members of the 39 .
shareholders (“Beneficial Owners”) of Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Ltd. (“Fangyi”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company.

. The Beneficial Owners had an indirect equity interest of approximately 9.8% in d
ZTE, the second-largest customer of the Group for the year ended 3| December
2024, through their shareholdings in Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co.,
Ltd. (“Shenzhen Weixiantong™). Shenzhen Weixiantong owns 49% shareholding
interests in Zhongxingxin Tongxun Co., Ltd. (“Zhongxingxin"), which in turn had
approximately 20.09% shareholding interests in ZTE.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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0 Hu Xiang and Qu Degian together held approximately 4.1% shareholding interests
in Shenzhen Weixiantong. Therefore, they have indirect shareholding interests in

ZTE through their shareholding interests in Shenzhen Weixiantong.

As of 31 December 2024, Directors' interests in major suppliers were as follows:

Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Technology Co,, Ltd. (“Zhongxingxindi”) which former name as
Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Tongxin Qicai Co., Ltd.

. The Beneficial Owners have an indirect equity interest in Zhongxingxindi, a supplier
accounted for 0% purchase of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024,
through their shareholdings in Shenzhen Weixiantong. Shenzhen Weixiantong is a
shareholder of Zhongxingxindi, owns approximately 39.16% shareholding interests.
Shenzhen Weixiantong owns 49% shareholding interests in Zhongxingxin, which in

turn had approximately 79.92% shareholding interests in Zhongxingxindi.

. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian as members of the Beneficial Owners, therefore, have
indirect shareholding interests in Zhongxingxindi through their shareholding

interests in Shenzhen Weixiantong.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Company's or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its connected entities had a material
interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisting at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the Group are set out
in note 36 to the financial statements which did not fall under the definition of “connected

transaction” or “‘continuing connected transaction” under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.

EhkERERLXT
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the percentage of shares of the Company in
public hands is in compliance with the prescribed level of the minimum public float as set

out in Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has set up an audit committee with written terms of reference. The audit
committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and reports to the

Board of Directors.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company, who are of the opinion that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards and legal requirements,

and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
MOBI Development Co., Ltd.

Hu Xiang
Chairman

27 March 2025
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MOBI Development Co,, Ltd.
(the “"Company™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 132 to 232, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial %

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

HRELER

Independent Auditor’s Report
R R S

RREELER
BREZFBEAUMNEXAE T  B2A
HESMBRRPREENEER - RANE
BRRGAVBBRRBELFEAEMBMITY
RER  MAentEFEREFERER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BMRELRINEERRERER

Estimated allowance for inventories

FEERE

We identified the estimated allowance for inventories as a
key audit matter due to the use of judgment and estimates
by the management in estimating the allowance for

inventories.

In determining the allowance for inventories, the
management considers the aging information of inventories,
technology development of the industry, net realisable value
for slow-moving inventories that are no longer suitable for

use in operation and subsequent sales or usage.

ZABFEERERCABRELEER  RERE

EEfAEH BB E R A Rt o
EETFERER  EEEZRFERKEEMITR

RIS  FEEA 2B BN E SRR
TR FE -

Our procedures in relation to valuation of inventories included:

. Understanding how management estimates the allowance of slow-moving

inventories items;

. Obtaining the inventory aging information and checking its classification by

age on a sample basis to relevant documents;

. Checking on the net realisable value of inventories to subsequent selling
prices less costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale or

usage of inventories on a sample basis to relevant documents; and

RMEEFEHERRNEFEE -

. THRERB AR T SRR

. BSFERERES - MikeEREk) BEBEBAXH+
. U EERE T E A 8 RFE LB HE BRRE TR AR R
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELRINEERRELER

Key audit matters

HRELER

126

Estimated allowance for inventories (Cont d)

FEMETRE (F)

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of inventories was RMB103,465,000, which represents
approximately 9.9% of the Group's total assets.

WA E B RMTEE I9FTHEE - 20245 128318 -
GFEREEAARE 10346500070 ' 1 SE£EEEE
EE#19.9% o

Evaluating the reasonableness of the allowance of slow-moving inventories
identified by the management with reference to the aging information of

inventories, subsequent sales and usage of inventories.

SEFENRRES FENREHERERBER  FEEREH
BRI E s BB AL -

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

ERARAEE (ERE T30) MR ERE

We identified the impairment assessment of the long-
lived assets relating to the Group's business of sales of the
antenna system and related products, base station Radio
Frequency (the “RF") subsystem and related products
and coverage extension solution and related products,
comprising certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (the “Identified Long-lived
Assets”), as key audit matter as significant judgement by the
management is required to assess the amount of impairment

of these assets.

ZAKER BEEBEXEERRAEER  ZUh5A
(518 )) FERRABHAERARBELHR T RRIEH
EmNHEEXRTNRPEE (BRATYE - BE &R
- EREEENENEAE) ((BRMNEHEE]) R
EFERTABREZTE  SAREEER RIS
BAHBIAEZZEENRESHE

Our procedures in relation to management's impairment assessment of the

Identified Long-lived Assets included:

Understanding the key controls over the management of the Group's
impairment assessment process, including those over the determination of
the fair value of the Identified Long-lived Assets, such as controls related
to management's selection of the impairment assessment model, discount

rate and forecasts of future revenue and operating margin;

Evaluating the independent qualified professional valuer's competence,

capabilities and objectivity;

RMHERBN DB RMEEREFEOIZFEE

BREE BEEEREFGRFOBRE REAEETCAN
RPEENTEMES - fIInRERERERENHEL - BHRX

A RFERARRRA R SRR R 2] :

AHEEL A R E R ER AR - Be N NEEM

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Key audit matters

HRELER

Independent Auditor’s Report
R R S

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELRINEERRELER

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as

CRBIRMEE (EERTX) WRERE ()

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the
management of the Group performed an impairment
assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets due to the
indication for impairment as disclosed in notes 4 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements. For the purpose
of assessing impairment of these assets, the recoverable
amounts of these assets have been determined by the
management of the Group by value in use calculations
using financial budgets based on past performance and
expectation for market development, where the key input

parameters include growth rate and discount rate.

Based on the management's assessment, an impairment loss
of the Identified Long-lived Assets of RMB9,648,000 been
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2024.

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2024, the aggregate
carrying amount of the Identified Long-lived Assets was
RMB270,535,000, net of accumulated impairment loss of
RMB17,803,000.

REBZE204F1N2A3IBILFE - EEEEEEARN

A BHEMN 4R 4P BB RERRMEEH&
AlERBEERTRETDE - SRS EENTHREM
B RSEAEMILESBEEH ESETREINE
REENTEET  FHREBEMNENERNBENE
EREHTSERNISEE  EhEARB A28
ERRERITTE -

BEEBENTE  BE204F12A31BILEFE - B
FBRIRPEEMNRMEREARE648000TE R IER
PHER o

WMERE FISIRRMT 14T HE - 7R2024F 128318
BRI RHEENEmEE A ARE270,5350007T
Mk 2EHRERE AR 117,803,0007T °

defined below) (Contd)

Involving our internal valuation specialists to assist in assessing the
reasonableness of the impairment assessment model adopted and

assumptions used by the management of the Group;

Assessing the reasonableness of the management's estimate of the growth
rate with reference to the historical performance and the latest budgets of

the Group and market data;

Assessing the reasonableness of the discount rate used by management
in determining the value in use, with reference to the current market risk-

free rate of interest and the industry and company specific risk factors; and

Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by management on the
significant assumptions to evaluate the extent of impact of these

assumptions on the value in use.
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include

the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events

or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concem.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner

that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor's report is Ko

Ngai Yeung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GERaRkEME2EREERR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

2024 2023
2024 20235
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Revenue WA 5 515,148 640,849
Cost of sales THEKAR (448,218) (544,538)
Gross profit EH 66,930 96,311
Impairment losses under expected credit loss EHEEEE ((RREEEE])

(“ECL") model, net of reversal B THRERE - HkRED 4,779 (8/427)
Impairment losses on Identified Long-lived Assets ERAIREEENREREE

(as defined in note 4) (E#& RME4) 14 (9,648) (7,653)
Other income HApA 6 31,407 34773
Other gains and losses HAblas &R 6 (6,995) 15,349
Research and development expenses MRS (65,039) (62,509)
Administrative expenses THRX (77,848) (75,169)
Distribution and selling expenses DIHRIHERX (39,227) (42,161)
Finance costs FBERAR 7 (4,593) (3.279)
Share of results of associates it ONSIE 19 41
Loss before tax BRI E 1R (100,215) (52,806)
Income tax expense PSR 8 (20,313) (6,389)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year ANAFREBABLFEEFER

attributable to owners of the Company 2HEHAXAE 9 (120,528) (59,195)
Loss per share BRESE

~ basic (RMB cents) —ERN(AR®S) 13 (14.93) (7.28)

— diluted (RMB cents) -85 (ARE7) 13 (14.93) (7.28)

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
b O

At 31 December 2024
R2024E12R318

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Non-current Assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB LR 14 226,311 258,795
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 22,753 23,420
Deposits for purchase of plant and equipment BERELRBEE RS 16,747 12,361
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE 16 16,559 36,872
Intangible assets B EE 17 21,471 17,699
Interests in associates NN =l 18 4578 4559
308,419 353,706
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories "E 19 103,465 149,924
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E A FEUER X 20 363,601 413,071
Pledged bank deposits BEIRRITER 21 78,735 132,355
Cash and cash equivalents RekHReEEY 21 192,658 198,674
738,459 894,024
Current Liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMEMNERR 22 538,332 631,586
Contract liabilities BHEE 23 10,588 9,098
Tax payable eI - 215
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 24 111,850 95,000
Lease liabilities HE&E 25 1,065 3,540
Deferred income EIEWA 26 640 [,535
662,475 740974
Net Current Assets REEEFHE 75,984 153,050
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERRBEE 384,403 506,756
BEtkB#RAERAL2A 133
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MR R ERE

At 31 December 2024
R2024E 128318

2024 2023
2024 20235
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Non-current Liabilities FREEE
Lease liabilities HE&E 25 283 1216
Deferred income WA 26 752 988
1,035 2204
Net Assets EERE 383,368 504,552

Capital and Reserves BRAK %
Share capital [LZN 27 6 6
Reserves 1 383,362 504,546
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARRHER AEIGHER 383,368 504,552

The consolidated financial statements on pages |32 to 232 were approved and authorised FINENENGEATBREERLEEZEN

for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: 2025F3 A7 BHLEMBRRET)EE  WHATE
FRERE

Hu Xiang Zhou Lingbo

& A

ik BER

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

5% 5%

1 34 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERERBBHRE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

Enterprise  Statutory Share
Share  expansion surplus Special option  Retained
premium fund reserve fund reserve reserve earnings Total
¥ EE BhRE
RtvaE BRES BHEES  HIRE e REER E
RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARMTT ARWTR
(note 2) (note b) (notec)  (note 28)
(Ftzta) (Rrzp)  (HbeEe)  (Hb&E2s)
At | January 2023 RABEIAIAR 402552 3034 70022 2,999 20966 65415 564994
Loss and the total comprehensive FEEBR
expense for the year PERYSE - - - - - (59,199) (59,195)
Transfer of share option reserve upon ~ HRUERRRIE /BB
forfeiture/expiration of share options R 5| EEEE
BRRERE - - - - (9.253) 9,53 -
Cancellation of shares repurchased ~ FEEHBBEIAR (3
(note 27) (FitE27) - - - - - - -
Repurchase and cancellation of sheres B8 R 8k 17
(note 27) (Fit3x27) (593) - - - - - (593)
Repurchase of shares (note 27) RirEmE
(Fitsz27) (654) - - - - - (654)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 124318 401,305 3034 70022 2,999 713 15473 504,552
Loss and the total comprehensive FEHRR
expense for the year PHRXEHE = = = - - (l20528)  (120,528)
Transfer of share option reserve pon ~ FRURBERNE / 1B
forfeiture/expiration of share options  FR | HEs 4
BRRERE - - - - (754) 754 -
Cancellation of shares repurchased ~ FEEHIBEIAR (D
(note 27) (Fts27) - - - - - - -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares B8 R 17
(note 27) (Fta27) (369) - - - - - (369)
Repurchase of shares (note 27) K&
(Fit3x27) (287) - - - - - (287)
At 31 December 2024 20045 124318 400,649 3,034 70,022 2999 10959  (104301) 383,368

* Less than RMB 1,000

EHERAERRZSF

20244 3R
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERERBBHRE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

Notes:

@

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2009 Revision), the share premium of the
Company may be applied for redemption or purchase of any shares of the Company, payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, payment of its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,

no dividends were paid out of its share premium.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
the Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain statutory reserve. Appropriations to such
reserve are made out of net profit after tax reported in the statutory financial statements of the
PRC subsidiaries while the amounts and allocation basis are decided by their respective boards of
directors annually. The statutory reserve can be used to make up their prior year losses, if any, and
can be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue or expanding the capital

base of the PRC subsidiaries by means of capitalisation issue.

Special reserve represents the difference between the paid-in capital of BELL KARFEIT (FRYINAE
f% 2] MOBI Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“MOBI Shenzhen”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in connection
with the acquisition of MOBI Shenzhen. MOBI Shenzhen was acquired pursuant to the group
restructuring completed on 19 December 2002, at which time the Company entered into an

equity transfer agreement for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in MOBI Shenzhen.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHERERR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES e
Loss before tax TiRlEs IR (100,215) (52,806)
Adjustments for: FATHBELRAE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERREITE 19,791 19817
Impairment loss on the Identified Long-live Assets ERAIREEENRERE 9,648 7,653
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEESH 3,483 7,499
Write-down of inventories TFEMOR 24,828 21,482
Unrealised exchange gain RERE W= (5,614) (7,025)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 906 1231
Finance costs B 4593 3279
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal HHEEEEEA THREES -
MR ERE (4,779) 8427
Loss (gain) on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEME - BFEREENEE
(Mez) 10,871 (6412)
Gain on termination of lease contract BRIFHE SRR (1,672) -
Share of results of associates il /NI (19) 41
Interest income from bank deposits RATEHFEMA (5,813) (5,512)
Government grants related to assets HEERBANRN#EDE (1,131) (1,630)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital K&t & EE & F B FIMLE mE (45,123) (3956)
Decrease in inventories FERD 21,631 9,430
Decrease in trade and other receivables g5 K E MK ERTOR 56,301 62,636
Decrease in trade and other payables E 5 KA MR BRFOR (89,244) (54,032)
Increase in contract liabilities SRIEEEM 1,490 2,996
Cash (used in) generated from operations g (FrA) risRe (54,945) 17,074
Taxation paid BENHHIE (215) (20)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES #8458 (FTH) FTii3R & 58 (55,160) 17,054
ELERERLA 137
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HERERBER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTR ARKEFT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEEERRTER (227,573) (311,211
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE BELRE (6,505) (7,391)
Deposits paid for purchase of plant and equipment HEERE LA TNEE (16,747) (12,361)
Development costs paid and capitalised B RERMCEREKAR (8,642) (7,862)
Redemption of pledged bank deposits BB 2 RIRITER 281,193 268,647
Interest received BUF B 5813 5512
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - BERREWEETIE 8,184 19,179
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES & & E8)FT15 (TR ) BE 548 35,723 (45,487)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES [ VEED)
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BRRITREMER (170,070) (55,726)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEAR (2,555) (4,009)
Interest paid ERAFE (4,593) (3279)
Payments on repurchase of shares B BB 3R (656) (1,247)
New bank and other borrowings raised FTIRERIT R A AR 186,920 112,166
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MERBMFHR TR 9,046 47,905

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND RekReEEBWFECRD) B

CASH EQUIVALENTS (10,391) 19,472
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT | JANUARY RIAIBNRE KB EEY 198,674 174275
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES HNEE R E B 2 4375 4927
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER R 12831 HMRE KRB S EEY 192,658 198,674

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

MOBI Development Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a public limited company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“The Stock Exchange”) on |7 December 2009. The
address of its registered office is Maples Corporate Services Limited P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman KYI-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is MOBI Technology Building, Genyu Road, Gongming Street, Guangming
District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group") are

production and sale of antennas and radio frequency subsystems.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is

also the functional currency of the Company and its principal subsidiaries.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period
beginning on | January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BB BIMEERE 1 65% (BATA)
Amendments to HKAS |

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

—REHR

BHBERBERAR ([ARA]) BER
EREEMKINDARBERAA -
BR2009F 128 17BHEBERA
SHRARAR (TBRM]) £H
o 37 5 B2 /0 Hb ik A5 Maples Corporate
Services Limited P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KYI-1104, Cayman
lslands * EF EEEMB RTHEERE
AYIT Y BRR R BRETEAR R IR E LRI
RE -

h:[t ><>}/ /|

N

<

ARAREFRAR([AKE]) TR
EEREENHERG R BRESG AT
ES

BEMBREAARE ([ARK]) 2
5 ARBTRARBRETEFAF
KR EH -

ER#HFIEBMEREELEL (B
MBREEA ) REBUBREE
BMEET AR
REERFEREBUEREERE
HES

RAEE - REBB RGBSR E WHKER
RERERHEAGHMAG ([BAY
SHRIAE ) i N5 EBMBmESE
AERTA - ERASEB20245 1 A1H
FA. 5 EAR R A AR

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERMERZFHEERE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
BERGERF 5% (BFTAK) BENBERRBAIFRBARBBREESH (20205) 2 BRIERT

Amendments to HKAS |
BRBGTERE 5 (BFIAR)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
BRESTENETR BB BREERNE7HR (BRIAR) HEDRMELH

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
MR FEREBE

Supplier Finance Arrangements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fe)

B WM

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont'd)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Contd)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in

these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS | Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting

date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should
be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected by management

intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

. clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of cash, goods or
services, or the entity's own equity instruments to the counterparty. If a
liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity's own equity instruments, these
terms do not affect its classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont'd)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Cont'd)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS | Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) (Contd)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date
which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity is required to comply with
on or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity's right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date, even if
compliance with the covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an entity must comply after
the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification of a liability
as current or non-current at the reporting date. However, if the entity's right to
defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with covenants
within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity discloses information
that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting period. This would
include information about the covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities
and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties

complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied the new
accounting policy to the classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The application of the amendments in the current year had no

material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

EhkERERLXT
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mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 2.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont'd)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs that have

been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BEMBREENEIRREBUBRSE
ERIET75 (BFTAR)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BEMBREENEIRLEBUBRS
LRIET75 (BRTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEMBREENE 0K NEEGS
HERIE285% (BFTAK)

Amendments to HKFRSs

BB B G ER AR (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 2|

BEAGHENE25 (BFIA)

HKFRS 18

BB BIME RS 1857

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2025. 2

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2026. 3

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2027. 4

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all these new and

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.

AR EMBRERER ([EE
MBHEED ) REBMBEREE
LUCHENG )
EREMEERER 2T BB BRE
R BRMBRERUBITE
AEEYERPEA IR BMBERR
ERZBRMBREEANETA :

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments’
SRIT AN BETENEIA

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity®
MK B RRERNE N A4

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture'

REEFRHABENRIRAEEEZHANEELELLIE!

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards-Volume | 1°
BREMBREENGHENFEZE - F 15

Lack of Exchangeability?

RZ A R

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements*

Lupi e EE

REERRRZRFER 2 FREARE

o

N

20254 | A1 Bk & Fta 2 F/E B
R o

2026 | A1 B2 %2 FEEIRA
R o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

32

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with

the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its retums.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over

the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed

to the owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3.

B WM

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Contd)

Basis of consolidation (Cont d)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's

accounting policies.

Al intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that

are substantially the same.

Information about the Group's accounting policies relating to contracts with

customers is provided in notes 5 and 23.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or

an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont d)

32

Material accounting policy information (Contd)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such contract
will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets include the amount of the initial measurement

of the lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont d)

32

Material accounting policy information (Contd)

Leases (Contd)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Al leases are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant lease.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share option granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair

value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to

the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will

be transferred to retained earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont d)

32

Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax

EXpense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from loss before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse

in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying

amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by

the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than plant and machinery under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Plant and machinery in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for

their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than
construction in progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective

basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Cont d)
Intangible assets
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period

in which it is incurred.
An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities

(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and

only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic

benefits;
. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to

complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the

intangible asset during its development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Intangible assets (Contd)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure (Cont'd)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment

losses (if any).

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an

indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Contd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Cont'd)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Contd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Cont'd)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are

initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

GEUMBBRNEREEREAS

STRER (&)
32 EREHBEREN(E)
SHTAE)

TREEREBABNIUNAF
BFtE  HELBEEFNAH
ZESRBER (NFEELY
BIREERIE 15502 ) BRob

ERFXRERAEEREEI S
BB B A SRS A o 70 AL A
R FERA RN B 275
% o BRFR RN SRR
CRHEELSRABNERFH
RS HE (WER) WREDHR
At RRR WA RN K (B
BRERNEARHERE D
AENSERERARHEH 5
RAREMEEIR) 2R
FERMME o

TREENDBRRETE
MEATNMEHNEBEERER
BIER AT E

- NEBAeHRERERR
HMREBEAANRE S
BEE : I

+ RUBRFRETHEHEXL
ZHeREBEAXNAS
BAREERE ZHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income s
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the

determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in

credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Amortised cost and interest income (Contd)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
[2-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at

the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
[2-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial

recognition.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

GEUMBBRNEREEREAS

STRER (&)
32 EREHBEREN(E)
SHTAE)

B A RFIEWA ()

AREEEMHREERNFIR T
PURERME R EERE ()
FENENEEFRERBTA
MERFHAME A EMNENS
HELZEREEER -k -
1218 A RE S B REERNR
SRR NEARAEELENE
NEHEH L FERRDEES
BED o FHETREBEAKE B
EEEBRERET  LRERE
BABANRAE  —REERR
AR SRS BEE ATAOR MRS
PARSIARFAR TR E LT o

AEBRKRE 5 KRR
FEHNEHMEREESR -

HRARMTIA  RNEEE
MEERESR 2EARBES
BiR - BRIEBERERUREE
RRBEREM - NEEERFE
HMEHMEEEE - RLRHERTF
BHEREEEROFEHER
BERERARELED AR
MR BE R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Cont d)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Amortised cost and interest income (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Cont d)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Amortised cost and interest income (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)
. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating

results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount

becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. REMBRERNGREEREAS

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY ATBRERER ()

INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Cont d) 32 EXREHEERER(Z)
Financial instruments (Cont d) EHITA(E)
Amortised cost and interest income (Contd) BHAARFIEUA (&)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under ERBEEBNEREENEIRT
HKFRS 9 (Cont d) PARERTH @R EERE (&)
(i) Definition of default iy EBHTER

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (i)
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Amortised cost and interest income (Contd)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Contd)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Cont d)

()  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Wnrite-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any

subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Cont d)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Amortised cost and interest income (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective

risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the

effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward-looking macroeconomic

information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Cont d)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Amortised cost and interest income (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the

following characteristics when formulating the grouping;
. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the

financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is

recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Amortised cost and interest income (Contd)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to

the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Cont d)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)
Financial liabilities
Al financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and bank and other
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see
below), that the directors of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Capitalisation of development costs

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's development costs
amounted to RMB18,023,000 (2023: RMBI15,100,000), which are not ready for
the intended use, were included in intangible assets. The capitalisation involved
management’s judgement in assessing of whether technical and commercial
feasibility of each project had been achieved. Technical feasibility are evaluated
based on testing results of products and commercial feasibility are evaluated based
on forecast with assumptions on revenue to be generated, budget costs to be

incurred and relevant market analysis of the relevant product.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for inventories

The Group provided an allowance for inventories based on an assessment of the
net realisable value of inventories. Allowance is applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than the
cost of inventories. The management may consider the aging analysis, technology
development of the industry, net realisable value for slow-moving inventories
that are no longer suitable for use in operation and subsequent sales or usage,
which requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where the actual outcome
or expectation of the net realisable value of inventories is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance for inventories in the period in which such estimate has changed. The
carrying amount of inventories at 31 December 2024 is RMB103,465,000 (2023:
RMB149,924,000).

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

Certain long-lived assets are related to the Group's business of sales of the antenna
system and related products, base station Radio Frequency (the “RF”) subsystem
and related products and coverage extension solution and related products,
comprising certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets (the “Identified Long-lived Assets”). In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the value in use
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate
assets have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rate or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the recoverable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont d)

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Contd)

Due to complex challenges in global communications equipment industry and
phase adjustment of 5G network construction in the PRC during the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group is experiencing negative conditions including mainly
decreased revenue and suffered loss for the year. The management of the Group
concluded there were indications for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on the recoverable amounts of the Identified Long-lived Assets. The
recoverable amounts of the Identified Long-lived Assets have been determined
by the management of the Group by value in use calculation on the basis of the
cash-generating unit to which these assets belong. The value in use calculation
uses financial budgets based on past performance and expectation for market
development, where the key input parameters include growth rate and discount
rate. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit as it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of each of the Identified Long-
lived Assets individually. Where the expected future cash flows arising from the
relevant cash generating units differ from the original estimation, an impairment loss

may arise. Detalils of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 4.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying amount of Identified Long-lived
Assets was RMB270,535,000 (2023: RMB299,914,000), after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses of RMBI 17,803,000 (2023: RMB108,341,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont d)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL

individually.

In addition, for trade receivables which are individually insignificant or when the
Group does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective
assessment is performed by grouping debtors based on the Group's internal credit

ratings.

The Group uses collective assessment to calculate the lifetime ECL for the trade
receivables through groupings of various debtors of same credit rating. Trade
receivables within same internal credit rating have similar loss patterns after
considering of aging, repayment history and past due status of respective trade
receivables. The estimated loss rates are based on the Group's historical default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL is disclosed in note 33 and the details of the Group's trade receivables is

disclosed in note 20.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive officer of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods sold or services

provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Antenna system — manufacturing and sales of antenna system and related products

Base station RF subsystem — manufacturing and sales of base station RF subsystem

and related products

Coverage extension solution — manufacturing and sales of a wide array of coverage

products

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

All of the Group's revenue is recognised when goods are delivered or picked up,
being the time when the customers obtain control over the antenna system and
related products, base station RF subsystem and related products and coverage

extension solution.

All the Group's contracts have an original expected duration of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation of these contracts is not disclosed.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 5. BARZHEN (#E)
Information of segment revenues and segment results EHEIBUARD BEENER
2024 2023
20244 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR
Segment revenues 2 ERUA
Antenna system PN S 162,534 255,635
Base station RF subsystem EUGHAT R 279,796 327,654
Coverage extension solution BERMFRR 72,818 57,560
515,148 640,849
Timing of revenue recognition WA T R B B
A point in time R AR R R 515,148 640,849
Segment results DEEE
Antenna system NS (1,708) 15,756
Base station RF subsystem EULSTET R4t (4,546) 30,586
Coverage extension solution BELFAR 4,244 (15219)
(2,010 31,123
Reconciliation of segment results to loss before tax DEHEEREB IS EYHE
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal HHEEERER THRE
BB HRER 4,779 (8,427)
Other income and expenses, other gains and losses Hp WA KR - Efbiias
RER 24,412 50,122
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EFAR (122,822) (122,304)
Finance costs BT AR (4,593) (3.279)
Share of results of associates - YNSIE S 19 (41)
Loss before tax TR ER (100,215) (52,806)
Other segment information HittmHER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: ME - BB NREBITE
Antenna system PNGES 5,420 5812
Base station RF subsystem EUbSTET 24t 5,522 5,007
Coverage extension solution BELHAR 544 679
Segment total Db 11,486 11,498
Unallocated amount ANELHE 8,305 8319
Group total SEMEE 19,791 19,817
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5.

Information of segment revenues and segment results (Cont d)

WA EER (&)

BRI BRARD BEENER (F)

2024 2023
20244 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Research and development expenses: MEFRY
Antenna system PN 32,967 25912
Base station RF subsystem BULSHEF 24t 24,440 20,218
Coverage extension solution BELHAR 7,632 16,379
Group total (note) SEEE () 65,039 62,509
Amortisation of intangible assets: BIVEE#H
Antenna system PN EN 1,057 3996
Base station RF subsystem EIhGHET R4t 2,426 3,503
Group total SEEE 3,483 7499
Allowance for inventories: FEEE
Antenna system PNE S 7,058 8,464
Base station RF subsystem BILGHAT R4t 14,396 10,741
Coverage extension solution BELHAR 3,374 2277
Group total (note) SE& (M) 24,828 21,482
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Impairment losses on the BHRAIRAEENRERE -
|dentified Long-lived Assets:
Antenna system NS 3,862 -
Base station RF subsystem EUbETIR T 25t - 2553
Coverage extension solution BELFAR 39 127
Segment total D EbiEEt 3,901 2,680
Unallocated amount on corporate assets CEEENRDEEH 5,747 4973
Group total EE@st 9,648 7,653
Note: {oE

Amounts included in the measure of segment results.

EHERAERRZSF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fe)

B WM

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Information of segment revenues and segment results (Cont'd)
Revenues reported above represent revenues generated from external customers.

There are no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group's
accounting policies. The Group does not allocate impairment losses under ECL
model, net of reversal, other income and expenses, other gains and losses,
unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, and share of results of associates
to individual reportable segments when making decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segments and assessing their performance. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment.

No segment information on assets and liabilities is presented as such information
is not reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 5. WARZHER(#)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and information about BEFANBARERER DT
products
Revenues from each group of products within the operating segments are as BESBAZERARINBALT -
follows:
2024 2023
20244 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Segments ap:i!
Antenna system KRZE
Mutti-band/multi-system antennas e VET S PN 96,730 189,833
Microwave antennas LU TN 19,633 9,302
FDD+TDD antennas FDD+TDDX#R 19,528 21,226
Customized antennas EH{ERER 19,270 19712
Multi-Beam antennas % IR R RAR 5,960 12328
WCDMA/FDD-LTE single-band/multi-band antennas WCDMAFDD-LTEESE /% HERER 274 -
Other antennas HEi KR 1,139 3,234
162,534 255,635
Base station RF subsystem RS HEFZ
WCDMAJLTE RF devices WCDMA/LTEST S8 265,729 311,840
TD/TD-LTE RF devices TD/TD-LTES SE=R 1+ 8,261 6,765
Low-band refarming/loT RF devices ESREH /s 85T SRR 3,092 5619
GSM RF devices GSMET#ERR T 1,523 3,388
5G RF devices SGEEBET A 5 -
Other devices Hitzzlt 1,176 £
279,796 327,654
Coverage extension solution BEULMLE
In-door antennas ERPN 24,037 21,079
Aesthetic antennas FeXRER 22,054 15512
GPS and specialised products GPSRHIHEm 8,947 -
Solar energy equipment N ] 89 6,707
Other products H At 17,691 14262
72,818 57,560
515,148 640,849

EhkERERLXT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 5. WARSHER(E)
Information about major customers FHRTEEFNER
Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the RENEBFEHAREERABEER
total revenue of the Group are as follows: BB 0% EFPERANT
2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Customer A' EFA 237,224 242973
Customer B! EFB 94,362 143378
Customer C' EPC 66,453 125,163
Revenue from antenna system and base station RF subsystem. REREZFREWF BT RAEK
Ao
Geographical information it B & E
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is presented BRAERFRGINIEEWARERTY
based on the location where the goods are delivered to: BEINERNLEZS -
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

The PRC i 235,526 330,439
Overseas T
Other countries/regions in Asia EMNEMER & 159,346 149,265
Europe BUM 111,488 141,708
Americas e 6,994 19,420
Others Hit 1,794 17
Subtotal et 279,622 310410
515,148 640,849
All non-current assets (other than deferred tax assets) of the Group are located in REBMBHERBEE (BERBEEE
the PRC. FRON) SRR -
1 74 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HWA - Atz R &R
2024 2023
20244 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARETR
Govermment grants B E
— related to expense items (note a) — BRI IE B A8 (Ffista) 11,973 14,808
— related to assets (note 26) — HE AR (fEh26) 131 1,630
Rental income He WA 12,490 12,823
Interest income from bank deposits RITERMBBA 5813 5512
Other income HABA 31,407 34773
(Loss) gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment &I ~ BE K& HER
(B5#E) W (10,871) 6412
Exchange gain B 5 e 5614 7,025
Others Hith (1,738) 1912
Other gains and losses Hhlam R EE (6,995) 15,349
Total et 24,412 50,122

Note:

(a) The amounts represent incentives from various PRC government authorities in connection
with the enterprise expansion support, technology advancement support and product
development support during the year, which had no conditions imposed by the respective

PRC government authorities.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20244 R

@  FZEFEEFAT RSB ERERSS
CERRER - RIES RERBEMGT
8RR - % E AR T B BT T8

SRR P R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

7. FINANCE COSTS

B R R A
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMETHE 4,467 3,113
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFHS 126 |66
4,593 3279

8.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE FRi8HiBA X
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT"):

REIERATEH (TREMER]) -

Current year rEE = 215
Under provision in prior year BEFEEBETE = 20
- 235

Deferred tax expense (note 16) BT IER X (PHEE16) 20,313 6,154
20,313 6,389

Hong Kong
The applicable tax rate of the Company and MOBI Technology (Hong Kong)
Limited (“MOBI HK") is 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been recognised as the Group had no

assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont'd)

The PRC (excluding Hong Kong)

In September 2014, MOBI Shenzhen was defined by Shenzhen Finance Bureau,
Administrator of Local Taxation of Shenzhen Municipality and Shenzhen Municipal
office of the State Administration of Taxation (the “SZ Authorities”) as a High
and New Technology Enterprise and therefore was entitled to 15% preferential
tax rate from the EIT for three years starting from the year ended 3| December
2014, according to the PRC EIT Law. In 2017 and 2020, the SZ Authorities have
further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years starting from the
year ended 31 December 2017 and year ended 31 December 2020, respectively.
On 25 December 2023, the SZ Authorities have further extended the preferential
tax rate for another three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, the tax rate for MOBI Shenzhen is 15% for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

In November 2016, MOBI Telecommunications Technologies (Ji An) Co., Ltd.
("MOBI Jian") was defined by Province Finance Bureau and Administrator of
Local Taxation of Municipality and Municipal office of the State Administration of
Taxation in Jiang Xi (the “Jiang Xi Authorities”), as a High and New Technology
Enterprise and therefore was entitled to 5% preferential tax rate from the EIT
for three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2016, according to the
PRC EIT Law. In 2019 and 2022, the Jiang Xi Authorities have further extended
the preferential tax rate for another three years starting from the year ended 31
December 2019 and year ended 31 December 2022, respectively. Accordingly, the
tax rate of MOBI Jian is 15% for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,

In December 2019, MOBI Technology (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd. (“"MOBI Technology")
was defined by the SZ Authorities as a High and New Technology Enterprise and
therefore was entitled to 15% preferential tax rate from the EIT for three years
starting from the year ended 31 December 2019, according to the PRC EIT Law.
On 14 December 2022, the SZ Authorities have further extended the preferential
tax rate for another three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the tax rate of MOBI Technology is 15% for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont'd)
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) (Cont d)

The applicable tax rate of other PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the year ended 31

December 2024 (2023: 25%).

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to loss before tax per the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FR8BiRx% (&)

FEIRRE (FBEES) (&)
HZ204F 12831 BILFE » HEfprp
BlFRAEERTER25% (20235
25%) °

FABREA G RE R EM 2R
RO ATEREIRAT -

2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARBTT
Loss before tax TRl E 1 (100,215) (52,806)
Tax at EIT at 15% (2023: 15%) (note a) REEMRETHE 5% (2023 -
15%) 5T EHIFIE (Fizta) (15,032) (7921

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose TENERERAXNHBETE 653 1,051
Tax effect of share of results of associates FERE R N R R BTG R A3) 6
Tax effect of additional deduction on research and BIMIBEHER BB 8

development expenses (note b) (F45ED) (8,624) (7.217)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ARG EROV BT E 29,994 11,496
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not AREER AT E W Z A

recognised -7 6,853 4329
Utilisations of tax losses previously not recognised ER LA AR IEEE (476) (221)
Under provision in prior year BEFEEBTE - 20
Reversal of tax losses previously recognised BORE®R 2 HIEEE 14,032 4,648
Effect of different tax rates of group entities EEERNTRANENTE (2,677) (1,190)
Others HAh, (4,407) 1,388

20,313 6,389

Notes:

(a) Applicable income tax rate of 15% represents the relevant income tax rate of MOBI

Shenzhen, MOBI Jian and MOBI Technology, the major subsidiaries of the Company.

(b) Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in the PRC, additional 100% (2023:

100%) of the qualified research and development expenses are entitled to claim as PRC

income tax credits. Such PRC income tax credits are accounted for deduction from

enterprise income tax expenses when relevant conditions are fulfilled.
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9.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging the following items:

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

FEBR
FEBEECDHRIATIEE

2024 2023
20244 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR
Directors' remuneration (note 10) R SR 3,179 3,285
Other staff costs Hith 8 TR 174,115 164,080
Retirement benefits scheme contributions for other staff  Efth B TR K@ FTEIE 18,631 18,907
195,925 186,272
Less: amount capitalised as cost of inventories W FEEEKANERNMEEF
manufactured (54,210) (69,085)
141,715 117,187
Auditors’ remuneration ZERH
— audit services — BZIRS 2,002 2,096
— non-audit services — IR 296 302
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BB RREBITE 19,791 19817
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELENE 906 1,231
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 3,483 7499
24,180 28,547
Less: amount capitalised as cost of inventories B FEBUEK AN BN &
manufactured (10,302) (8,145)
13,878 20,402
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R R/ FERA 423,390 523,056
Write-down on inventories (included in cost of sales) TFEMOR (FTASHERA) 24,828 21,482

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

10. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 0. EBERFETRAEMSE
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EESRIETHAEMS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and chief executive by IR E R & AR B & 2 BB PR R
the Group, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Companies B AEEENIRNEETREET
Ordinance are as follows: BABHBEMT :
2024
20245
Other
Retirement emoluments
benefits (mainly basic
scheme salaries and
Fees contributions Bonus  allowances) Total
Hit &
BIKER (FEBHE
B AR ®RE EHERER) st

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARBT:R

Executive directors YTES

Hu Xiang (note a) B0 (M) 92 - - 800 892
Zhou Lingbo (note b) Rz (Ffztb) 74 25 140 761 1,000
Ye Rong (note b) 22 (Mistp) 74 25 - 656 755
Non-executive director FHTES

Qu Degjan [EE% 9l - - - 91

Independent non-executive directors BYFHITES

Li Tianshu YN 166 - - - 166
Zhang Han IR 146 = = = 146
Ge Xiaojing BEE 129 = = = 129
772 50 140 2217 3,179
1 80 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd) 0. EBRFETHAEME (Z)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont d) ESRFETHAEME (B)
2023
20035
Other
Retirement emoluments
benefits (mainly basic
scheme salaries and
Fees  contributions Bonus  allowances) Total
Hiofe
SRR (X2BHR
B TR % EHFNLEH) ‘st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTE ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Executive directors HITES
Hu Xiang (note a) 197 (PfiEka) 90 - - 768 858
Zhou Lingbo (note b) Rz (Ffztb) 38 20 195 635 888
Ye Rong (note b) 5 (Ftstp) 38 20 160 797 1,015
Non-executive director FHITEE
Qu Degian [EE% 90 - - - 90
Independent non-executive directors BYFHITES
Li Tianshu FRE 163 - - - 163
Zhang Han R 144 - - - 144
Ge Xiaojing BB 127 - - - 127
690 40 355 2,200 3,285
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

10.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont d)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont d)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company and the Group and their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive
director’'s emoluments and the independent non-executive directors’ emoluments

shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which

are determined based on the performance of the Group.

Notes:

(€] Mr. Hu Xiang (“Mr. Hu") is also the chief executive officer of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the chief

executive officer.

The retirement benefit scheme contribution of Mr. Hu is paid by Shenzhen Zhongxing
Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. ‘&I T ELELBRBAR QA ('SZWS") as Mr.
Hu is also a director of SZWS. SZWS s controlled by a group of common controlling

shareholders of the Company.

(b) Ms. Zhou Lingbo and Mr. Ye Rong were appointed as executive directors with effect from

21 June 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the directors or the chief executive as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
or the chief executive has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the

years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES . BEfURESHHMES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three directors (2023: three BHE204F12A318EFE ~5E
directors) for the year ended 31 December 2024, details of whose emoluments hEGRFMATEE=8EE (2023
are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid F:Z2EF) REOHEFBEIR
individuals are as follows: Ex e BErmA (20235F - ME) &S

HFMALTOMEEIWT -

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 1,460 1,180
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RRER TR 37 20
1,497 1,200
Their emoluments were within the following bands: HENMENTRUATEE :
2024 2023
20245 2023F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAY EE A
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z £ 1,000,000/ 7T ([T )) 2 2
DIVIDENDS 2. KRB
No dividends were recognised as distribution for both years. R EFE I BERED RS
No final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 was recommended by EETERRNEZE2024F12A3181E
the directors. FREARPRE
EL#EREBERLDA 183
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

13.  LOSS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The loss for calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the ARG ERR A EBRES ARG
ordinary owners of the Company are based on the following data: ERREEERNERTRE T8
HEL

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

Loss for the year attributable to owners REHEBRER L EEE
of the Company for the purpose of BADRRE AELFENER
calculating basic and diluted loss per share (120,528) (59,195)
2024 2023
2024 2023
'000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares KRGEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the Rt EBRERREEEE
purpose of calculating basic and diluted loss per share & AR RTS8 807,083 812,599
The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ2024F K2023F 12A31HIEF
and 2023 did not assume the exercise of the Company's share options as the B REAATERERETE B
exercise price of these options was higher than the average market price for shares BEEBNAE RN EEREN T
for both 2024 and 2023. EEERIIAR 20244 R 2023 F R T
MHE -
1 84 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 4. Y% - WEKRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings equipment  improvements vehicles machinery in progress Total
Be- e
BF HRERZA NEEE "B HEREE HRIR EH)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETr AR®Trn AR®Tr AR%ETR AREFr AR%Txn
CosT LN
At | January 2023 R0BFIAIR 305,384 37880 15175 5141 260889 3247 656,945
Additions AE 271 294 - 617 12,004 2,385 15,571
Transfer g - 1310 3601 - 8856 (13767) -
Disposals (& (8539) (1007) (1,545) (45) (15619) (1955) (28,709)
At3| December203  MA0BF12A318 17,117 38477 1731 5713 266,130 19,139 643807
Additions hE 139 1,576 68 - 10848 1412 14043
Transfer g% - - - - 620 (620) -
Disposals th& (150) (1,087) ) (641) (14678) (6051) (22610)
At3| December 2024 12045128318 297,106 38966 1729 5072 262920 13880 635,40
DEPRECIATIONAND ~ HTERHE
IMPAIRMENT
At | January 2023 R0BFIAIR 96,464 36,369 1499 5,141 219,089 4357 376416
Provided fortheyear ~ FRBE 9500 1077 73 18 8949 - 19817
Impairment loss recognised 1A BT 2
in profit or loss REER - 1023 5 499 3,194 - 4721
Eliminated on disposdls 1 (2473) (683) (1,545) (45) (9241) (1955) (15942)
At31 December203 203 12A31H 103491 37786 13629 5713 N9 2402 385012
Provided for the year T PO TR 9485 23 £ - 10028 - 19791
Impaiment loss recognised FABERERR L
in profit or loss HEER - 1,055 - - 5038 1,588 7681
Eliminated on disposdls 1 5 8 (150) (536) - (641) (1447) (781) (3555)
At3| December2024  M204F12A31H 112826 38540 13672 5072 235610 3,209 408929
CARRYING VALUEs ~ EIfE
At 31 December 204 2045127318 184,280 426 3624 - 27310 10671 26311
At3| December203  M20BF12A318 193626 6| 3602 - 44139 16737 258795
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fe)

B WM

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful lives and
after taking into account their estimated residual value, using straight-line method,

at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of lease
or 30 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 19% —31.7%

Leasehold improvements 3% —33.3%

Motor vehicles 9.5% — 19%

Plant and machinery 9% — 33.3%

The Group's buildings are situated in the PRC under medium-term land use rights.

Due to complex challenges in global communications equipment industry and
phase adjustment of 5G network construction in the PRC during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group experienced negative impacts on business performance
and suffered losses. The management of the Group has identified certain long-
lived assets have indications of impairment loss. For the purpose of impairment
assessment, the management of the Group estimated the recoverable amount of
the Identified Long-lived Assets was RMB270,535,000 (2023: RMB299,914,000),
net of accumulated impairment loss of RMB 117,803,000 (2023: RMB108,341,000).
The Identified Long-lived Assets include certain property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets of RMB226,31 1,000, RMB22,753,000 and
RMB21,471,000 (2023: RMB258,795,000, RMB23,420,000 and RMB17,699,000),

respectively, as disclosed in this note and notes 15 and 7.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

The estimation of recoverable amounts was based on the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the Identified Long-lived Assets belong. The value in
use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
the management covering the following five-year period with a pre-tax discount
rate at 15.24% (2023: 18.18%). The value in use calculations were determined
by an independent qualified professional valuer appointed by the management of
the Group. The forecasted growth rate is based on the Group's budget, future
business development plan and the forecast of the industry growth. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculations included budgeted sales and profit
margins and their related cash inflows and outflows patterns, estimated based on
the cash-generating units historical performance and management's expectation
of the market development. The cash flow projection beyond the five-year period
is extrapolated using a steady 2.0% (2023: 2.2%) growth rate. This growth rate is

based on the expected economic and industry growth rate.

The recoverable amount of building and leasehold lands are estimated individually.

Based on the result of the assessment, management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amounts of certain cash-generating units are lower than the
corresponding carrying amounts. The impairment amount has been allocated to
each category of the Identified Long-lived Assets such that the carrying amount of
each category of asset is not reduced below the highest of its value in use, fair value

less cost of disposal and zero.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined
that an impairment losses of RMB9,648,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB7,653,000) have been recognised against the carrying amounts
of Identified Long-lived Assets, including impairment losses allocated to certain
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets of
RMB7,681,000 (2023: RMB4,721,000), RMB1,387,000 (2023: RMB581,000) and
RMB580,000 (2023: RMB2,351,000), as disclosed in this note, notes 17 and 15

respectively.

ELERERLA
20244 ]

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

M - BERRE (&)

ARES BT RENREHNRDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B WM

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)
Reasonably possible change in pre-tax discount rate or budgeted sales covering
five-year period, while other parameters remain constant, the effect on the

impairment losses is not material to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of the building and leasehold lands has not been reduced
since the amounts of fair value less costs of disposal of the building and leasehold

lands are higher than their carrying amounts.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out certain floors of Group's owned buildings under operating
leases. The leases typically run for a fixed period of | to 10 years. The Group is not
exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases
are denominated in the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to

purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The portions of the Group's owned buildings under operating leases could not
be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease and the portions
of the Group's owned buildings which are held for use in the Group's production
of goods or for administrative purposes are not insignificant. Such of the Group's

owned buildings are included in the Group's property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024

BE0MENAIALEE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS I5. ERREE
Leasehold lands  Leased premises Total
HELH HEME At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
As at 3| December 2024 M2024F 128318
Carrying amount AREE 22753 - 22,753
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F 128318
Carrying amount fREE 23,420 - 23420
For the year ended 3| December 2024 E Z2024F 1231 HLLEE
Depreciation charge HE® 667 239 906
Impairment loss recognised RiERERNREEE
in profit or loss - 580 580
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZ2023F 12831 HLLFE
Depreciation charge HES 667 564 1231
Impairment loss recognised RERERHREERE
in profit or loss - 2,351 2,351

EHERAERRZSF
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Fe)

B WM

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

I5.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont'd) 15. EREEEZ)

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETR AREF T

Expense relating to short-term leases B HIHE AR 1,961 2,507

Total cash outflow for leases HEReRLE 4,642 6,682

Additions to right-of-use assets EREEERE 819 2915
For both years, the Group leases leasehold lands and premises for its operations. NREEERN  NEEAHZEHRER

Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of | year to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines

the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises and staff
quarters. At the end of reporting period, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expenses

disclosed above.

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB 1,348,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of nil, net of impairment loss of RMB1,329,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: lease liabilities of RMB4,756,000 are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of nil, net of impairment loss of RMB2,351,000). The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS le. EEBHEEE
Excess of
accounting
depreciation
and
amortisation Unrealised
over tax profit of
Allowance  depreciation  Allowance inter-
for and for credit company
inventories  amortisation losses sales  Taxlosses Others Total
giHiE
Ji§ &=
e L
S = HEN
BERG NEE FREG ARANE  HEER Bt st
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR
At I January 2023 RUBEIAIA 6,091 4876 1458 399 27048 3,154 43026
Charge to proft or loss iRt

Effect of change of temporary difference By ZBEEINE 2

- - - (118) (4649) (1.38) (6154)

At 31 December 2023 ROBENA3IA 6,091 4876 1458 28l 22400 1766 36872
(Charge) credit to profit or loss fEiERkR (k) EtA

Effect of change of temporary difference ERZBEENFE (6,070) 92) 1,659 (22) (14032) (1,756) (20313)
At 31 December 2024 R04E1A3IR 2 4784 3117 159 8368 10 16,559

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

16.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Cont'd)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB902,033,000 (2023: RMB722,397,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of RMB55,798,000 (2023:
RMBI38,776,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB846,235,000 (2023: RMB583,621,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unused tax losses are tax losses
of approximately RMB827,664,000 (2023: RMB566,123,000) which will expire
gradually within ten years to year 2034 (2023: within 10 years to year 2033). Other

losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of RMB224,406,000 (2023: RMB262,341,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences can be utilised.

Under the relevant laws of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits eamed by the PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to nil (2023: RMB23,361,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is

probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

7. BREE

Development costs

BEEA
RMB’000
AR¥ET

COST %N
At | January 2023 20231 A1 H 173,402
Additions NE 7,862
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 /431 H 181,264
Additions NE 8,642
At 31 December 2024 M2024F 12 A31H 189,906
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT B RRE
At | January 2023 R2023F1 A 1A 155,485
Charge for the year FAMGK 7499
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (note 14) KBRS ER 2 BEEE (F14) 581
At 31 December 2023 202312 8318 163,565
Charge for the year FRMG 3,483
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (note 14) PERER O RERBE (M14) 1,387
At 31 December 2024 M2024F 12 A31H 168,435
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2024 20245 12 A31H 21,471
At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 17,699

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20244 R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Contd)

Development costs on antenna system and base station RF subsystem are internally
generated and amortised on a straight-line basis over 3 years when they are
ready for use. Included in the cost of the Group's intangible assets, approximately
RMB 18,023,000 (2023: RMBI5,100,000) were relating to development of systems

not ready for the intended use and, accordingly, no amortisation was made.

At 31 December 2024, the Group conducted an impairment assessment of those

Group's intangible assets and set forth in note 14.

Certain intangible assets were pledged to independent financial institution to secure
other borrowing of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, as set out in

note 31.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17.

BREE (&)

KIZZG R B UG HBF R B R AR
ARHEE - Rl EERREIFANU
EREEE REBEFEE ZKAF
HAR 180230007 (2023F : ARK
15,100,0007T ) BERBE1E#E T F R H) R 4T
EREH BT AEE -

P2024F 127318 AEBDHEER
BEETREMITHNHIE 4 -

AR 3 | FEL - 20245 J 2023512
A3BE  ETEFEECEHEATE LS
B - ERASEEEMETNER -

REE QT 2 RS
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

Cost of interests in associates YN £l DN 6,430 6,430
Share of post-acquisition losses, net of dividends received ~ FE{E UK iB 1% E518

MBRE R R (1,852) (1,871)

4,578 4,559

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd)

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period are as follow:

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

A A 7 2 M ()
W B R ARERE AR
aH

Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Country of  place of ownership interest voting rights held
Name of entities registration  business held by the Group by the Group Principal activities
E:3 AEERFEN rEEREN
EREE AMER  EXHH BEE AR RERELB TEXEREH
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 203F  204F  20BF
Shenzhen Borynet Co,, Ltd, the PRC the PRC 15.1% 15.1% 15.1% 15.1%  Software technology
("Borynet”) (note i) development
AIMEEEMHRERAR  PH hE BRI %
(T18& ) (L)
Wuxi Gaoyusheng New Material the PRC the PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Matenial development
Technology Co,, Ltd,
(“Gaoyusheng”)
(note ii)
EHTH R TRAM R i R MEFE
ARAR (TBFR]1) (M)
Notes: FEE
() Borynet is accounted for as an associate as at year end date as the Group has directors in (i) HREEESESAREAEENESH
its board of directors and is able to exercise significant influence Borynet. REBUHBETFEATE N BF
REEHERARIEHENT
(it) The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Gaoyusheng as the Group has the (ii) AEBGRHNHSFETEEATE S

right to appoint one out of three directors of Gaoyusheng and the Group accounted for

Gaoyusheng as an associate.

Both investments are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated

financial statements.

Financial information of these companies has not been disclosed since these

associates are immaterial to the group.

BRASEEAREIETR-SEE
e —f - BAKEEETEAES
IR AT -

MIAR A AL
NI

ERNRAIERE

ARZESHE AR AEENE L A8
K B EREZFRRINMEER

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

19.

20.

INVENTORIES 9. &E&
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE TR ARETT
Raw materials R 14,375 41917
Work-in-progress HEm 11,498 8,155
Finished goods IR G 77,592 99,852
103,465 149924
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. BS5REMERES
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥ETR AREFTT
Trade receivables — contracts with customers BHRBER —BPAHY 248,159 293,679
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEBERE (21,392) (33,921)
226,767 259,758
Notes and bills receivables e E % 51,759 65,123
Advance to suppliers () (e EA 0 34,474 42,653
Value added tax receivables FEU BT 37,315 30,104
Rental and utility deposits Me kFEze 351 617
Other receivables and deposits HAh AR Rz 12,935 14816
363,601 413071

As at | January 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables from contracts

with customers amounted to RMB329,739,000, net of allowance for credit losses

amounted to RMB27,158,000.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

R2023F 1A IH  FEEFAHN
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd)

The Group offers credit terms generally accepted in the antenna system, base
station RF subsystem and coverage extension solution manufacturing industry to its
trade customers, which range from 30 to 240 days (2023: 30 to 240 days) from the
invoice dates. For the Group's major customers which are network operators and
domestic and overseas wireless network solution providers with good reputation
and repayment records, a longer credit term may be granted to them, depending
on price, the size of the contract, credibility and reputation of them. In order to
manage the credit risks associated with trade receivables effectively, credit limits
of customers are evaluated periodically. Before accepting any new customer,
the Group conducts research on the creditworthiness of the new customer and

assesses the potential customer's credit quality.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit

losses presented based on the invoice dates:

20.

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

EZRHEMEBWERR (&E)
AEEREBSFEFRHRG RS - Kb
ST RRRBER R REETEY
BEINEES FEHAEEAH
FEETM 302240 B (20234 : 30E240
H) BREKELHERBRIMNERE
R RUERAAERTBERE
HRBNAEEEERF R ERT
BROGES  GTER  ARAEK -
BEREFHMEREREEME - RAX
ERHEIRNEFEENEERR -
AREEHEEPHEERBREITT
i AEERA/IAHELH - €HE
RENBPHERTHKTHEBELEER
HIEEEX -

NI REEZAHFTNE S RURR
(R EEERRE) OiRE DT -

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 46,130 76,348
31 to 60 days 3I1E60H 32,462 34,092
61 to 90 days 61 290H 32,406 26,278
91 to 120 days 912120H 22,609 27493
121 to 180 days 1212 180H 26,061 25773
Over 180 days B8 180H 67,099 69,774
226,767 259,758

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R

197



198

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

20.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd)

At 31 December 2024, included in the Group's trade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB84,102,000 (2023:
RMB91,639,000) which are past due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the
past due balances, RMB59,706,000 (2023: RMB79,634,000) has been past due over
90 days and is not considered as in default because the trade receivables are of
good credit quality and repayment records history. The Group does not hold any

collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year ended

31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out in note 33.

The following is an aged analysis of notes and bills receivables presented based on

the notes and bills issue dates:

20.

EZRHEMEBWERR (&E)
R2024F 128318 RBEBHK
EEByEREREEEAROA
[R#84,102,0007C (20235 : AR¥
91,639,0007T) st AREE 2 B 5 IR
REEeh o mEIEER AR 59,706,0007C
(20234 + AR¥79,634,0007T) B4
iR - BRWRARL  REARE
SRENEREEER BT ERCHER
if - AEERERETAENZSER
HEARY) o

HE2024F R2023F 12 A3 HIEFE
WE 5 K EMEWRZUREFENFE
EAMIEE33 ©

U ARERETH N REREERN
R -

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 14,490 18,187
31 to 60 days 31E60H 6,768 8,502
61 to 90 days 61 £90H 7,376 [1,304
91 to 120 days 91Z120H 9,759 10,293
Over 120 days 8381208 13,366 16,837

51,759 65,123

All notes and bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than

one year.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd) 20.

Analysis of trade and other receivables denominated in currencies other than the

functional currencies of the relevant group entities is set out below:

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

BZ R EBYIRR (&)
NEREEERNIEREEAIMNER
AHEME S M EMRKERRATIT |

At 31 December

RI2A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARETT

United States Dollar (“USD") E(E) 127,266 70251

Furo (“EUR") ot ([BT]) 122 -
127,388 70251

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 200 BEFRTER BeRBELE

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-term deposits for
the purpose of meeting the Group's short term cash commitments, which carry
interest at market rates range from 0.0001% to 5.10% per annum (2023: 0.0001%

to 5.10% per annum).

The Group's pledged bank deposits represent bank deposits with original maturity
within 12 months and carry fixed interest rate from 0.0001% to 2.75% (2023:
0.00019% to 2.75%) per annum. They are mainly pledged to banks to secure bills

payables, certain of the bank borrowings and letter of credits of the Group.

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R

=L
RekBReEBYaERRNETAEE
MR eRFENTRERRERER
HIEmsME N FEF0.0001 EZES.10
&t 8 (20235 - BF0.0001 EES5.10
D

AEBEMSEPRITFERIERTEF A
BIREAA - REF00001EZE275E
(20234 : 0.0001 EZE2.75[F ) B & E FI
KT BMBITER BEEERTER
BITERAEEENER - ETRTE
RRA=ABHER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

21.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Cont'd)

Certain of the Group's cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits
with an aggregate amount of RMB193,286,000 (2023: RMB251,706,000) were
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in the intemational
market. The government of the PRC has implemented foreign exchange control
and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.

Analysis of pledged bank deposits together with cash and cash equivalents
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant

group entities is set out below:

21.

BERFERTER RHeRBELE
B% (&)
AEBETReRASEEMRER
HRITESR - EHLAR193,286,0007T
(2023%F : AR¥251,706,00070) AAR
BitE - MAREILFEERTISH B S
ABEE - AEBNETINEEH - &
B & BIRINMER & P BB R E
SRR

NEBSREE RSB GRS
ENCEMRTES  ERRENIRS
FEVOOMEIIIMT -

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®TR  AR®TE

UsD E 76,158 76,748
EUR BT 993 1,249
HK$ BT 923 1294
Indonesian Rupiah (“IDF") HNeE(HEE] 32 32

78,106 79,323

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. BEFREMEMERR
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB000

ARBF T ARETT

Trade payables B HENIRK 336,238 369,369
Notes and bills payable ANES S 149,082 202,130
Payroll payable B TE 15,471 16,599
Payable for purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE  BERERENERERER 6,536 11,359
Value added taxes payable JERTIZER 3,020 4,191
Accrued expenses BIRER 12,195 [2519
Others Hit 15,790 15419
538,332 631,586

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice BREZAMFNE SRNERN KRS

dates: T

2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

0 to 30 days 0£30H 66,132 44,650
31 to 60 days 31E60H 52,605 45,220
61 to 90 days 61 290H 37,491 34,259
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 72,640 101,634
Over 180 days 8180 H 107,370 143,606
336,238 369,369
Typical credit term of trade payables ranges from 60 to 120 days from the invoice BHRNEFNEEN-—REEEA %
dates. EHHEET60AEI20H ©
EhkERERLXT 201

20244 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Contd) 22. BEERHMEMERERNR(E)
The following is an aged analysis of notes and bills payable presented based on the RERETRPHNENRRNERE D
notes and bills issue dates: GigANNE
2024 2023
20244 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

0 to 30 days 0&30H - 2,466
31 to 60 days 31E60H 15,305 61,726
61 to 90 days 61 £90H 30,687 32,832
Over 90 days #8:890H 103,090 105,106
149,082 202,130
Typical credit term of notes and bills payables ranges from 90 to 180 days. ENEENECEESH-—REEI0BE
I80H
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all AEBC SN BRARERBUR « Ui
payables are settled within the credit timeframe. REFBFEMEDEEEHRNES -
Analysis of trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than the NEBEBE RN S AN I
functional currencies of the relevant group entities is set out below: FENBSREMENETRSTOT ¢

At 31 December

RWI12A31R
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTR ARETT

UsD £t 2,719 536
HK$ BT 412 403
EUR BT 117 -
3,248 939
202 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTRACT LIABILITIES
For revenue recognised upon sales of antenna system and related products, base

station RF subsystem and related products and coverage extension solution, the

23.

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

eHNEE
HEERGZARBBEER - HEihgi5E
TREREREBERANBELR RN

Group receives certain of the contract value as advance payments from customers BRHBAMES - AEERES DK
according to the contracts terms. The advance payments give rise to contract FWEE TAOE  EREFPENK
liabilities at the commencement of a contract until the customer obtains control of IH o BRFEEREARBEREEED
the respective goods. BB EERFEGHESmIEHER
_IJ: o
2024 2023
20244 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Receipt in advance from contracts with customers BRE P& KA 10,588 9,098
Asat | January 2023, contract liabilities accounted to RMBS,102,000. K203 I A BNERNERRARE
6,102,0007T °
Contract liabilities are to be settled within the Group's normal operating cycle and AHABEENAEEN T EESRER
are classified as current liabilities. HEUHERRBARE -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue amounting to RMB9,098,000
(2023: RMB6,102,000) was recognised in the current year which relates to carried-

forward contract liabilities.

ELERERLA
20244 ]

BE204F 1283 BIEEE  RAF
ERER AW A AR 19,098,0007T (2023
£ AR61020007T) BAEEANE
BHMA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fe)

B WM

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

24.  BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. RITREMER
2024 2023
2024 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR ARBTT
Bank borrowings: RITERK
— Unsecured fixed rate borrowings (Note) — EERE S BT (M) 35,890 65,000
— Secured fixed rate borrowings — BHERTEEEK 59,460 -
Other borrowing: H AR
— Secured fixed rate borrowings (Note 31) — BHEAE BEF (M3 16,500 30,000
The amount is repayable within one year ZREER—FZNER 111,850 95,000

Note:

fifeE

ERETBERNFANERLITEE496E
(20234 : 375/E5435E) o

The unsecured fixed rate borrowings carry interest at the rate ranged from 2.37% to 4.96% (2023:
3.75% to 4.35%) per annum.

AEBRRITREMETHAARE

The Group's bank and other borrowings were all denominated in RMB.

204

=
25.  LEASE LIABILITIES 5. HEARE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Lease liabilities payable: EAEERE:
Within one year —FA 1,065 3,540
Within a period of more than one year but not more RE—FIA BT BBMF
than two years 222 1,058
Within a period of more than two years but not more  AEIMF LA LB BBRAF
than five years 6l 158
1,348 4756
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months and & : AREI B EIE T 251/
shown under current liabilities P 12{E A A3 45 E 1508 (1,065) (3,540)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months and shown ~ RIERBBEIR T 258
under non-current liabilities R 12{E A& 3 B E /508 283 1216
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities range THE B G AR INEEEE E E 2R X

from 5% to 6% (2023: 5% to 6%).

NISEZR6E (2035 - SEZGE) »

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

DEFERRED INCOME 26. EFEWA
Deferred income represents non-recurring government grants received for EREWASE B WHER B 1 BT # B
acquisition and improvement of property, plant and equipment. The deferred & BRUBBREEDE  BERR
income is released to the profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant & - B AIZIERI B ER TR R 8 P
assets. Movements of deferred income during the years are as follows: FHEABRRER - FRARLTRANE
mr
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Government grant related to assets HEENBNRAEY S
At beginning of the year REA) 2,523 4,153
Released to profit or loss PiEmREA (1,131) (1,630)
At end of the year RER 1,392 2523
Analysed for reporting purposes as: IME2|MAE
Current portion ENERER 640 1,535
Non-current portion JERNERER 752 988
1,392 2,523
SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 27. RARRE
Number of shares Issued capital
BOBE ERITRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 2023 2024 20235
Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary
shares shares shares shares
EHER gl EER HiBK
'000 ‘000 usb usb
TR Th% ESH ET
Ordinary shares of USD0.000001 each SR E1E0.000001 3 THY
EHER
Authorised: EE
At beginning and end of the year RENRER 2,000,000 2000000 200000 200000
Issued and fully paid ERITRAR
At beginning of the year REF] 809,219 815,240 809.21 81523
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note) B R BB Rt g (PRsE) (5,780) (6,021) (5.78) (6.02)
At end of the year RER 803,439 809,219 803.43 809.21

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R
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ma
whN 3
For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

27.

B WM

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY (Cont'd)

27.

DRRAK (&)
Issued capital
ERITRE
2024 2023
20245 2023
Ordinary Ordinary
shares equivalent  shares equivalent

FEEER FEEBK
RMB RMB
AR®RT ARERT
Issued and fully paid BRITRAR

At beginning of the year REA) 5,660.59 5,702.10
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note) Rt REE Rt ss (i aE) (40.06) (4151
At end of the year RER 5,620.53 5,660.59

Issued capital shown in the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 R2024F K%2023F 12A31 8 - RERE

December 2024 and 2023 were rounded to RMB6,000.

PR BRI RNEETRAO/A

R#6,0007T
The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as follows: ARR)FEBERAMRAT B AR

Fitn

Price per share
Month of SREK Aggregate

Year Ended repurchase No. of ordinary shares Lowest Highest consideration paid
X BE A7 LERYE B 5& ERARE

HK$ HKS HKS RMB

BT BT BT  AR%R
2023 03F  August 2023 203%8A 142,000 (note () (FIEE() 022 025 34,140 31,204
2023 2003%F  September 2023 2023F9A 2,105,000 (note (i)) (FI&E()) 022 026 496431 454483
2023 203%F  October2023  2023%10A 234,000 (note (i)) (HIZE()) 020 026 51,430 47,136
2023 203%F  November2023  2023% 11 A 361,000 (note (i)) (FI7E()) 0.19 025 72,256 66,280
2023 203%F  December2023 202312 A 317,000 (note (i)) (FI7E()) 0.8 0.19 60,745 55,290
2024 2004F  January 2024 20461 A 221,000 (note (ii)) (PF#E(i)) 0.8 0.19 41177 38,025
2024 2004F  March 2024 202443 A 359,000 (note (ii)) (PT3E(i)) 0.I5 0.16 54,755 50073
2024 204 April 2024 2024%F4A 467,000 (note (ii)) (B ii)) 0.3 0.16 66,287 61,226
2024 204%F  May 2024 202445 A 524,000 (note (ii)) (T3 (i) 0.14 0.16 77,804 72,264
2024 24F  June 2024 202456 A 654,000 (note (ii)) (PH3E(i)) 0.I5 0.16 97,305 89,800
2024 20045 July2024 202457 A 396,000 (note (i) (P FE(i)) 0.16 017 62,544 57,856
2024 2004F  August 2024 202458 A 602,000 (note (ii)) (FIzE i) 0.12 0.14 77982 71,989
2024 20244 September 2024 20244F9 A 328,000 (note (i) (P& (ii)) 0.14 0.15 46,287 43242
2024 20244  October2024 20244108 220000 (note (if)) (BT i) 0.14 0.18 33444 31948
2024 2024%  November2024 20244118 484,000 (note (if)) (BT i) 0.3 0.15 67593 63,403
2024 20045  December2024  2004F 128 594000 (note (ii)) (FIZE(iii)) 0.3 0.5 81239 76,136

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY (Cont'd)
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company repurchased 4,849,000
of its own ordinary shares through the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

with an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$706,000 (equivalent to
RMB656,000) paid.

Notes:

() The ordinary shares repurchased from August 2023 to January 2024 were cancelled in
January 2024.

(if) The ordinary shares repurchased from March 2024 to July 2024 were cancelled in July
2024.

(i) The ordinary shares repurchased from August 2024 to December 2024 were cancelled in

February 2025.

Except for above purchase, none of the Company's subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during both years.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20244 R

27.

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

RERE (&)
HE204F12A31HLEFE AR
ARBEABMAETIMERARER
4,849,000 & 2 Lk - 2HEHKE
#)/706,00078 7 (FHE R AR 656,000
L) °

BAE

()  R2023F8AE204F | BEBEIML B
FR2024% | RE WS ©

(i) A2024F3AE2024F7 ABEIMA LR
202457 AE ks

(i)  H2024F8 AE20245F 12 AR RN L ®
AR 202562 A B M ESH ©

R ERBESN - ARRNFARBER
MEFEABE - HEXBEEARFE
] L8 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

28.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share options were granted on 23 December 2013 (“2013 Option”) and 26
March 2015 (“2015 Option”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 22 December 2023 and
25 March 2025 respectively. Under the share option schemes of the Company,
the Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to an individual consultant or advisor who renders or has rendered bona

fide services to the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of ordinary shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding was 14,900,000 (2023:
16,250,000), representing 1.85% (2023: 2.01%) of the total ordinary shares in issue
at end of the reporting period.

No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. For 2013 Option and 2015
Option, options may be exercised after the completion of relevant vesting period

to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

2013 Option

30% of total number of options of 2013 Option (“2013 Option A") are exercisable
on the second anniversary date of grant, 30% of total number of options of 2013
Option (“2013 Option B") are exercisable on the third anniversary date of grant
and the remaining 40% of total number of options of 2013 Option (“2013 Option
C") are exercisable on the fourth anniversary date of grant. In addition, 2013
Option is also subjected to the performance condition of the Group and individual

employee to exercise.
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28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

2013 Option (Cont d)

Pursuant to the board resolution on 29 May 2015, the 2013 Option was amended
whereby the vesting dates of the option has been accelerated. 2013 Option A
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | June 2015, 2013 Option B
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | April 2016 and 2013 Option C
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | April 2017. Such amendment
is applicable prospectively to the unexercised 2013 Option and result in a net
decrease in fair value of such option measured immediately before and after the
modifications, of which no adjustment for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 needed to the fair value of the 2013 Option. The 2023 Option has lapsed in
2023.

2015 Option

30% of total number of options of 2015 Option (2015 Option A") are exercisable
from | April 2016, 30% of total number of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option
B") are exercisable from | April 2017 and the remaining 40% of total number
of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option C") are exercisable from | April. In
addition, 2015 Option is also subjected to the performance condition of the Group

and individual employee to exercise.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

28.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)
2015 Option (Contd)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

28. LIRBIZENRS (&)
20I5FERAE (E)
BN B EM ST

Fair value

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Exercise price  at grant date

RERE B

BRI BB BB T THE MATE

2013 Option A~ 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/05/2015  01/06/2015 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

013FBIREA 2013F12A238  2013F12A23R % W0I5F6AIAE ARK1097T ARKOSITT
201555 H31H 203F 128 0NA

2013 Option B 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/03/2016  01/04/2016 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

2013FBAMER 2013F 128238 2013F12A238% WI6F4A1HE ARE1097T ARKOSITT
20163 H31H 2023F 128 NA

2013 Option C ~ 23/12/2013 23/1272013 10 31/03/2017  01/04/2017 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

013FFEAMEC 2013F 128238 2013F12A230E 2017F481HE AR 1097 ARSI
201793 H318 2023F 128 NA

2015 Option A 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2016  01/04/2016 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

20I15FBBEA 2015F38268  20I5F3826B% WI6F4A1HE AR 14770 AR®06ITT
201653 H31H 202543 H25H

2015 Option B 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 to 31/03/2017  01/04/2017 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

20I15FBBMER 2015F3A268  20I15F3826BZ 017F4A1HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201793 H31H 202553 H25H

2015 Option C  26/03/2015 26/03/2015 to 31/03/2018  01/04/2018 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6 |

20I5EEREC 2015F3H26H 201563H268% 2018F4R81HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201853 H31H 202543 H25H

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 28. LDRMEXMNNRE (&)
2015 Option (Contd) WISFRBRE(Z)
The following table discloses movements of the Company's share options held by TREBGERALRENKRARBER
eligible persons: Mg
2024 20245
Forfeited Expired
Outstanding at during during  Outstanding at
Option type BRESR 1/112024 the year the year 31/12/2024
20244 20245
IB1H RER RER 12A31R
e RATBE R JE e RATEE
2015 Option A 201 SRR IEA 4,875,000 (405,000) = 4,470,000
2015 Option B 2015 FERIEDR 4,875,000 (405,000) - 4,470,000
2015 Option C 2015 FRERAEC 6,500,000 (540,000) - 5,960,000
16,250,000 (1,350,000) - 14,900,000
Exercisable at the end of the year AIRERTTE 14,900,000
Weighted average exercise price ~ NIEFIGTT{EE RMBI.47 RMBI.47 — RMBI .47

AR®I47T AR®1477 AR¥147T

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd) 28. LUBGBXANRE (£)
2015 Option (Contd) WISFRBRE(Z)
2023 20234
Forfeited Expired

Outstanding at during during  Outstanding at
Option type FERR AR [/1/2023 the year the year 3171212023
A2023F FA2023%F
IA1H RER RER 12A31H
RIARITE 2K JeE ARTTE
2013 Option A 201 3F FERRAEA 5,100,500 - (5,100,500) -
2013 Option B 2013 FERIEDR 5,664,500 - (5,664,500) -
2013 Option C 201 3FRERAEC 8,026,000 - (8,026,000) -
2015 Option A 2015 EEIRIEA 5,220,000 (345,000) - 4,875,000
2015 Option B 2015FREARIER 5,220,000 (345,000) - 4,875,000
2015 Option C 20155 HRREC 6,960,000 (460,000) - 6,500,000
36,191,000 (1,150,000)  (18,791,000) 16,250,000
Exercisable at the end of the year ~ ATRAFRIT{E 16,250,000
Weighted average exercise price IHETFTTEEE RMBI.27 RMBI.47 RMBI.09 RMBI.47
ARB 127t AR®I470 AREI09T AREI47T

HE2024F K2023F 12 A31 BIEF
& BERAN R DA EREREZ
EREEARN NN -

No equity settled share-based payment expense is recognised for the years ended

31 December 2024 and 2023 in relation to share options granted by the Company.

21 2 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B 7S 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 9. REHEERH
The Group as lessor FEEHERHEEA
All of the leased premises have committed lessees for the next one to ten years, FIEMENEEEAMARERET

R—E+FREEER -

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: MERKZ ATRBERNKET -
2024 2023
2024 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Within one year —FR 12,195 14,154
In the second year F_F 3,700 9,255
In the third year F=F 298 1,265
In the fourth year SINEF 4 7
16,197 24,681

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. BAEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided BERYEDE « BE R&ED

in the consolidated financial statements in respect of BT EREL S BB HRE
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment BB E R 15,461 19,238
Et#xREARARXA 213
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 31.

The Group's borrowings are secured by assets of the Group and the carrying

amounts of which at the end of reporting period are stated below:

EEHER
AEENEFAREENEEFER
RBEESHROKEEIIRAT :

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

Intangible assets B EE 15 4
Pledged bank deposits BEMRITER 78,735 132,355
78,750 132,359

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. BEXERER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group'’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in notes 24 and 25, respectively, net
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,

comprising issued share capital, share premium and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As a part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendation of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,

new share issues and share buy-backs as well as raising of new bank loans.

21 4 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Categories of financial instruments

33.

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

MERREEBEERBER
LRMIENESE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Financial assets SREE

Amortised cost BIHAR 561,440 669516
Financial liabilities SREE

Amortised cost BEGER AR 634,968 709,876
Lease liabilities MEAE 1,348 4756
Financial risk management objectives and polices HHEREEEERBE

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the financial assets best
represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with

its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
scoring system to assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the

Group's credit risk of trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The Group has a significant concentration of customers credit risk as 20.3% (2023:
16.6%) and 44.9% (2023: 48.7%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers respectively. These major
customers are network operators and domestic and overseas wireless network

solution providers with good reputation and repayment records.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Contd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont d)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (Cont d)

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the
PRC, which accounted for 56.0% (2023: 75.5%) of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2024.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade balances individually or based on collective assessment. Except for debtors
with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped by
internal credit rating under a collective assessment, based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to aging, repayment history and past due status
of respective trade receivables. Impairment loss of RMB4,779,000 is reversed
(2023: RMB8,427,000 was recognised) during the year. Details of the quantitative

disclosures are set out below in this note.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances
The credit risk of the Group on pledged bank balances and bank balances is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are intemational banks or state-owned

banks, all of which are with reputable credit ratings.

Other receivables

The Group's other receivables representing notes and bills receivables and others.
The directors of the Company consider that the credit risk on other receivables is
limited and the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
ensuring follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on these other receivables
individually. The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC
banks and therefore the management of the Group considers the credit risk is
insignificant. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's

credit risk on other receivables is significantly reduced.

EhkERERLXT
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MIBEBEEEERBEE)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) BERBEEEEREE (&)
EEmBGRAETG (&)
B fEW R ()
AEEHNBEERBRERTAEIEN
TR

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Contd)

Other receivables (Cont d)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following
categories:

Other financial assets

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables

A ERE ERTAR Bk B 5 YR HittEMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and ~ Lifetime ECL [2-month ECL

does not have any past-due amounts — not credit-impaired

1R HFHHEDRRRIE FENEREEER REARHEEER
BV EEE R — REEEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL [2-month ECL
usually settle after due date — not credit-impaired
BREE EHEAREREHARER - FENENEEER REAEREEER
B—RREIHARBE — RBEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit risk since initial recognition through — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
2 BEBNRER ERSINIERET HFEPRBEEESR FEHNENREREER - REL
MaHER % - FERBRBZE — RBEEEERE EERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
Eif REERTEHEECRLAEERE FENEHMEEER FENBEREEER - B4R
—BEEERE ERfE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
isH BFRBEBRNEBSABABRENMERNEL MEFHESR WAL

218
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Contd)

Other receivables (Cont d)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial assets

representing trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances

which are subject to ECL assessment:

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

33. BMBEBREEERREEE)

PREREEEEREE (£)
EEmE R BEFG ()
BRI (E)
TERHAFAEERETRAEEER
Az e REE (DB 5 KA BRI
oo BEMRTERRRITER) 2E

ERE
Internal 2024 2023
Notes  creditrating  12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
&
i FEF&R  NEAREEHNERCESR 204 F BRETE W3FREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR ARMTR ARETT ARETE
Financial assets at
amortised costs
BBERTIR
ZEREE
Trade receivables 20 (notea) Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 135,531 163468
Low risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired 99,106 95475
Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 13522 248,159 34736 293679
B HRUER 20 (M) FENRHMEEER - ARLERRE
R FRERSEEEE - ARLEEENE
BE FEURHMEERRE - BLEENE
Pledged bank deposits 21 Low risk [2-month ECL 78735 132,355
BEMRTER 2 EER EABHEEER
Bank balances 21 Low risk [2-month ECL 192,597 198,53
RiThaeR 2 EER RNEAEHEEER
Notes and bills 20 (noteb) [2-month ECL 63,280 78729
receivables and
other receivables
EREREL 20 (MEEb) RNEAEHEEER
BRI

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Contd)

Other receivables (Cont d)
Note a:

33. BMBEBREEERREEE)

BERBEEEEREE (&)
EEmE R ETE (E)

E st ()

fitta

Gross carrying amount

HARHEE
2024 2023
20244 20235
Average loss rate  Trade receivables ~ Average loss rate  Trade receivables
THEER  ESERWERN FHBER  BHRERT
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®EFT
Internal credit rating NEEETR

Low risk 1 # 104,389 # 113018
Watch list BRAE 25.50% 31,142 8.75% 50,450
135,531 163,468

# The percentage was lower than 0.1%. # BOHAER0.1%

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the

loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances and credit-

impaired which are assessed individually, the Group determines the expected credit losses on these

items by using a collective assessment, grouped by internal credit rating.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Contd)

Other receivables (Cont d)

Note a: (Cont d)

Collective assessment — intemal credit ratings

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers. The above table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on collective assessment as at 31 December 2024 within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired
with gross carrying amounts of RMB99,106,000 (2023: RMB95,475,000) and RMBI 3,522,000 (2023:
RMB34,736,000) respectively as at 3| December 2024 were assessed individually.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The Group rebutted the presumption of default under ECL model
for trade receivables over 90 days past due based on good credit quality and repayment records
history for those customers. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated. Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by
keen competition in industry of mobile network construction in the PRC and global market and
slower-than-expected progress of 5G network construction, the Group has increased the expected
loss rates in the current year as there is higher risk that the economic uncertainty could led to

increased credit default rates.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20244 R
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I EE B ERER (&

BERBEEEEREE (&)
EERbE R ENS (Z

E ik (&

Hiska: (&)

ERETE — WS BTR
ERAEBEERREEZ -85  A5H
HEXPEARNHEETR FRREEH
EORNEREERBRONER  ZSEHE
WEBRF TR B 2024 4F 12 A 31 AR EESE (748
HEHEERE - REEEERE) T - B
2024F12H31 B - EBERKREREH (4
BREEAAREY9,1060007T (20235 : AR
954750007T)) RIEERE (BREEASARE
13,522,0007T (20234 : AR#34,736,0007T))
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P EREFRTSBHREERTER TR
SIEMRESRTHENRE - ROGHEER
ERTREY  EREETREEAREHE
EENZEAMARER  AKERBTAF
BHTRHEBER -
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)
Other receivables (Cont'd)
Note a: (Cont d)

Collective assessment — intermnal credit ratings (Cont'd)

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group provided RMB3,730,000 (2023:
RMB2,602,000) impairment allowance for trade receivables, based on the collective assessment.
Impairment allowance of RMB47,000 and RMB8,462,000 were reversed (2023: RMBI8,000 and
RMBS5,807,000 were made) on debtors with significant balances and credit-impaired debtors,

respectively.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade

receivables under the simplified approach.

33. BMBEBREEERREEE)

BHRERETEEERBGK (&)
EERRREBEFG (E)
B (&)

Mita : ()

R — WSS B ()
HE204F1N2A3BEFE  AEEERNE
BTERESEURTHRBERBARE
3,730,0007C (20234F : AR#2,602,0007T) ° B
REBEREHNEBAREEEERENE
BAD A BEREREARE4700TEAR
#8,462,0007C (2023F : FHEREREBEARE
18,0007 &2 A R #5,807,0007T) °

TRETREBEDRANE S RRERZ
FENRHEEERES -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
FEHRAS TFEHES
EEBRE EERE
(RELEEERE) (BEEEERE) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREBTT ARBTT
As at | January 2023 20231 A1H 2,466 24,692 27,158
Changes due to financial instruments SRIASIBNES
recognised as at | January 2023: M20235 1 B I HEHR
— Impairment losses recognised — REBEER 4411 7,173 11,584
— Transfer to credit-impaired —HEREEEERE (503) 503 -
— Impairment losses reversed — FEEEER (1,808) (1,468) (3276)
~ Write-offs — MsH (123) (1,541 (1,664)
New financial assets originated EENHEREAE 17 102 19
As at 31 December 2023 20235 12831H 4,460 29,461 33,921
Changes due to financial instruments SRT A BNES)
recognised as at | January 2023: R20235 1 A I HEHR
— Impairment losses recognised — RERERR 4,119 19 4238
— Transfer to credit-impaired -~ BREZEERE (204) 204 -
— Impairment losses reversed — REEBER (727) (8,609) (9,336)
— Write-offs — HsH - (7,750) (7,750
New financial assets originated EENHEREE 291 28 319
As at 3| December 2024 20245128310 7939 13,453 21,392

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Contd)

Other receivables (Cont d)

Note a: (Cont d)

Collective assessment — internal credit ratings (Cont'd)

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is information indicating that debtors is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtors have
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. None of the trade

receivables that have been written off is subject to enforcement activities.

Note b

Credit risk is not increased significantly since initial recognition for notes and bills receivables and
other receivables and all gross amounts balance of notes and bills receivables and other receivables
of RMB63,280,000 (2023: RMB78,729,000) are rated as low risk and assessed with 12-month ECL

that no material impairment losses have been recognised as at 3| December 2024 and 2023.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency sales and purchases and certain trade receivables,
bank balances and trade payables of the Group are denominated in HK$, USD,
and EUR, currencies other than the functional currency of the Company's principal
subsidiaries, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure when the need arises.

ELERERLA
20244 ]

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

BREREERERBER (&

MEEREERBEREEK (F)
EERER B EFE ()

At et ()

Wiska s (4)

£ — AN RTAR ()
YRENBRERADERENEREAEE
BHRERRE - fli - EHACERRCE
ABERF - A% B E SRR - 2
HEDBUETS TERHPITEDTE -

FsEb -

[ M EMRNESRN EERRB VTR
RUARI B E LN - B IEICE IR & E A L
BRAH 2 EP 45 R4 8 A R 63,280,0007T (2023
F: AR¥78,7290007T) Wil AERER - Wik
B 1218 RTEHEE IR T ATE - MAR20245F
%2023 12A31 B - YRFBSLEREXNRES

18-

R

ERER
REBBINEHELKE - AAEEN
ATESRYIER  RITEHRLESHE
NEFAABT - XL RBUTHE (ZF
ERVHARRAEIBFRAANDEE
%) EAKEEAENERR o K&
B AT AT SNE SRR - AT -
BERBEERIMNERR - LREERY
FERRINER R o

223



224

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MIBEBEEEERBEE)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) BERBEEEEREE (&)
Market risk (Cont d) m5EE (&)
Currency risk (Cont d) B (&)
The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets RBERAEEUIINETENERE
and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows: EREEaENRAEENT
2024 2023
2024 2023
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE &8 BE AR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARBTR ARETT ARBTT
HK$ BT 923 412 1294 403
ushD XL 203,424 2,719 146,999 536
EUR BT 115 17 1249 -

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2023: 5%) change in
RMB against HK$, USD and EUR. The 5% (2023: 5%) represents management's

assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates. The

sensitivity analysis of the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of

the reporting period have been determined based on the adjustment of translation

of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period for 5%

(2023: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below indicates an

increase in post-tax loss where RMB strengthens against HK$, USD and EUR. For
5% (2023: 5%) weakening of RMB against HK$, USD and EUR, there would be an

equal and opposite impact on post-tax loss.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MIBEBEEEERBEE)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) BEEREEBERBR (£)
Market risk (Cont d) m5EE (&)
Currency risk (Cont d) EEEf (&
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTR ARBTT
If RMB strengthens against HK$ MARKLBTIHE (24) (42)
If RMB strengthens against USD WARBHETHE (8,520) (6,196)
If RMB strengthens against EUR W AR L BTAHE (47) (53)

In management's opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk which arises from pledged
bank deposits (note 21), fixed rate bank and other borrowings (note 24) and lease
liabilities (note 25). The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk which
arises from cash and cash equivalents (note 21).

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the interest rate risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents is insignificant for both years.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

Banking facilities available to the Group amounting to approximately
RMB482,260,000 (2023: RMB442,495,000) granted the Group for the bank
borrowings, bills payables and letter of credits.

The Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a source of liquidity. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of
approximately RMB228,684,000 (2023: RMB281,273,000).

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R

BEEERS  ARFENRBRIL KB
FANRER - SUSRES L R
BB HVINERIER ©

VI
AEEmEEEMBITER (HE20)
ESRITREMER (H5E24) RAEE
BE(MES) EXENAFEMER
- AREEHRE LIRS EEY (M
H21) EERNREREMN KRR o

AR E B AT A R E R BOR o AT
EEEEERMNIAR YHARRE
ERHTEAFRREL

ARMEFERNRE KR HEVES
MR RERBILTEK - B2 H R
ERLI

HEE L EEE

REBELRRERY  AEEETR
RE-—EXFORENRLEEY <
EEERARNENAEBZERS
TRARERSRERBDHTE - B
BEERTERNEAMERETER
R4

AEEBCERSBITRENARK
482,260,000 (2023%F : AR¥
442,495,0007T) + AR EEREERR
TER - BREERERE -

AEBERBETREMERESR
HEL MR - 2024128318
AEBEANHRAARTRENDA
[R#228,684,0007T (2023F : AR®
281,273,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fe)

B WM

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MBEREEEERBX(Z)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) BERBEEEEREE (&)
Liguidity risk (Contd) REELERE ()
The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its TEALEETREBERTANIHA
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash HEE - TRIDBRASEANEEE
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be HRFRBRESRBENRITRRES
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the MEBHRE - ZRHIIHME &\ngﬁ/i\?ﬁ
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived B o WA SR EHE E‘Jfﬁﬁiﬁ
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period. SRR E HARAF R dh AR5
Weighted
average Total Carrying
effective  Repayable ~ 0t030  31to60  61t09% 91t (80 [8ldaysto Iyearto5 undiscounted  amountat
interest rate  on demand days days days days [ year years  cashflows 3| December
mEF  ERE BAFE RAA
ERAE  BE 0ENR 3IEWB 6IZ0B 9IEI0B BIBEIF 1EF  RERE  NEEE
% RMB000  RMB00 ~ RMB000  RMB000  RMB0O0  RMBO0  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB000
% ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR
204 4%
Trade and other payables B R EMERES NA 257685 64081 4334 46219 1149 - - S3lIg sl
TER
Bank and other bomowings TR EAER
-Fedinterestrate ~ — ERHE 31 - 30l 30l 301 0 11427] SO 1z IF )
Lease labies HEAR 550 - 26 26 % 293 97 28 1408 1,348
257,685 64,598 4384l 46678 112945 114568 288 640,603 636,316
2003 3%
Trade and other payables B R MRS NA 264379 80184 90887 T30 105106 - - 6486 6l48T6
T
Bank and other bomowings /TR EAE
~Fiedinterestrate  — EEFIE 412 - pild 36 36 98 97488 - MM 95,000
Lease [zt HEAR 550 - 3l 3l 315 DS 149 4953 47%
264319 80831 93534 7% 107014 99,145 1409 719273 714631

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



33.

34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period. The fair
value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with

generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees
of the Group participate in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under
which the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions, which are calculated as a percentage of the employees' salaries,
to these plans. The Group also operates a MPF Schemes for all its qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Under the rule of the MPF
Schemes, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions

to the scheme at rate specified in the rules.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future PRC based employees' payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-retirement

benefits of its employees.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions made by the Group amounted to
RMBI18,681,000 (2023: RMB18,947,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024,

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R

33.

34.

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

Pk EE B R RBUR (F)

SRMIANATETE
ADBEZRR - REENA LGS
UBRENEREERSRABNER
BEERANREBRNDTEEE - 2/
BERSREENATERARTEIE
X BREMRBASTRESTMETE -

o

RIKBRETE
RETERBANLER - AEENT
BEEBAS NP EERE RMHBFHES
B IR FUE WRR KB M8 - it -
AEERETEREEREAREE S
WEEB AL RMZEEHR - A%
ERREMERERBEBEERUBE
28 - ZEfEIZEEEARERED
- FRRXTEAETREZES - RER
BEtERA - BERAREARER
MRBIETE < Lo R [AaH 85K -

B MR A RER R AT BN
M2 HP3R B R R SR BB B R INE A
B - BEARSIN AEBEEELE—
Pl E R AR R MR IR
M B -

BZE2024F12A3IBLEFE @ K
SEELHRKEMABMRAA
% 18,681,000 (20235 : ARK
18,947,0007T ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

35.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing

activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified

in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities for the year ended 31

35, MERBMELEENYHE

TRFLAEERETHMELAED
28 EERASRIFRTED - BEE
PEENRENBEIARAKRESRER
RAKENGERERERRADER
BERPMELRERENEE -

HE2024ER2023F12A31BIEE

December 2024 and 2023: B BMELSMELENEEERET
Interest
payable
Bank (included  Total liabilities
and other Lease in other  from financing
borrowings liabilities payables) activities
FEASFIS.
|ITR (FtAEAD RMERD
PN HERE  ENFE) BfERH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT
At | January 2023 202351 A 1A 38,560 5,850 - 44410
Financing cash flows MERERE 53,327 (4,175) - 49,152
Non-cash changes FHEE
Finance costs FFERRAR 3,113 166 - 3,279
New lease entered I FHE — 2915 - 2915
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A31H 95,000 4,756 - 99,756
Financing cash flows RERERE 16,850 (2,681) (4,467) 9,702
Non-cash changes HEH
Finance costs BT AR - 126 4467 4593
New lease entered FINHAE - 819 - 819
Termination of lease contract RIFHEEH - (1,672) - (1,672)
At 31 December 2024 R20245 12431 H 111,850 1,348 - 113,198

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BAEALRS
(a)  Related party balances and transactions () BIEATEHKRERS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, BRZERENBRRSERES
the Group has following transactions and balances with related parties. o REBEBEATNRIR
REERINE o
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
Relationships BB Nature of balances/transactions e RIHE ARBTRT ARETT
Associates Bt A B Trade sales BHiHE 245 264
Trade purchases BE5%EE 27,981 8,708
Trade receivable B S EWHRK 3,157 9,069
Prepayment TR FRIE 1,376 1,627
Trade payables B ZRNERR 12,444 14,363
Contract liabilities ANaE - 161
Other receivable HoAh U AR SR 316 316
Other payables (note) oA FERBR SR (PR 5E) 764 722
Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances are non-trade in nature and BiEE : 720244 2023 12 A31A -
repayable on demand. ERRIIEBIHNE - ERERE
&R
(b)  Compensation of key management personnel b) EEEEABNEMH

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management

were as follows:

EENTEEHEHMOKEN
BHan R -

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARET T

Short-term employee benefits RHIEE B 7,020 7,694
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKEFIFT B 139 138
7,159 7,832

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined having

regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions of one director were paid by
SZWS for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as set in note 10.

EhkERERLXT
20245 3R

EERTIBTRAESNFHMIR
BEAARBRETSHBEMET

WM EEIOFTEL B ZE2024F R
203F 12831 BIEFE  F#YI4
EBEIN—REEMRIRET

ATEIfR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

37.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
As at the end of reporting period, the particulars of the Company's principal

subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of

Issued and fully paid

37. RPATEEFLQTFEE
RBEER - KRBT EFA BB

T

Equity interest

establishment/ registered capital/ attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation/operation share capital to the Group  Principal activities
Ry /@ ERTRAR F5E
FRAER SEBERAY AMEL/ RE BitRE IEXRE
2024 & 2023 2024 & 2023
WM4FERBE 04FRABEF
MOBI Jian (note i) The PRC 23 May 2006 RMB267,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
frequency subsystems
Bt TR () FEI20065F5 A 23 AE267000,0007C 100% AEREERGMERTHATER
MOBI Shenzhen (note i) The PRC 12 August 1999 RMB220,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
frequency subsystems
BRI (Wit TEI999%F8 A 120 AR 2200000007 loo%  AERBERGNESKBIIATZM
MOBI Technologies (X/an) The PRC 29 April 2008 RMB120,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
Co, Ltd. ("MOBI Xian") frequency subsystems
(note iii)
BRI (BR)BRAR  TE2008F4A290 AK#120,0000007T 100% HERBERGNESELETER
(TBfA ) (i)
MOBI Technology (note iv) The PRC 16 April 2015 RMB50,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
frequency subsystems
B (M) RER0ISF4A 16H ARH500000007C l00% AERBERGNERKBIIATZM
MOBIHK (note v) Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  Trading of antennas and radio frequency
5 December 2010 subsystems
BLER (M) EAWI0F12A158 100000007 7T 100% KEMBEREFTETERES

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the
directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Notes:

(i) MOBI Jian is directly held by the Company and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the
PRC.

(ii) MOBI Shenzhen is directly held by MOBI Jian and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the
PRC.

(i)~ MOBI Xian is directly held by MOBI Shenzhen and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in
the PRC.

(v)  MOBI Technology is directly held by MOBI Shenzhen and a wholly foreign-owned
enterprise in the PRC.

) MOBI HK is directly held by the Company.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HE204F 2R3 BILEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. AATHBMREE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREF T

Non-current Asset ERBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries RFRARIKFELTRE 375,761 375,761

Current Assets RENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries G a/NEI L] 93,195 93,179
Cash and cash equivalents RekHReEEY 707 | 664
93,902 94,843
Current Liabilities meaE

Other payables H fth e~ R K =% —*
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEF R EIFIE 18,736 17776
18,736 17,776
Net Current Assets REVEE T 75,166 77,067
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERRBDEE 450,927 452,828

Capital and Reserves R K
Share capital (note 27) R (BiEE27) 6 6
Reserves = 450,921 452,822
Total Equity o 450,927 452,828

* Less than RMB1,000

ELERERLA
20244 ]
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2024
HEM4F A3 ALESFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Cont'd)

Movement in reserves

38.

HERE

R RRE ()

Share  Share option Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
BEE BRERE RERF et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETR AR®TT AR®TR
At | January 2023 20231 A 1A 402,552 20966 32901 456,419
Loss and the total comprehensive FREEER
expense for the year FHRX B - - (2,350) (2,350)
Transfer of share option reserve PR UEERRRE
upon forfeiture/expiration of share options B A & £ B
ERERERE - (9.253) 9253 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares R A7 B 21 2 - 8 (593) - - (593)
Repurchase of shares R EE (654) - - (654)
At 31 December 2023 2023512 A31R 401,305 1,713 39,804 452,822
Loss and the total comprehensive FEBER
expense for the year THRAXERE - - (1,245) (1,245)
Transfer of share option reserve IR E
upon forfeiture/expiration of share options  F& IR 1 21 B
BRBRERE - (754) 754 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares Rt BB El Kt e (369) - - (369)
Repurchase of shares R EE (287) - - (287)
At 31 December 2024 20245 12 A31 R 400,649 10,959 39313 450921

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



MOBI EELL

MOBI Development Co., Ltd.
E L #&RERER @ F
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E Lt &% REER QT
MOBI Development Co., Ltd.
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